
 

 

When telephoning, please ask for: Democratic Services 
Direct dial  0115 914 8320 
Email  democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 
Our reference:  
Your reference: 
Date: Wednesday, 19 November 2025 

 
 
To all Members of the Council 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
A Meeting of the Council will be held on Thursday, 27 November 2025 at 7.00 
pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West Bridgford to 
consider the following items of business. 
 
This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on  
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC 
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be  
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home  
page until you see the video appear. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Sara Pregon 
Monitoring Officer   
 

AGENDA 

 
 

 Opening Prayer 
 

1.   Apologies for absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

 Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution 
 

3.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 September 2025 (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

 To receive as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting of the 
Council held on Thursday, 18 September 2025. 
 

4.   Mayor's Announcements  
 

5.   Leader's Announcements  
 

6.   Chief Executive's Announcements  
 

7.   Citizens' Questions  

https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct


 

 

 
 To answer questions submitted by Citizens on the Council or its 

services. 
 

8.   Petitions  
 

9.   Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 2025-2030 (Pages 15 - 146) 
 

 The report of the Director – Neighbourhoods is attached. 
 

10.   Update on the Political Composition of the Council and Committee 
Membership  
 

 The report of the Chief Executive is To Follow. 
 

11.   Notices of Motion  
 

 To receive Notices of Motion 
 
a) Councillor Birch  
 
This Council notes: 
 
• The recent response of the Committee for Standards in Public 

Life (CSPL) to the Government’s consultation on reforms to the 
Local Government standards regime.  

• That the CSPL has recommended a mandatory minimum Code 
of Conduct, greater clarity on expected behaviours (including 
bullying and harassment), and new powers to suspend or, in the 
most serious cases, disqualify Councillors.  

• The CSPL has further supported requiring all principal authorities 
to have a properly constituted Standards Committee, with 
Independent Persons and lay members playing a stronger role, 
and the creation of a fair and proportionate national or regional 
appeals process.  

 
This Council believes:  
 
• Public confidence in local democracy depends upon high 

standards of integrity, accountability, and transparency from 
elected members.  

• Current sanctions available to local authorities are insufficient to 
deal with the most egregious breaches of the Code of Conduct.  

• Councillors, complainants, and the public are all best served by 
a clear, consistent, and enforceable standards regime with an 
accessible right of appeal.  

 
This Council therefore resolves to:  
 
1. Formally support the CSPL’s recommendations for a 

mandatory minimum Code of Conduct, a laddered scale of 
sanctions (including suspension and disqualification where 

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/public-speaking/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/public-speaking/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#_Toc106704299


 

 

necessary), and an independent appeals mechanism.  
2. Request that the Leader of the Council write to the Secretary 

of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government to 
communicate this Council’s support for these reforms.  

3. Commit to reviewing this Council’s own Code of Conduct and 
Standards Committee arrangements in response to any 
legislative changes, ensuring that they are robust, 
transparent, and in line with best practice.  

 
b) Cllr J Walker 

 
Council notes that:  
 
• The current Leader and Cabinet system limits opportunities for 

non-executive members to contribute to policy development prior 
to Cabinet deliberations.  

• Engagement and participation from minority group leaders in 
Cabinet discussions have declined, with responses to member 
inquiries often being procedural rather than participatory.  

• Many local authorities have successfully introduced Policy 
Panels to strengthen cross-party involvement in strategy 
formulation and improve transparency in decision-making.  

• While Overview and Scrutiny Groups serve to retrospectively 
review and challenge decisions, Policy Panels would involve all 
Councillors in the Council's decision-making process from a 
much earlier stage.  

 
Council believes that:  
 
• Early, cross-party engagement in policy design enhances 

democratic legitimacy, improves policy quality, and builds trust 
between Councillors, Cabinet, and residents.  

• Councillors’ ward-level knowledge and community insight are 
valuable assets in shaping effective and responsive policies.  

 
Council therefore resolves to:  
 
1. Approve the establishment of Councillor Policy Panels on a 

pilot basis to strengthen member engagement in policy 
development.  

2. Authorise the Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services to 
finalise detailed operating procedures for the Panels, including 
membership, scope, and reporting arrangements.  

3. Request that two pilot Panels (for example, on a West 
Bridgford Town Council and a Participatory Budget) be 
launched between January and June 2026.  

4. Request that Overview and Scrutiny review the pilot outcomes 
after 12 months and report findings to Cabinet in Autumn 
2026.  

5. Commit to considering full implementation of Panels from 
2027 onwards, subject to the pilot’s evaluation and 
considerations around Local Government Reorganisation 
(LGR).  



 

 

 
12.   Questions from Councillors  

 
 To answer questions submitted by Councillors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership  
 
Chair: Councillor J Cottee  
Vice-Chair: Councillor R Butler   
Councillors: M Barney, J Billin, T Birch, R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, S Calvert, 
J Chaplain, K Chewings, N Clarke, T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, 
G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou, P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R Mallender, 
S Mallender, D Mason, P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, L Plant, 
D Polenta, N Regan, D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, D Virdi, 
J Walker, R Walker, L Way, T Wells, G Wheeler, J Wheeler and G Williams 
 

Meeting Room Guidance 

 
Fire Alarm Evacuation:  In the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the 
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber.  You 
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the 
building. 
 
Toilets: Are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first 
floor. 
 
Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is 
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.   
 
Microphones:  When you are invited to speak please press the button on your 
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem.  Please ensure that you switch 
this off after you have spoken.   
 

Recording at Meetings 

 
National legislation permits filming and recording by anyone attending a meeting. 
This is not within the Council’s control.  
 
Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its 
decision making.  As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings 
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be 
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt 
 
 

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#_Toc106704293


 

 

 
 

MINUTES 
OF THE MEETING OF THE 

COUNCIL 
THURSDAY, 18 SEPTEMBER 2025 

Held at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, 
 Rugby Road, West Bridgford 

and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel 
 

PRESENT: 
 Councillors J Cottee (Chair), R Butler (Vice-Chair), M Barney, J Billin, T Birch, 

R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, S Calvert, J Chaplain, K Chewings, N Clarke, 
T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou, 
P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R Mallender, S Mallender, D Mason, 
P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, L Plant, D Polenta, N Regan, 
D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, J Walker, R Walker, L Way, 
T Wells, G Wheeler, J Wheeler and G Williams 

  
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 D Banks Director of Neighbourhoods 
 R Clack Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 A Hill Chief Executive 
 E Richardson Democratic Services Officer 
 H Tambini Democratic Services Manager 
 S Whittaker Head of Finance 
 
 APOLOGIES: 

Councillor D Virdi 
  

24 Declarations of Interest 
 

 Councillor R Walker stated that having considered his obligations under the 
Council’s Code of Conduct in respect of Item 10b: Notices of Motion – Houses 
in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), he advised that he owned or was involved in 
the ownership of investment property, including some HMOs, which included 
some properties in Rushcliffe, as disclosed in his Register of Interests. He 
advised that he was also a partner in a business involved in the letting and 
management of property, including some HMOs, although he confirmed that 
currently the business did not manage any HMOs in Rushcliffe. Accordingly, he 
concluded that he did not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the item, and 
the motion, when considered in the context of its specific detail, was not 
directly related to his financial interests. He was sure that his involvement in 
property ownership and management did not affect his capacity to objectively 
assess the motion or compromise his impartiality on the matter, so he would 
therefore take part in the debate and vote on the matter. 
 

25 Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 July 2025 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 17 July 2025 were approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Mayor. 
 

page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

26 Mayor's Announcements 
 

 The Mayor informed Council that he had been keeping busy, attending 
numerous events over the summer, all of which he had thoroughly enjoyed, 
and he thanked Councillors for sponsoring his wife, who had recently 
completed the Great North Run and would be taking part in the Robin Hood 
Half Marathon for his charity.  
 

27 Leader's Announcements 
 

 The Leader advised that he had recently written to both local MPs requesting 
that they lobbied the Government, on Rushcliffe’s behalf to ensure that the 
Council received the best possible Fairer Funding. He was pleased to 
announce that following refurbishment, both Keyworth Leisure Centre and the 
Sir Julian Cahn Pavilion had recently reopened. The Leader referred to the 
ongoing roll out of the new recycling bins for glass, which would continue.  
 

28 Chief Executive's Announcements 
 

 There were no Chief Executive’s announcements. 
 

29 Citizens' Questions 
 

 No citizens’ questions were received for this meeting. 
 

30 Rushcliffe Sport and Tourism Charter 
 

 The Leader and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide 
Leadership, Councillor Clarke MBE presented the report of the Director – 
Development and Economic Growth detailing the Rushcliffe Sport and Tourism 
Charter. 
 
The Leader stated that it was hoped that this Charter would promote tourism 
and the visitor economy, by encouraging visitors attending sporting events to 
stay for longer and enjoy the Borough. He advised that high level talks had 
taken place with various local clubs, and whilst Nottingham Forest’s name was 
not currently included, the club was involved and fully supportive and the 
Leader was confident that the club’s name would be added to the Charter over 
the next few months. 
 
Councillor Brennan seconded the recommendation and reserved the right to 
speak. 
 
Councillor Polenta referred to the importance of grass roots sports and felt that 
investing in sport was investing in healthier lives, with sport crossing social 
divides. She agreed that sporting events helped to boost the local economy, 
with tourism linked to that building resilience and strengthening communities. It 
was important to create partnership working, to ensure that everyone could be 
involved.    
 
Councillor S Mallender stated that whilst supporting the Charter, she was 
concerned that there was no reference in it to local residents, nor any 

page 2



 

 

commitment to promote active travel and public transport, to improve the 
parking problems faced by residents, especially when Nottingham Forest was 
playing. She stated that assurances had previously been given that the club 
would liaise with local residents; however, that had yet to happen and whilst 
wanting to encourage sport and bring people to Rushcliffe, it was important that 
local residents were not forgotten.  
 
Councillor Plant reiterated those comments, and whilst acknowledging the 
huge contribution that the club made, the impact on residents and local 
infrastructure due to the lack of parking could not be ignored and some 
meaningful dialogue was required.  
 
Councillor Gowland also agreed with comments made and stated that it was 
very hard to engage with Nottingham Forest, land was available for parking 
and local residents should be listened to.  
 
Councillor Grocock agreed that tourism was a very important growth area for 
the Borough and referred to the Strategy’s importance to the East Midland 
Combined Authority (EMCCA). He felt that there was a “broadbrush” 
interpretation when considering the visitor economy for the EMCCA region, 
which simplified it into the City and rural Derbyshire. Councillor Grocock 
acknowledged the many rural areas in Rushcliffe, and the important role that 
they could play, which would mean interpreting sport on its broadest level. He 
felt that it was important to align sport with its broader role and questioned how 
the Charter and Strategy would fall within the broader interpretation of 
economic growth and how tourism businesses would be supported. 
 
Councillor Chaplain struggled to think how community groups would deliver 
visitor-focused services and asked which groups the Charter was referring to. 
She also questioned the statement that there would be investment in sport-led 
regeneration, when the report stated that no financial implications had been 
identified, and sought clarification on that. 
 
Whilst sharing concerns regarding traffic, Councillor Matthews felt that this was 
a separate issues already being addressed, the report was about encouraging 
visitors to extend their stay in Rushcliffe, and boosting the local economy, and 
if they could be encouraged to use public transport that would be even better. 
 
In seconding the recommendation, Councillor Brennan referred to the Council’s 
Economic Growth Strategy, which had tourism as a key priority, as did 
EMCCA. She agreed that EMCCA’s focus was on larger strategic areas, and it 
was therefore important that Rushcliffe had its own platform. She advised that 
whilst everyone was aware of the positive economic influences sport could 
have, sport importantly also helped to foster a sense of place and civic pride. 
Councillor Brennan stated that whilst she was not diminishing the concerns 
already raised about transport, from a strategic and economic level, this 
represented a fantastic opportunity, with Rushcliffe fortunate to have such 
fantastic sporting venues, and she welcomed the Council’s continued 
commitment to develop new initiatives. 
 
The Leader stated that Rushcliffe was the home of sport, with assets to be built 
upon and advised that the Charter was the start of the process, with more 

page 3



 

 

sports becoming involved over time. He acknowledged the comments raised 
regarding local residents’ concerns, and whilst those would not be ignored, 
they were dealt with as part of the planning process. The Charter was focused 
on promoting visitors to come and watch sport and stay in the Borough. The 
Leader agreed that it was important to collaborate with EMCCA, although work 
should not be duplicated and this Charter specifically identified Rushcliffe, with 
fresh ideas about engagement and taking action. The Leader advised that 
community groups had been referenced to ensure that everyone was included, 
and he confirmed that sports clubs would be contributing financially, with the 
Council acting as the facilitator. He concluded by asking for suggestions going 
forward of venues and places that visitors might wish to visit.    
 
It was RESOLVED that the adoption of the draft Rushcliffe: Together in Sport 
Charter be approved, with final amendments delegated to the Director – 
Development and Economic Growth. 
 

31 Councillors' Learning and Development Policy 2026-2029 
 

 The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Wellbeing, ICT and Member 
Development, Councillor J Wheeler presented the report of the Director – 
Finance and Corporate Services detailing the Councillors’ Learning and 
Development Policy for 2026-2029. 
 
Councillor Wheeler referred to the important decisions Councillors made and 
the need to have appropriate training to make those informed decision, hence 
the considerable time and resources given to develop and deliver a training 
programme. The Policy set out this approach, including the important role 
played by the Member Development Group (MDG), which had reviewed this 
Policy. Councillor Wheeler stated that some Councillors had asked for 
additional support with e-learning and confirmed that drop-in sessions were 
being arranged and he encouraged all Councillors to take up as many training 
opportunities as they could. 
 
Councillor Matthews seconded the recommendation and referred the right to 
speak.   
 
Councillor Plant agreed that it was appropriate that Councillors received 
appropriate training, questioned why some mandatory training had not been 
completed within 12 months of taking office, as required in the Policy, and felt 
that it would have been helpful for Councillors to have received more regular 
updates on training requirements. Councillor Plant referred to the revised 
Policy and a requirement that an annual training report be taken to the 
Standards Committee and was concerned that potentially Councillors could be 
named if they had failed to complete mandatory training. She felt that this was 
unnecessary, as there could be extenuating reasons and that should be taken 
into account. Councillor Plant also suggested that Councillors should submit 
ideas to broaden the programme.  
 
Councillor Way supported Councillor Plant and asked for more frequent and 
structured MDG meetings, to ensure consistency and to allow the Policy to be 
implemented and delivered. Regular meetings would allow training completion 
rates to be monitored and concerns addressed, and she questioned when and 

page 4



 

 

how Councillor feedback on training had been used to improve it. Councillor 
Way suggested that all mandatory training sessions should be held at least 
twice, at different times of the day, and where possible remote access and 
recording sessions should be available. Councillor Way was concerned that 
responsibility was being given to the Chair of Standards Committee to name 
individual Councillors, asked for safeguards to be put in place, and advised that 
she had been reassured by officers that naming individual Councillors would be 
a final step. However, to ensure that this did not happen, she proposed the 
following amendment, to provide an additional layer of protection and to ensure 
that a unilateral decision could not be made: 
 
It is RECOMMENDED that Council adopts the 2026-2029 Councillors’ Learning 
and Development Policy subject to the following change in wording of section 
11 of the Policy:  
  
“If necessary, the Chair of Standards Committee will write to individuals with 
mandatory training remaining undone more than 12 months after becoming a 
Councillor. Should this situation persist, then the Chair of Standards 
Committee, in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, reserves the right to 
identify individual Councillors not meeting the required standard.” 
  
Councillor Billin seconded the amendment to the recommendation and 
reserved the right to speak. 
 
Councillor Wheeler confirmed that he accepted the amendment, which then 
became part of the substantive motion. He also reassured Councillors that 
naming a Councillor would be a final step and very unlikely to ever happen. 
 
Councillor R Mallender referred to previous discussions at MDG regarding 
training completion rates, noted that some Councillors had difficulties using e-
learning and agreed that there should be at least two sessions for each 
mandatory course. He was also concerned about naming Councillors at 
Standards Committee.    
 
Councillor Chewings reiterated the importance of training and that more work 
was needed to improve uptake. He referred to the mandatory sessions listed 
and was concerned that many of the face to face sessions had only been run 
once, and more work was required to make them more open and inclusive, 
perhaps recording sessions, and running them more than once. Councillor 
Chewings was concerned that there appeared to be inconsistencies regarding 
whether some courses were mandatory or not and asked for an update on that 
and requested that mandatory sessions, which had only been held once be 
repeated.  
 
Councillor Polenta agreed with previous comments that it was unhelpful to use 
punitive measures and referred to the importance of training not just as 
Councillors but as members of the community. Training allowed Councillors to 
grow and develop and be accountable, with diversity and accessibility at the 
forefront and ensuring that local government was for all.    
 
As a regular member of the MDG, Councillor Birch stated that at each meeting 
he had raised concerns regarding the lack of remote training offered to those 

page 5



 

 

who could not attend in person, and given the generally high attendance at 
committee meetings, he felt that the current system discriminated against some 
Councillors, and more inclusivity was required. He felt that sessions should be 
recorded, to allow Councillors to view and complete them later and more could 
be done to support Councillors who worked.   
 
Councillor Gowland agreed that Councillors were very busy and suggested that 
going forward alternative ways to provide training should be considered. 
 
In seconding the recommendation, Councillor Matthews confirmed that the 
MDG had agreed that a report would be submitted to the Standards Committee 
and advised that some of the mandatory sessions were only mandatory for 
members of specific committees. He advised that the MDG had discussed 
having online sessions and repeating face to face sessions and he hoped that 
the Individual Learning Records had helped Councillors identify what training 
they needed to do and help officers to provide support. Councillor Matthews 
confirmed that a safeguard had been added that any Councillor who had still to 
complete mandatory training would be given a reminder before any report was 
taken to Standards Committee. He was pleased to report a 100% completion 
for GDPR training and overall, Rushcliffe’s training completions compared 
favourably to the majority of other councils.  
 
Councillor Wheeler reiterated that the Council was required to demonstrate that 
it had processes in place to ensure that the Council was not being put at risk; 
however, he was confident that naming a Councillor would never be required. 
He stated that previously MDG meetings were more ad-hoc; however, it had 
been recognised that more frequent meetings were required, and that would be 
actioned, with Individual Learning Records also regularly sent to Councillors. 
Councillor Wheeler agreed that Councillors should be encouraged to attend 
sessions, and alternative ways to deliver training would be investigated.    
 
It was RESOLVED that the Councillors’ Learning and Development Policy 
2026-2029 be adopted, subject to the following change in wording of section 11 
of the Policy:  
 
“If necessary, the Chair of Standards Committee will write to individuals with 
mandatory training remaining undone more than 12 months after becoming a 
Councillor. Should this situation persist, then the Chair of Standards 
Committee, in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, reserves the right to 
identify individual Councillors not meeting the required standard.” 
 

32 Notices of Motion 
 

 The following notice of motion was proposed by Councillor Upton and 
seconded by Councillor Mason 
 
“We propose that this Council writes to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and calls on the Government to:  
   
1. abolish mandatory housing targets for District and Borough Councils;  
   
2. safeguard Greenbelt and Greenfield land against future development, 

page 6



 

 

where an area has met its house building obligations in the last five years; 
and  

   
3. create a new approach of identifying brownfield land and city centre sites 

for housing development and produce targets for them regardless of the 
current Local Government boundaries.”  

 
In moving the motion, Councillor Upton stated that the Conservative Group was 
passionate about managing housing development, with a proven record, 
having built more homes in Rushcliffe in the last 10 years than anywhere else 
in the County. Whilst acknowledging the national housing shortage, he advised 
that Rushcliffe had already met its obligations, had a draft Local Development 
Plan in place up to 2041 and therefore did not need a centralised, mandatory 
target imposed. Over the last 10 years, 13,000 new homes had been allocated 
for Rushcliffe, with 6,000 of those accepted under the Duty to Cooperate, to 
meet the needs of Nottingham City Council. The Government’s mandatory 
targets for 2024, outlined 4,000 further new homes for Rushcliffe, whilst the 
City had been given a lower target and Councillor Upton questioned if that was 
fair. He was concerned that planning reforms could potentially give more power 
to developers and felt that any Councillor who believed in local democracy and 
protecting the Greenbelt should support the motion.      
 
Councillor Mason seconded the motion and reserved the right to speak. 
 
Councillor Calvert stated that because the Council failed to build enough 
homes in the previous decade, it had been given a higher target 10 years ago 
to make up the shortfall. He referred to the collaborative working to produce the 
revised Greater Nottingham Strategic Plan (GNSP), which contained targets up 
to 2041, and questioned why those agreed targets should be abandoned, and 
the Plan put into jeopardy. He felt that it was premature to consider the current 
LGR process as a valid reason for abandoning the existing policy and that 
focusing on the identification of brownfield and city centre sites had little 
strategic merit. 
 
Councillor Thomas felt that the actions in the motion were insufficient, 
suggested that all Councillors should be involved in responding to Government 
planning consultations, and that she would be more interested in a proactive 
motion that looked at what Rushcliffe could do if it was forced to accept more 
housing. Councillor Thomas questioned how the Council could accelerate the 
build out of existing strategic sites, identify more sites, and identify gaps which 
could be filled. She proposed the following amendment, to include two actions 
that the Council could take itself, which was seconded by Councillor Way, who 
reserved the right to speak: 
 
In addition, the Council will take action as follows: 
 
a. that the Council will set up an initial cross-party briefing/brainstorming 

session for all Councillors and relevant officers before the end of the year 
to understand and quantify the likely pressures resulting from 
Government housing policies and to identify and assess options to ensure 
Rushcliffe meets any revised targets and provides an adequate supply of 
the right sort of housing in the right places to meet the (actual) housing 

page 7



 

 

needs of our residents; and  
 
b. the Local Development Forum will include an item at least every six 

months to actively review housing completions and strategies for meeting 
the housing targets. 

 
Councillor Upton stated that he did not accept the amendment, as he felt that 
issues raised had already been covered by the draft Local Development Plan, 
and that there would not be enough completions to merit six monthly updates, 
as updates could be provided anytime.   
 
In supporting the amendment, Councillor R Mallender felt that it would be good 
to have roundtable discussions and Councillor Birch agreed that this was a 
positive amendment, improving democracy and adding more discussion.    
 
In seconding the amendment, Councillor Way stated that it provided a more 
proactive approach, looking at ways to ensure that Rushcliffe met its housing 
targets whilst suiting residents’ differing needs and involving more Councillors 
would gain wider views. 
  
Councillor Thomas stated that the GNSP would be of no use if the Council’s 
housing supply dropped below five years and the Council needed to take 
action and be proactive.   
 
On being put to the vote, the amendment was defeated. 
 
The debate continued on the substantive motion. 
 
Councillor Soloman referred to the significant number of homes built in the 
Borough over the past 10 years, including the 6,000 homes imposed on 
Rushcliffe to cover the City’s shortfall, whilst the City continued to build 
thousands of student flats. As housing targets had now returned, Rushcliffe 
was being asked to build 4,000 homes, whilst the City’s targets were reducing 
and she also questioned if that was fair. Councillor Soloman stated that it was 
important to build the right homes, in the right place, with appropriate services 
and Rushcliffe was well placed to do this, using its own good judgement. 
 
Councillor J Wheeler referred to the importance of having a five year housing 
supply to stop speculative applications being put forward, which had happened 
in the past and this motion was asking the Government to abolish those targets 
and to look more carefully where housing should be built, including the city 
centre, which benefitted from good infrastructure.  
 
Councillor J Walker was disappointed that the motion offered no positive 
solutions to ongoing housing problems, with many unable to afford to live in the 
Borough.    
 
Councillor Chewings questioned the timing of the motion, as housing targets 
had periodically been removed and then reinstated by various governments, 
with similar targets. He stated that due to the Council’s previous failure to have 
a Local Plan, mass development had taken place in areas such as East Leake, 
with work now underway on the GNSP, which he acknowledged was guided by 

page 8



 

 

national targets. He agreed that it was important to talk about how the Council 
should deal with housing, as he felt that the current set up was incorrect, 
although he advised that he could not support the motion, as it contradicted 
itself.       
 
The Leader disagreed that Rushcliffe had been given higher targets to make 
up for previous shortfalls, rather that it had been forced to take 6,000 homes to 
meet the City’s allocation. He stated that Rushcliffe was not saying no to further 
housing, it wanted to identify housing that was needed, as people wanted to 
live in the Borough. The Leader stated that the City had no vision, it simply built 
student accommodation, which generated no Council Tax, which added to its 
financial difficulties. The motion had been put forward as Rushcliffe wanted to 
have control of its own area, including its own targets.  
 
Whilst agreeing that the motion was inconsistent, Councillor Birch advised that 
he would be voting for it, as he felt that power should be held locally. He stated 
that reference to student housing was disingenuous, as this could not be 
compared with family homes. Councillor Birch accepted that under the Duty to 
Cooperate, Rushcliffe had no choice but to accept the 6,000 homes but he also 
mentioned the £15m New Homes Bonus that the Council had benefitted from 
and stated that Rushcliffe had received a large allocation due to its affluence. 
 
Councillor Gowland stated that young people struggled to remain in the 
Borough as it was too expensive and they lived in the City instead. She 
advised that many local residents in the City were pleased that student 
accommodation had been built, to free up family homes and she questioned 
where students were supposed to live. Councillor Gowland stated that 
considerable housing had been built in the City, and that city dwellers wanted 
green space too.   
 
Councillor Chaplain stated that Rushcliffe’s housing targets were higher as it 
had expensive housing and the number one reason for affordable uplift was 
fairness.  
 
Councillor Gaunt stated that student accommodation was being built to free up 
family homes and advised that as student numbers continued to increase, it 
was better to build accommodation in the City. He expressed concern that 
since 2010, in the East Midlands, the average medium rental had doubled, 
affordable housing in Rushcliffe was desperately needed, and whilst agreeing 
that local control was important, targets had to come from the Government to 
ensure affordability and equitable distribution.  
 
Councillor Way questioned what right Rushcliffe had to decide what should be 
built in the City and agreed that it was important to look at the Borough’s own 
housing needs and questioned why the amendment had been voted down. 
 
Councillor Simms advised that Councillors were elected to represent residents 
in Rushcliffe and referred to the significant housing already built  to fulfil 
housing targets and stated that this motion was attempting to ensure that 
people worked proactively together for local residents. 
 
 

page 9



 

 

Councillor Polenta stated that the Government had prioritised house building 
on Brownfield sites, which offered a practical and sustainable solution, 
although not all sites were suitable for development and had evolved into vital 
green spaces, including the development at Broadmarsh. Whilst 
acknowledging the importance of the Greenbelt, that did not mean that it 
should never be considered for housing, due to ongoing housing need. Some 
Greenbelt land had become inaccessible, with little public benefit, and when 
land was released there was a responsibility to restore it and make it more 
accessible, whilst allowing appropriate development and it was important that 
all voices were heard to arrive at more consensual outcomes.     
 
In seconding the motion, Councillor Mason stated that she represented 
Tollerton, where nearly 4,000 homes were planned and referred to the huge 
pressure on the village and agreed that local councils understood local issues 
more than the Government. She questioned the fairness of the City having 
lower housing targets than Rushcliffe, when there were many Brownfield areas 
that could be developed.   
 
Councillor Upton felt that this issue centered around localism and he agreed 
that there was a risk that Rushcliffe would be forced to take more housing; 
however, a draft Plan was in place. He confirmed that all sites in that Plan had 
around 30% affordable housing, with social housing the responsibility of 
housing associations across the Borough. The draft Plan had a surplus, in case 
Rushcliffe had to take more houses and whilst sharing concerns regarding the 
Council’s five year housing supply, Councillor Upton was confident that the 
Council would keep that supply. He reiterated that Rushcliffe had taken a lot of 
housing from the City, and that it was a very desirable place to live; however, a 
reasonable compromise was required, which this motion sought and he 
requested that a recorded vote be taken, which was agreed by four 
Councillors.  
 
In accordance with Standing Order Paragraph 4.23, a recorded vote was taken 
for this item as follows:  
 
FOR: Councillors M Barney, T Birch, R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, R Butler, N 
Clarke, T Combellack, J Cottee, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, E Georgiou, R 
Inglis, D Mason, P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, N Regan, D Simms, 
D Soloman, R Upton, R Walker, L Way, T Wells, G Wheeler, J Wheeler, and G 
Williams  
 
AGAINST: Councillors S Calvert, J Chaplain, K Chewings, G Fletcher, M Gaunt 
P Gowland, C Grocock, R Mallender, S Mallender L Plant, D Polenta and J 
Walker  
 
ABSTENSIONS: Councillors Billin and Thomas 
 
It was proposed by the Leader and seconded by Councillor Upton and 
RESOLVED by Councillors that the meeting be extended and would finish no 
later than 10.30pm. 
 
 
 

page 10



 

 

The following notice of motion was proposed by Councillor Inglis and seconded 
by Councillor Thomas. 
 
“This Council therefore resolves to: 
  
1. Investigate and collate an evidence base to look at whether there is a 

case for introducing an Article 4 Direction across Rushcliffe, to enable this 
Council to assess proposals for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
on a case-by-case basis through the planning process. This will allow 
local residents and Councillors to be consulted and consider the impacts 
of such proposals. 

  
2. Bring a formal report to Cabinet by the end of February 2026, to enable it 

to consider the evidence (subject to it being available and the completion 
of public consultation) and, if justified, recommend that a Direction be 
made.”  

 
In moving the motion, Councillor Inglis referred to the two categories of HMOs, 
‘large’ and ‘small’. For small HMOs, automatic permitted development rights 
allowed properties, usually family homes to be converted and he felt that the 
impact on local communities needed to be investigated as the Council had a 
duty to look after both residents and occupants of HMOs. Whilst data was 
available for large HMOs, there was none for the smaller ones, which did not 
need to be registered. An Article 4 Direction would ensure that the Council was 
able to consider and control the impact on local areas before any development 
was authorised. He advised that as of 2023, 85 other councils were managing 
their HMOs with an Article 4 Direction in place.  
  
The Council should ensure that a sufficient supply of HMOs was maintained 
throughout, rather than just specific areas, which would allow the Council to 
control to its own narrative, rather than allowing the current system to continue, 
which could make it vulnerable, especially with neighbouring areas having such 
Directions already in place. This would also fulfil an important responsibility that 
the Council had been entrusted with, to represent residents and to continue to 
generate and maintain a balanced community, with a mix of family and shared 
housing, to cater for everyone. Councillor Inglis stated that it was important to 
take sufficient time to gather and collate the relevant evidence, as it had to be 
robust and substantive to allow Rushcliffe to apply for an Article 4 Direction. It 
could take years from a submission to any implementation, so evidence had to 
be gathered prior to an application being made for any chance of success. He 
felt that the proposed time period would allow officers to complete the task 
internally and it should encompass all types of HMOs. It was important that the 
Council stayed focused that the Article 4 Direction was about planning 
permission for the building, rather than residents’ living conditions, which fell 
under the Council’s licencing regulations.  
 
Councillor Thomas seconded the motion and reserved the right to speak. 
 
Councillor Polenta proposed the following amendment to ensure a commitment 
was made to raising living standards for occupiers of HMOs. The principle to 
strive for was decent, affordable housing for all, in diverse neighbourhoods, 
where everyone had a chance to shape their future. Currently HMOs provided 

page 11



 

 

the only affordable accommodation for younger people and those on low 
income, and it was therefore important to raise standards. She felt that where 
HMOs were approved, the Council should be proactive to provide appropriate 
services and hold landlords to account, to bring neighbourhoods together.  
 
This Council therefore resolves to: 
 
1. Investigate and collate the evidence base required to determine whether 

there is a case for introducing an Article 4 Direction across Rushcliffe, 
which would enable this Council to assess proposals for HMOs on a 
case-by-case basis through the planning process. This will allow local 
residents and Councillors to be consulted and consider the impacts of 
such proposals and the quality of housing proposed. 

 
2. Bring a formal report to Cabinet by the end of February 2026, to enable it 

to consider the evidence collected (subject to it being available and the 
completion of public consultation) and, if justified, recommend that a 
Direction be made.  

 
Councillor Gowland seconded the amendment to the motion and reserved the 
right to speak. 
 
Councillor Inglis confirmed that he accepted the amendment, which then 
became part of the substantive motion. 
 
Councillor Chewings raised a point of order and proposed that the motion be 
put to the vote, which was seconded by Councillor Gaunt and agreed by 
Councillors. 
 
On being put to the vote, the substantive motion was carried. 
 

33 Questions from Councillors 
 

 Question from Councillor Chewings to Councillor Inglis. 
 
“Public concern remains regarding the land on Tollerton Park Estate, fuelled by 
ongoing media reporting and the activities of campaign groups, and residents 
deserve clear, unambiguous answers to questions of safety. 
 
Could Councillor Inglis tell us what action has been taken to help residents and 
support them in getting definitive answers to their questions regarding the 
safety of the land where they grow vegetables, and what further action can be 
taken by this Council to help residents get the answers they require.” 
 
Councillor Inglis advised that as stated in his response to Mr Gaff’s question at 
the Council meeting on 17 July 2025, the Council had undertaken considerable 
work to respond to concerns raised by Park Home residents. He acknowledged 
that many residents might not have been living on site when the Council 
carried out an investigative survey in 2008, with the report available on the 
Council’s website. He reiterated that the report had concluded that the site did 
not meet the statutory definition of contaminated land, with a reassessment in 
2017, when further development took place, which came to the same 

page 12



 

 

conclusion. The Council was not aware of any circumstances in the intervening 
period, which would change that conclusion.   
  
However, given the technical nature of the report and recent concerns 
expressed by residents, Councillor Inglis confirmed that the Council had written 
a letter and briefing note, which had been hand delivered to residents on 7 
July, and had been widely welcomed by many residents and ward members for 
the Council and County Council, who had been working hard on their residents’ 
behalf. The accompanying letter also included good practice information on 
ensuring the safety of fruit and vegetables for human consumption given that it 
was not within the Council’s role or remit to give any further assurance. Key 
elements of the briefing note were also available on a Council FAQ website, 
which demonstrated the Council’s desire to ensure that all local residents were 
appropriately updated. This commitment was also evident when the Council 
met and updated the Rushcliffe MP on 23 July. Councillor Inglis stated that the 
Council continued to work with other relevant regulatory agencies and would 
add further information to its FAQ site when it became available.   
 
The Mayor asked Councillor Chewings if he had a supplementary question. 
 
Councillor Chewings referred to the question raised by Mr Gaff and to 
Councillor Inglis’ response at the Council meeting; however he felt that the 
letter, response, and briefing note had not answered Mr Gaff’s specific 
questions, and he asked Councillor Inglis if he agreed that the failure to 
address those clear questions undermined residents’ confidence. 
 
Councillor Inglis reiterated that the Council was not in a position to give that 
advice, and it would be unwise to give categorical assurances when there were 
so many variables. It was not within the Council’s role or remit to make a 
decision on homegrown produce, rather it could provide advice and guidance 
based on the 2008 investigation and available information. 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.18 pm. 

 
 

CHAIR 

page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 
Council 
 
Thursday, 27 November 2025  

 
Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy 2025-2030 
 
 

 
Report of the Director – Neighbourhoods 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety, Councillor R Inglis  
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1. This report seeks to review and update the Council’s Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing Policy as provided in Appendix 1. 
 

1.2. Council is asked to review and approve the revised Policy changes made 
following the consultation process and the comments made at Licensing 
Committee. 
 

1.3. The revised Policy was fully considered and endorsed by the Licensing 
Committee on 28 October 2025, where it was enhanced with a further 
recommendation.  
 

2. Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that Council: 
 

a) approves the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (Appendix 1);   
 

b) requires a review to be undertaken in respect of the use of CCTV in Taxi 
and Private Hire vehicles within 12 months, and the findings be reported 
to the Licensing Committee; 

 
c) sends a letter to the Secretary of State for Transport requesting 

Government take action to mandate CCTV provision within Taxi and 
Private Hire vehicles nationally; 
 

d) shares this letter with the Nottinghamshire Licensing Group, to request 
their endorsement of the Council’s position; and  

 
e) engages and encourages licensed operators and drivers operating in the 

Borough to implement the voluntary CCTV scheme in their vehicles.  
 
 

 

page 15

Agenda Item 9



 

  

3. Reasons for Recommendation 
 

It is a legal requirement for the Council to have a Policy for the licensing of 
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles. The current Policy expires on 31 
December 2025. 
 

4. Supporting Information 
 
4.1. The proposed revised Policy has been updated to reflect changes to 

Government guidance. One aspect considered by this review is the significant 
reduction in the number of Hackney Carriage vehicles licensed by the authority. 
In 2020, there were twenty-three licensed hackneys, this has now reduced to 
eight. 

 
4.2. A full summary of the proposed changes made to the Policy is provided in 

Appendix 2. The principal proposed changes to the Policy include: 
 
4.2.1. To remove the requirement for drivers to register prior to submitting a full 

application. The registration process was introduced to prevent 
applications remaining on the Council’s system for many months with the 
status of ‘pending driver requirements’. Following further service 
improvements, the Council now has an online application portal for driver 
applications. For this to work in the most efficient way, the onus is placed 
on the driver to have their details ready to apply and where 
documentation is not supplied, the Council will seek to apply a maximum 
three-month period before the application is determined. If satisfactory 
‘fit and proper’ status cannot be ascertained in the three-month period, 
the Council will refuse the application. The system highlights known 
failure points e.g. the knowledge test, right to work, to be undertaken 
prior to applying, which again improves service efficiency and helps to 
manage customer expectations.  

 
4.2.2. Despite the growth in digital aids, it is still considered necessary to 

maintain a knowledge test ensuring that local Rushcliffe drivers have a 
knowledge of the local area but also supports the requirement to read 
English. However, it is proposed to allow drivers who have undertaken 
the “Green Penny” test to also meet this criterion, which is required by 
certain operators. This test is in fact more demanding and expensive 
than the Council’s, and it is considered unfair and unnecessary for 
drivers to have to do both. It is also proposed to remove the current limit 
on three knowledge tests. This in line with neighbouring councils’ 
policies. 

 
4.2.3. The current duration of a driver licence is three years. It is proposed to 

enable new drivers to apply for a one-year licence thereby reducing the 
upfront cost and encouraging new driver applicants. 

 

4.2.4. Currently all licensed vehicles are required to have a separate 
compliance test every year in addition to an annual MOT, or every six 
months in the case of vehicles over five years old. It is proposed to 

page 16



 

  

remove the requirement for the compliance test given the relatively 
limited additional criteria it requires and to rely on the MOT standards. 
The test being required within 14 days prior to application from one of 
the established and approved garages in Rushcliffe. This will save officer 
time in administering this process and also allow greater flexibility for 
owners to book their own vehicles in for MOTs and resolve any 
maintenance issues prior to applying online. 

 
4.2.5. The Council currently accepts applications for any vehicle up to 12 years 

old and 14 years old for specially adapted vehicles. Following 
consultation comments, it is proposed to reduce this to eight years for 
new applications (those not currently licenced), but renewals will be 
allowed up to 15 years. However, there will be exemptions for electric, 
ZEV (zero emission vehicles) and SEND (Special Educational Needs 
and Disability) vehicles. This will deliver improvements to the licensed 
vehicle fleet within the Borough, support the Council’s Carbon Reduction 
Policy, recognise the importance of the SEND fleet and also bring the 
Policy in line with neighbouring Councils. 

 
4.2.6. Amendments are proposed to relax the requirement for Hackney 

Carriage Vehicles to be black London Cab type, which is more in line 
with other neighbouring councils. It is considered that this will encourage 
more Hackney Carriage vehicles within the Borough particularly in more 
rural areas where other forms of public transport can be more limited. 

 
4.2.7. It is proposed to extend the period that penalty points are retained. 

Penalty points are awarded to drivers, vehicle owners and operators who 
have been found to have committed certain minor breach of their licence. 
Currently 12 points in any 12-month period would require the licence 
holder (mostly drivers) to be referred to the Licensing Committee for a 
decision to review their licence for an appropriate sanction. It is proposed 
to extend the retention period to 36 months, which is considered will drive 
greater compliance. 

 
4.2.8. To allow a driver to work for more than one Rushcliffe operator which is 

currently not allowed. 
 
4.2.9. Changes to the Convictions Policy to ensure it meets the current Institute 

of Licensing standards.  
 

4.3.  The Council launched a consultation exercise on the proposed revised Policy 
changes on 1 June 2025, which then closed on 14 July 2025. A summary of the 
consultation responses and officers’ responses can be found in Appendix 3. 

 
4.4.  Whilst the draft Policy was under public consultation, all Nottinghamshire 

Licensing Authorities received a request in the form of a letter from a Cabinet 
Member at Nottinghamshire County Council to consider the adoption of a 
mandatory or voluntary policy for the installation of CCTV in all licensed taxis. 
This is provided in Appendix 4. The Councils current policy relating to CCTV 
can be found in Chapter 9.11 of the draft Policy. There is currently no 

page 17



 

  

requirement for mandatory CCTV in Rushcliffe licensed vehicles, and neither 
was it consulted on. Officers do accept the benefits in having CCTV in all 
licensed vehicles from a public safety perspective. However, this is not current 
Government policy. The Local Government Association have also produced 
guidance in which they state that the: 

 
 “Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) and the Information 
Commissioners Office (ICO) may all raise concerns about the 
impact of mandatory CCTV systems on privacy”. 

 
4.5. Furthermore, Council officers are of the view that this requirement would place 

additional costs and burdens on drivers/vehicle owners, which is likely to reduce 
driver numbers. For reference it should be noted that Bolsover experienced a 
40% reduction after adopting such a measure and further comments can be 
found in Appendix 3. Accordingly, we do not propose to amend the Policy at 
this stage.  

 
4.6. The Licensing Committee considered the matter of mandatory CCTV and 

agreed a recommendation that the draft Policy be endorsed subject to a further 
review in 12 months in respect to the potential mandating of CCTV within 
Rushcliffe licensed vehicles. In addition, it is proposed to write to the Secretary 
of State for Transport requesting Government take action to mandate CCTV 
provision within Taxi and Private Hire vehicles nationally, and for this letter to 
be shared with Nottinghamshire Authorities Licensing Group (NALG) to request 
their endorsement of the Council’s position and to work through NALG to review 
current CCTV best practice. Over the next 12 months the Council will also seek 
to engage and promote the voluntary implementation of CCTV systems by 
licensed operators and drivers in the Borough.  

 
5. Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection 

 
No alternative options have been considered as the update to the Policy is 
required to comply with current legislation and guidance. 
 

6. Risks and Uncertainties  
 

None identified in relation to the draft revised Policy.  
 
7. Implications  

 
7.1. Financial Implications 

 
7.1.1. Proposed changes to vehicle licensing include removing the requirement 

for vehicle compliance testing to be booked through the Council, instead 
vehicles may have a standard MOT test at any one of the designated 
garages in the Borough immediately prior to application. This should 
reduce the cost of administration to the Council. The saving on 
compliance checks will be offset in part by the introduction of Hire 
Purchase Information (HPI) checks on newly registered vehicles, to 
ensure written off vehicles are not used as taxis. 

page 18



 

  

 
7.1.2. Proposals to offer single year licences to drivers and operators (three-

year and five year currently) to encourage more take up could initially 
result in increased income; however, if drivers and operators do not 
renew after the first year, income receipts overall may reduce.  
 

7.1.3. It is proposed to remove the need to pay a drivers registration fee, which, 
if approved will reduce income slightly. 

 
7.1.4. The Council aims to maintain a cost neutral position on the administration 

of the taxi licencing function over a three year rolling period and these 
changes will be taken into account during the fee setting process. 

 
7.2. Legal Implications 

 
The proposed new Policy has been drafted to reflect current legislative 
requirements and statutory guidance. If adopted, the Policy must be taken into 
consideration when making decisions in respect of matters relating to Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle licensing. The current Policy expires on 31 
December 2025.  

 
7.3. Equalities Implications 

 
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken, which has identified 
no major or adverse impacts and can be found in Appendix 5. 
 

7.4. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications 
 

This Policy supports the importance of ensuring strong public safety standards 
within the taxi and private hire trade. 

 
7.5. Biodiversity Net Gain Implications 

 
No implications have been identified.  

 
8. Link to Corporate Priorities   
  

The Environment The proposed changes to the Policy will support the Council’s 
Carbon Management Policy 

Quality of Life A major focus of this policy is the protection of the public from 
harm 

Efficient Services Some of the proposed changes within this Policy will 
encourage more efficient use of Council resources 

Sustainable 
Growth 

None identified 

 
 
 
 

 

page 19



 

  

9.  Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that Council: 
 

a) approves the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (Appendix 1);   

 
b) requires a review to be undertaken in respect of the use of CCTV in Taxi 

and Private Hire vehicles within 12 months, and the findings be reported 
to the Licensing Committee; 

 
c) sends a letter to the Secretary of State for Transport requesting 

Government take action to mandate CCTV provision within Taxi and 
Private Hire vehicles nationally; 

 
d) shares this letter with the Nottinghamshire Licensing Group, to request 

their endorsement of the Council’s position; and  
 

e) engages and encourages licensed operators and drivers operating in the 
Borough to implement the voluntary CCTV scheme in their vehicles.  

 
 

 

For more information contact: 
 

Geoff Carpenter 
Head of Public Protection 
gcarpenter@rushcliffe.gov.uk  
0115 914 8229 
 

Background papers available for 
Inspection: 

Licensing Committee 28 October 2025 
 
 

List of appendices: Appendix 1 Draft Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Policy 2025-2030 
Appendix 2 Summary of Proposed Changes to 
Policy 
Appendix 3 Consultation Responses and Officer 
Comments 
Appendix 4 Letter from Nottinghamshire County 
Council requesting mandatory CCTV 
Appendix 5 Equality Impact Assessment 

 

page 20



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

Rushcliffe Borough Council 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 
2025 - 2030 
 

 

Approved date:

page 21



 

1 

 

Licensing Taxi Policy Change Log Document 

This policy is a live document and may be subject to change at times due to change in 

law/guidance or council procedures. Minor amendments to the policy can be made by 

officers of the council provided these amendments are authorised by the Director for 

Neighbourhoods. These changes are recorded here. Any changes will be subject to 

notification at least annually to the Licensing Committee or other relevant Council meeting. 

The policy has been approved by the Council Committee on the. 

Any necessary changes following approval will be shown in the 

Change/Amendment Log below: 

Paragraph 
Numbers 
Amended 

Description of change Date Authorised 
by  

Comments 

     

     

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Authorised by: 

Signature                       Dated  

Director - Neighbourhoods and Deputy Chief Executive    

page 22



 

2 

 

Index 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................... 5 

2. Definitions ........................................................................................................ 6 

3. Licensing Aims and Objectives ........................................................................ 7 

4. Delegations ...................................................................................................... 8 

5. Whistleblowing (confidential reporting Code) Operators .................................. 8 

6. Driver Requirements ........................................................................................ 8 

6.1 Fit and Proper Person Test .............................................................................. 9 

6.2 Application Process........................................................................................ 10 

6.3 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) ........................................................... 11 

6.4 Relevant Convictions Policy ........................................................................... 12 

6.5 Knowledge/English Test and Driving Test ...................................................... 13 

6.6 Medical Assessment ...................................................................................... 14 

6.7 HMRC at first application & requirements upon renewal ................................ 15 

6.8 Duration of the Licence .................................................................................. 15 

6.9 Safeguarding & Disability Training ................................................................. 16 

6.10 Conditions ...................................................................................................... 16 

6.11 Dress Code .................................................................................................... 16 

6.12 Code of Conduct when Working with Vulnerable Passengers ....................... 16 

6.13 Right of the Driver to Work in the UK ............................................................. 17 

6.14 Asylum Seekers and refugees ....................................................................... 17 

6.15 Driver Responsibility ...................................................................................... 18 

6.16 Driver Hours ................................................................................................... 18 

6.17 NR3S, NAFN, National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations, Refusals & 

Suspensions .................................................................................................. 19 

6.18 Duty to report concerns about drivers licensed in other areas ....................... 19 

6.19 Duty as regards reported concerns about drivers licensed by this Authority 

where information is reported by another Authority ........................................ 20 

7. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles ................................................. 21 

7.1  Application Process........................................................................................ 21 

7.2  Grant and Renewal of Licences ..................................................................... 22 

7.3  Emissions and Age of Vehicles ...................................................................... 22 

7.4  Insurance ....................................................................................................... 23 

7.5  Vehicle Specification ...................................................................................... 24 

7.6  Conditions ...................................................................................................... 24 

7.7  Identification of Vehicles as Private Hire Vehicles or Hackney Carriages ...... 24 

7.8  Fire Extinguishers and First Aid Kits .............................................................. 25 

7.9  Tyres .............................................................................................................. 25 

7.10  Accidents ....................................................................................................... 26 

7.11  Vehicle Examination and Testing Requirements ............................................ 27 

7.12  Meters ............................................................................................................ 27 

7.13  Advertisements on Vehicles ........................................................................... 27 

7.14  Taxi Ranks ..................................................................................................... 28 

page 23



 

3 

 

7.15  Designated wheelchair accessible vehicles Section 167 list .......................... 28 

8. Fares .............................................................................................................. 29 

9. Operators ....................................................................................................... 30 

6.1  Requirement for a Licence ............................................................................. 30 

9.1  Fitness and Propriety ..................................................................................... 30 

9.2  Booking & Dispatch Staff ............................................................................... 31 

9.3  Record keeping .............................................................................................. 32 

9.4  Policy for the employment of ex-offenders ..................................................... 32 

9.5  Insurance ....................................................................................................... 32 

9.6  Conditions ...................................................................................................... 32 

6.2  Use of Operator Name Following Revocation of Licence ............................... 33 

9.7  Operator Responsibility in Relation to Vehicles / Drivers that are operated ... 33 

9.8  Right to Work in the UK .................................................................................. 34 

9.9  Complaint/Records......................................................................................... 34 

9.10  Operator’s Responsibility ............................................................................... 34 

9.11  Communication and Information Security ...................................................... 35 

9.12  To apply for a new PHO licence use the following link. .................................. 35 

10. Fees ............................................................................................................... 36 

11. Compliance and Enforcement ........................................................................ 36 

11.1  Enforcement ................................................................................................... 36 

11.2  Joint Enforcement Protocol ............................................................................ 37 

11.3  Enforcement Penalty Points ........................................................................... 37 

11.4  Suspension of Licence ................................................................................... 37 

11.5  Refusal to Renew a Licence .......................................................................... 38 

11.6  Prosecution of Licence Holders ..................................................................... 38 

11.7  Appeals .......................................................................................................... 38 

11.8  Complaints ..................................................................................................... 38 

 

  

page 24



 

4 

 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers Application Procedure ... 40 

Appendix B Disclosure and Barring Service Procedure ........................................ 45 

Appendix C Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Previous Convictions ......... 46 

Appendix D Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers Conditions ..................... 59 

Appendix E Vehicle Application Procedure (including renewal applications) ........ 62 

Appendix F Vehicle Specifications - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire ............. 65 

Appendix G Private Hire Vehicle Conditions ......................................................... 72 

Appendix H Hackney Carriage vehicle conditions ................................................. 76 

Appendix I Vehicle Testing requirements ............................................................ 80 

Appendix J Advertisements .................................................................................. 84 

Appendix K Taxi Ranks ......................................................................................... 85 

Appendix L Private Hire Operators Conditions ..................................................... 86 

Appendix M Enforcement and Penalty Points Scheme ......................................... 89 

Appendix N Rushcliffe Borough Council’s Code of Conduct When working with 

Vulnerable Passengers ..................................................................... 92 

Appendix O Guidance Notes on Driver Working Hours – Do I need a break? ...... 93 

Appendix P Policy in respect of requests for information, disclosure of information, 

and use of information as a result of an entry on NR3S. ................... 94 

Appendix Q  Confidential Reporting Code (Whistle-blowing policy) ....................... 98 
  

page 25



 

5 

 

1. Introduction 

Rushcliffe Borough Council is responsible for the regulation of the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire trades within the Borough of Rushcliffe. 

Rushcliffe Borough Council recognises the important role that Hackney Carriages 
and Private Hire vehicles play in enabling people to travel around the Borough, whilst 
playing a visible role in portraying the image of Rushcliffe to all. The drivers 
themselves are recognised has having a key role in being ambassadors for the 
Borough. 

Customers rightly expect that in using taxis and Hackney Carriages they will be 
transported safely. In addition, it is in everyone’s interest to ensure that customer 
experiences are positive. This will help to ensure that the industry and the local 
economy thrive. 

This policy and related procedures will guide the work of the Licensing Authority 
(Council) in the way in which it carries out its functions. 

This policy has been developed by Rushcliffe Borough Council after consulting with 
both the public and the trade in particular. In developing this policy, we have also 
taken into consideration: 

• The Council’s licensing objectives 

• Current Legislation 

• The Office of Fair Trading “The Regulation of Licensed Taxi and Private Hire 

Vehicle Services in the UK‟ 2003 

• ‘Taxi and PHV Licensing Criminal Conviction’ Policy, LGA  

• Guidance on the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 – March 2014 

• Disclosure & Barring Service Information Note on Rehabilitation of Offenders 

Act 1974 and Police Act 1997 Orders - 2013 

• Regulators’ Code 2014 

• The Department for Transport ‘’Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best 

Practice Guidance‟ March 2010 or subsequent revisions 

• The Air Quality (Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2019, (CAZ) 

• NAFN, National Register of Taxi license Revocations & Refusals (NR3S). 

• Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards. November 2022 or 

subsequent revisions, Policing and Crime Act, sec 171(1)(5)(4) 

• Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Safeguarding and Road Safety) Act 2022 

• The Finance Act 2021, Schedule 33(Licensing Authorities (Tax Information) 

Regulations 2022 

This policy sets out the requirements and standards that must be met. In exercising 
its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council will have regard to 
this policy document. However, each application or enforcement action will be 
considered on its own merits. 

page 26



 

6 

 

This policy will be evaluated from time to time after its introduction. The Council will 

formally review the policy statement 5 years after adoption. 

2. Definitions 

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, (“the 
1976 Act”) places on Rushcliffe Borough Council (the “Council”) as the Licensing 
Authority (the “Authority”) the duty to carry out its licensing functions in respect of 
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles. 

This document sets out the policy that the Council will apply when making decisions 
about new applications and licences currently in force. 

This policy applies to: 
 

• Hackney Carriages: being a public transport vehicle with no more than 8 
passenger seats, which is licensed to ply for hire. This means that it may 
stand at ranks or be hailed in the street by members of the public 

• Private Hire Vehicles: licensed as a taxi to carry no more than 8 passenger 
seats but must be booked in advance by customers through an operator and 
may not ply for hire in the street 

• Private Hire Operators 

• Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers. 

In undertaking its licensing function, the Council will have particular regard to: 

• Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and 1889 

• Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

• Transport Act 1985 and 2000 

• Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 

• Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

• Equality Act 2010 

• Road Traffic Acts 

• Health Act 2006 

• Human Rights Act 1998 

• General Data Protection Regulation 2018 

• NAFN, National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations & Refusals (NR3S), 
LGA Guidance. 

• Policing & Crime Act 2017 

• Immigration Act 2016 

• Common Law Police Disclosure  

• Institute of Licensing Guidance 

• The Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles (safeguarding and road safety) Act 2022 

• The Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) Act 2022 

 

The Council will also follow the principles laid out in the statutory Regulator’s Code 
and any recommendations from Regulatory Delivery (part of DBEIS). 

page 27



 

7 

 

3. Licensing Aims and Objectives 

The principal purpose of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing is to protect 
the public and promote public safety. The Council will adopt and carry out its 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing functions with a view to promoting the 
following: 

• The protection of the public, safeguarding children and the 
vulnerable, and the prevention of crime and disorder 

• The safety and health of the public and drivers 

• Vehicle safety, comfort and access 

• Encouraging environmental sustainability. 

In promoting these licensing aims and objectives, the Council will expect to see 
licence holders and applicants continuously demonstrate that they meet or exceed 
the standards set by the Council. 

The protection of the public, safeguarding children and the vulnerable, and the 

prevention of crime and disorder 

• Raising awareness amongst the licensed trade, and the general public, of 
issues of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 

• Operating rules, conditions and disciplinary processes 

• Vetting, qualification, training and monitoring licensees 

• Commitment to work with the police and licensing authorities 

• An expectation that licence holders will treat all customers, passengers, 
the general public, Council Officers and Councillors with respect and 
courtesy at all times. 

The safety and health of the public and drivers 

• Consideration of history of convictions and cautions 

• Driver training, qualification and performance 

• Knowledge of the Rushcliffe area 

• Health and fitness to fulfil the role of a licensed driver 

• Vehicle specifications 

• Regular driver medical checks. 

Vehicle safety, comfort and access 

• Standards of vehicle comfort and appearance 

• Space standards for vehicles 

• Location of ranks and use of ranks 

• Provision of disabled facilities. 

Encouraging environmental sustainability 

We will work with stakeholders in the trade in finding methods of reducing vehicle 
emissions and not issuing licences for vehicles that are unable to comply with 
European Emissions Standards. 

page 28



 

8 

 

These aims and objectives will be taken into account by the Council when making 
decisions. It is recognised that the licensing function is only one means of securing 
the delivery of the above objectives. The Council will therefore continue to work in 
partnership with licence holders, its neighbouring authorities, the Police, local 
businesses and local people towards the promotion of the aims and objectives. 

4. Delegations 

Under the Council’s Constitution, full Council has responsibility for all policy matters 
relating to taxi licensing. The Councils operates a scheme of delegation to officers in 
respect of individual applications, contraventions, suspensions and revocations for 
drivers, vehicles and operators. In certain circumstances a Licensing Sub-
Committee, comprising of up to four elected Councillors, will determine applications, 
contraventions, suspensions and revocations. In addition, the Director can appoint 
and authorise officers to investigate and discharge its statutory functions. Such 
authorised powers include the issuing of warnings, suspension notices, refusals, 
revocations, STOP notices and the issuing of Penalty Points. The person applying for 
a licence will have the opportunity to appeal decisions to the Magistrates Court. 

5. Whistleblowing (confidential reporting Code) Operators  

See Appendix Q Procedure for Licensed drivers to report issues to their operator 

which may be contrary to the law whilst protecting their identity. 

gov.uk/whistleblowing if reported the council policy will be followed. 

6. Driver Requirements 

Each driver must satisfy the Council that the applicant/driver is a ‘fit and proper 
person’ to be granted a driver’s licence and must then remain a fit and proper person 
for the duration of that licence. The fitness and propriety of a driver will be 
monitored/assessed throughout the period that the licence is held. 

Applicants are expected to act with honesty and integrity throughout the application 
process and must therefore fully and accurately disclose any information that is 
requested. This includes information regarding previous convictions, warnings and 
reprimands, current investigations and pending civil or criminal proceedings, all traffic 
offences where there is a penalty (driver’s course) and payments for fines. Enquiries 
will be made by the Disclosure and Barring service and the use of Police Common 
Law disclosure. 

It is the applicant’s duty to declare if they have held or hold a Taxi/PHV drivers’ 
licence with any other authority, if they have surrendered the licence before its 
renewal date, and also if they have been subject to any refusal, suspension or 
revocation of such said licence. 

The Council aims to ensure that Private Hire and Hackney Carriage services 
delivered within the Borough are of a good standard. The application and compliance 
procedures are designed to ensure these standards are maintained, monitored for 
compliance and appropriately enforced. 

page 29

https://www.gov.uk/whistleblowing


 

9 

 

The sections below, therefore, apply equally to Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
drivers unless indicated and the application procedure is set out in Appendix A. 

6.1 Fit and Proper Person Test 

The Council considers that licensed drivers are in a position of trust, and therefore 
the Council must ensure that applicants / licence holders are, and remain, fit and 
proper to hold a licence. This requirement is contained within Sections 51 and 59 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (Part II). 

The term “Fit and Proper Person” for the purposes of taxi and Private Hire licensing 
is not legally defined. However, in determining whether a person is fit and proper to 
hold a licence, those tasked with determining licences / applications are effectively 
asking the following question of themselves: 

 “Would you allow your son or daughter, spouse or partner, mother or father, 
grandson or granddaughter or any other person for whom you care, to get into a 
vehicle with this person alone?” (IOL guidance), or 

“Without any prejudice and based on the evidence before you would allow a person 
for  whom you care regardless of their condition to travel alone in a vehicle driven by 
this person at any time of day or night. If on the balance of probabilities the answer is 
NO the person should not hold a licence.  The safeguarding of public is paramount!” 
(Button on Taxis, 2017) 

If there are any doubts in the minds of those who make the decision, then further 
consideration should be given as to whether a licence should be granted to that 
person. 

In order to assess the suitability of an applicant (and to inform decision makers when 
answering the question above), the Licensing Authority will undertake whatever 
checks and apply whatever processes it considers necessary to ensure that licences 
are not issued to, or used by, unsuitable persons. In assessing the suitability of an 
applicant or licence holder, the Council will take into consideration the following 
factors: 

• Criminality 

• Period of holding a driver’s licence 

• Number of endorsed driving licence penalty points 

• Right to work 

• Medical fitness 

• Standard of driving / driving ability 

• General conduct / standards of behaviour (including online behaviour) 

• The conduct of the applicant in making the application (e.g. whether they 
have acted with honesty and with integrity during the application process). 

• The previous licensing history of existing / former licence holders (including 
honesty and integrity), including the reasons for any entry on the NR3S 
database 

• Theoretical knowledge of issues and matters related to the work of a 
licensed driver. (e.g. disability awareness, safeguarding) 

• Ability to read/write and speak English 

page 30



 

10 

 

• Harm Test 

• HMRC rules and requirements 

In addition, the Council will also consider further information sources such as the 
Police (including abduction notices), Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards, other 
licensing authorities, any entries on the NR3S database and statutory agencies. 

Harm Test: a person satisfies the “Harm Test” if they may harm a child or vulnerable 
adult or put them at risk of harm. Or it is something a person may do to cause harm 
or pose a risk of harm to a child or a vulnerable adult.  

Prior to and when issued with a licence, the licence holder Must notify the issuing 
Council within 48 hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual 
offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. 
Failure to do so may result in the non-issue of the licence, penalty points, suspension 
or revocation. 

6.2 Application Process 

All prospective drivers will be required to apply online via the council online webpage 
on the website this is at this webpage https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk. The applicant 
may apply for a one-year or three-year combined licence. If the applicant is unsure if 
a licenced driving role is for them they should consider applying for a one-year 
licence only, as no refunds will be granted if the applicant changes their mind and 
withdraws or ceases to be a driver for the period of the licence. 

The applicant will be required to submit the necessary documents to enable the 
assessment and determination of the application and make a full payment online at 
the time of submission. 

Prospective drivers will be required to obtain the following information and submit this 
online at the time of application. The applicant is encouraged to have this 
information prior to paying and submitting the application form. 

If all the information or documents necessary to determine the application are not 
present on the application date then the applicant will have a time limit of 3 months to 
complete and supply any outstanding documents. 

Where information is not provided at the end of the 3 months period the application 
may be determined and will be refused. 

Where an application is made and subsequently withdrawn, abandoned or 
refused no refund is payable. 

Required documentation for applicants to provide is contained in Appendix A
 Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers Application Procedure: 

It is a legal requirement that apapplicants shall provide proof that they have a 
statutory right to work in the UK prior to the issue of a licence and any applicant that 

page 31

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/


 

11 

 

has a limited right to work shall not be issued a driver licence for a period longer than 
that limited period. 

The information submitted as part of the application process will be shared, when 
applicable, with other Council Departments and external statutory bodies e.g. Police 
and HMRC. See our privacy policy. (https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/privacy-notice-and-

policy/) 

An individual will not be considered fit and proper to hold a licence if there is any 
evidence of dishonesty, and/or it can be shown that an applicant or existing 
licence holder has misled, or attempted to mislead the Council (either officers or 
members of the Licensing Committee) as part of any process associated with the 
administration or determination of a licence. 

6.3 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

A criminal record check on a driver is seen as an important safety measure. 
Enhanced Disclosure through the Disclosure and Barring Service is required as 
these disclosures include details of live and spent convictions, police cautions and 
other relevant information that indicates that a person poses a risk to public safety. 
The DBS application procedures are detailed in Appendix B of this policy. 

Both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers are included as “exceptions” within 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 (the “Exceptions 
Order”).  Accordingly, all drivers will be asked to disclose on their application form 
any warning, fixed penalty notices, caution or conviction, even if it is spent for other 
purposes and those will be revealed on the DBS certificate.  

All applicants for the grant or renewal of a licence requiring a DBS check shall be 
responsible for the costs of obtaining the DBS certificate. 

Certificates will be obtained using the Council’s approved DBS system, but it will 
accept DBS certificates issued to other local authorities if they have been printed 
within the last three months and are to an enhanced level.  

All new applicants must declare on the application form any convictions, cautions or 
fixed penalty notices they have received or current pending matters.  All licence 
holders shall notify the Council of any arrests, warnings, convictions, cautions and 
fixed penalty notices received during their licence period. Failure to inform the 
Council of these matters during the licensing period may result in points on the 
Enforcement and Penalty Points Scheme operated by the Council or suspension/ 
revocation/refusal of the licence. 

A licence will not be granted or renewed in the absence of a current Enhanced DBS 
Disclosure Certificate. 

The Council requires all drivers to have an enhanced DBS check 6 monthly, and all 
licence holders should subscribe to the Disclosure and Barring Service Online 
Update Service to ensure this can be completed without undue delay. Any costs 
associated with maintaining this subscription or the bi-annual check must be met by 

page 32

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/privacy-notice-and-policy/


 

12 

 

the licence holder. The licence holder must give permission for the council to 
undertake checks of their DBS status should the Council consider it necessary to do 
so. The Council will use the update service to monitor the criminal record of licence 
holders. The update service can be used when a licence is renewed – if there are no 
changes recorded on the DBS certificate then a full DBS check will not be required. 
In all other cases a full Enhanced DBS check will be required before a licence is 
renewed. The driver, upon application, will give the Council permission to retain 
information revealed on the DBS check which it will retain in a secure manner. A 
licence may be suspended/revoked if a DBS check is not able to be performed and a 
current up to date certificate is not provided at the appropriate time. 

Applicants with Periods of Residency outside the UK 

Certificates of good conduct  

If an applicant has spent three continuous months or more within last 5 years 
overseas the Council will need to see evidence of a criminal record check from the 
country / countries visited covering the period that the applicant was overseas. 
Because of the potential lifetime relevance for some of the most serious offences 
mentioned in this policy, the Council will need to ensure that sufficient background 
checks are conducted for those applicants that have lived oversees. For EU 
nationals (including UK citizens) suitable checks should be available. For those 
countries for which checks are not available, the Council will require a certificate of 
good conduct authenticated by the relevant embassy. You can find out what a 
certificate of good conduct is here.  

Asylum Seekers 

Where an applicant has been granted asylum status the applicant may not be 
required to provide a certificate of good conduct, however an enhanced DBS 
certificate will still be required. 

6.4 Relevant Convictions Policy 

The Council is committed to ensuring that the licensed trade is fit and proper. This 
will entail periodic audits of licensed drivers to ensure that any errors or material 
changes are identified and acted upon. In relation to the consideration of convictions, 
cautions, warning and reprimands etc., the Council has adopted the policy set out in 
Appendix C. The terms of this policy will have immediate effect from the date of this 
policy. 

In assessing whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold or retain a 
licence, the Council will consider each case on its merits. It will take account of 
warnings, cautions and convictions, whether spent or unspent, but only in so far as 
they are relevant to an application for a licence. 

Those applications or renewals with information indicating a past criminal record, or 
any other concern, will be dealt with under the Council’s scheme of delegation. The 
appropriate Officer will make the assessment of whether or not the applicant is a fit 
and proper person to hold a licence in line with the policy at Appendix C. 

page 33

https://www.taxiplus.co.uk/news/what-are-certificates-of-good-conduct-and-when-would-you-need-one


 

13 

 

The policy at Appendix C will also be used to determine the suitability of an existing 
licence holder should it be necessary to consider action in relation to the licence 
partway through the licence period. 

6.5 Knowledge/English Test and Driving Test 

Applicants for a driver’s licence are required to have passed the Council’s knowledge 
test (for exemptions see Appendix A Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers 
Application Procedure)  and the English test (unless exempt). These tests will ensure 
that the applicant has sufficient knowledge in relation to: 

• Literacy and numeracy 

• Locations 

• Use of A-to-Z mapping for routes 

• Highway Code signs. 

In addition to the knowledge test, applicants will be required to demonstrate that they 
have abilities to speak and read English in such a manner that they can 
communicate satisfactorily with customers. The Council will make such 
arrangements for the testing of an applicant’s ability to speak and read English as 
required on an individual basis and may make a charge for each test.  

An English test will not be required where the applicant holds a UK educational 
qualification which will be required to be submitted on initial application or upon 
renewal if not provided as a new application.  

In exceptional cases the licensing service will review each application on a case-by-
case basis and may issue a licence only if the officer is satisfied with regards to the 
ability of the applicant to speak and write English for which a charge may be applied. 
Where the Licensing officer is not satisfied of the ability to read/write or speak 
English the applicant will be considered not fit and proper at the time of the 
assessment and may be refused. 

The council will publicise a list of acceptable qualifications which may be updated as 
required. 

Applicants who fail must re-sit the whole test and pass all sections in that test. The 
test may be repeated. False declarations or cheating or assistance during tests will 
be considered serious breaches of integrity and honesty and may result in refusal. 

Applicants must pay for each test and book with the Rushcliffe Borough Contact 
Centre prior to attending (payment will be required before each test). Applicants 
cancelling the test with less than 24 hours’ notice or fail to attend will not be refunded 
the fee. 

As part of application process applicants are required to undergo a driving test with 
the Council’s approved driving instructor before a licence is issued. Should the 
applicant not cancel the test at least 24 hours prior to the date of the test they will not 
be refunded the fee. In addition, if the applicant fails to provide a valid certificate of 
insurance or the vehicle is not up to standard the test will be cancelled and no refund 

page 34



 

14 

 

will be made. Failure of more than one driving test may give cause for concern as to 
the fit and proper status of the driver. 

6.6 Medical Assessment 

The Council recognises that licensed drivers should have more stringent medical 
standards than those applicable to non-licenced car drivers because they carry 
members of the public who have expectations of a safe journey; they are on the road 
for longer hours than most car drivers; and they may have to assist disabled 
passengers and handle luggage. Therefore, Group 2 Standards of Medical Fitness, 
as applied by the DVLA to the licensing of lorry and bus drivers, are considered the 
appropriate standard for licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers. 

The Council requires that applicants and current drivers undergo medicals through 
the Council’s preferred third-party provider. The medical will be taken at the 
applicant’s own expense and they are responsible for making their own 
arrangements for this to take place. The medical certificate will be produced to the 
Council, in the case of a new applicant either at application or within three months of 
the receipt of the application and in the case of a renewal before the renewal of the 
licence is granted but within 2 weeks of a request to supply a medical where 
required. 
 
Holders of Public Service Vehicle (PSV) and / or Large Goods Vehicle (LGV) 
Licences, where the holder is able to produce proof of current medical examination 
less than 3 months old, shall not be required to undergo a medical examination on 
first application. Drivers who already hold a medical certificate for a taxi licence from 
another local authority may use this when submitting their application to Rushcliffe 
provided the medical provider is one approved by the Council. Licence holders must 
advise the Licensing Authority of any deterioration or other change in their health that 
may affect their driving capabilities. Where there remains any doubt about the fitness 
of any applicant, the Council will review the medical evidence and make any final 
decision in light of the medical evidence available. 

No licence shall be issued until medical clearance (if required) has been established. 
A licence application will not be accepted / processed unless all elements of the 
application process have been completed within 3 months of receiving the 
application. 

To provide equity with drivers of other forms of public transport, the Council will 
conduct drug/alcohol/eyesight tests on drivers on an intelligence-led and random 
basis. Selected drivers and applicants will be expected to either submit to any test 
deemed appropriate by the Licensing Service or to attend a medical practitioner 
chosen by the Council and submit to any test deemed appropriate. Positive test 
results or failing to comply with the test request may result in a refusal, suspension or 
revocation of the licence. All costs incurred by such tests will be met by the driver.  

Licensed drivers are under a legal duty to carry guide-, hearing- and other prescribed 
assistance dogs in their vehicles without additional charge. Drivers who have a 
medical condition which is aggravated by exposure to dogs may apply to the Council 
for exemption from these duties on medical grounds. If an application is successful, 

page 35



 

15 

 

they will be issued with an exemption certificate. The notice of exemption must be 
exhibited in the vehicle by fixing it, facing outwards, either on the windscreen or in a 
prominent position on the dashboard.  

Hackney Drivers who for other medical reasons cannot physically load a wheelchair-
bound person or load luggage may also apply for an exemption as above. 

6.7 HMRC at first application & requirements upon renewal 

Upon first application applicants are made aware of the requirements to be tax 
registered. The applicant must confirm that they understand their tax responsibilities 
and are directed to the HMRC’s guidance pages, which are at: 

Confirm your tax responsibilities when applying for a taxi, private hire or scrap metal 
licence - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

You will need to confirm that you are aware of this guidance. 

If you’re applying as a partner in a partnership, you can give confirmation on behalf 
of all the partners.  

HMRC rules require that the renewal of a taxi driver, private hire driver or operator 
upon application will not be granted unless the HMRC tax check is completed, the 
code provided to the licensing authority for checking and this passing the validation 
check on the HMRC website. See Appendix A. 

Individuals, companies and any type of partnership must complete a HMRC tax 
check and provide the 9-digit tax check code on the application form when: 

• renewing a licence 
• applying for the same type of licence they previously held, that ceased 

to be valid less than a year ago 
• applying for the same type of licence they already hold with another 

licensing authority 

The code will be checked with the HMRC before a licence is issued on renewal and 
will be refused as an invalid application if this fails or is not provided on any 
application form where required.  

Tax check codes expire after 120 days, so if you make a licence application for 
another licence after that time, you’ll need to carry out a new tax check for it. 

Complete a tax check for a taxi, private hire or scrap metal licence - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

6.8 Duration of the Licence 

The Council will issue licences for a three-year period, which is preferred and 
recommended. However, the Council also allows a one-year licence through the 
online form which may be appropriate for new entrants to the PHV/Hackney trade. 

page 36

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/confirm-your-tax-responsibilities-when-applying-for-a-taxi-private-hire-or-scrap-metal-licence#find-out-if-you-must-pay-tax-on-your-earnings-from-your-licensed-trade-if-youre-not-already-registered-with-hmrc
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/confirm-your-tax-responsibilities-when-applying-for-a-taxi-private-hire-or-scrap-metal-licence#find-out-if-you-must-pay-tax-on-your-earnings-from-your-licensed-trade-if-youre-not-already-registered-with-hmrc
file:///C:/Users/MHickey/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/8PS9BXLF/Complete%20a%20tax%20check%20for%20a%20taxi,%20private%20hire%20or%20scrap%20metal%20licence%20-%20GOV.UK%20(www.gov.uk)
file:///C:/Users/MHickey/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/8PS9BXLF/Complete%20a%20tax%20check%20for%20a%20taxi,%20private%20hire%20or%20scrap%20metal%20licence%20-%20GOV.UK%20(www.gov.uk)


 

16 

 

6.9 Safeguarding & Disability Training 

Every new or renewal application will require the applicant to undergo Safeguarding 
Vulnerable Passengers & Disability training before a licence is issued. (1-year 
renewals – every 3 years).  The training may be provided through an approved online 
training provider or attending a training session at a location approved by the Council 
and the applicant will also complete and must pass a test at the end of the session. A 
licence will not be issued unless the safeguarding test is passed, and a certificate 
produced as part of the application process. 

6.10 Conditions 

The Council may attach such conditions to a Private Hire / Hackney Carriage driver’s 
licence as are considered necessary. These are set out in Appendix D and will be 
reviewed from time to time. 

6.11 Dress Code 

It is recognised that the taxi trade, both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire, play an 
important role in portraying a positive image of Rushcliffe and are seen as key 
ambassadors for the Borough. 

Anything that serves to enhance the professional image of the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire trade and promotes the concept that drivers of licensed vehicles are 
professional vocational drivers is to be welcomed. To ensure that not only are the 
above objectives met but, also that driving is carried out safely, a Dress Code for 
licensed drivers has been set. All clothing worn by the driver must be clean and in 
good condition, and the driver must have good standards of personal hygiene. 

 The following are deemed to be unacceptable: 

• Clothing that is not kept in a clean condition, free from holes and rips 

• Words or graphics on any clothing that is of an offensive or suggestive nature or 
which might offend 

• Sportswear (for example, football / rugby kits, track suits, beach wear etc.) 

• Sandals with no heel straps, flip flops or any other form of footwear not secured 
around the heel 

• Drivers not having either the top or bottom half of their bodies suitably clothed 

• The wearing of hoods or other clothing that obscures the driver’s vision or their identity. 

6.12 Code of Conduct when Working with Vulnerable Passengers 

It is essential that young, elderly and other vulnerable people are safeguarded and 
protected whilst being transported in a licensed vehicle. Accordingly, a specific Code 
of Conduct must be complied with when working with vulnerable passengers. This is 
provided at Appendix N. 

Drivers working under an arrangement to transport children may be working in 
‘Regulated Activity’ as defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. It is 
an offence to knowingly allow a barred individual to work in regulated activity. The 

page 37



 

17 

 

guidance on home to school travel and transport issued by the Department of 
Education should be considered alongside this document.  

6.13 Right of the Driver to Work in the UK 

The Council will require all applicants to provide documentary evidence to confirm 
that they may legally work in the UK. Examples of documents that maybe provided 
include: 

• A UK/ROI passport confirming that the holder is British or Irish Citizen  

• 9-digit Immigration Share Code. 

• Full UK Birth / Adoption Certificate 

This list is not exhaustive, and other documents may be accepted  as outlined in 
Guidance for licensing authorities to prevent illegal working in the taxi and private 
hire sector in the UK – further information will be provided by the Licensing Service 
on request. See the link here 

Biometric Residence Permits Cards and Vignette Stamps in Passports are no longer 
accepted. Since 6 April 2022, biometric card holders are required to evidence their 
right to work using the Home Office online service only. Licensing authorities cannot 
accept physical cards for the purposes of a right to work check even if it shows a 
later expiry date. Biometric cards have been removed from the lists of acceptable 
documents used to conduct a manual right to a licence check. 

6.14 Asylum Seekers and refugees 

Asylum seekers do not usually have permission to work and when they do, this is 
generally only in a shortage occupation or job on the Immigration Salary 
List  depending upon the date they were granted permission to work. These roles will 
not involve the PHV and taxi sector and therefore they must not be granted a licence. 

An Application Registration Card (ARC) is provided to a person who has claimed 
asylum in the UK, pending consideration of their case. An ARC may exceptionally 
state that the holder has a right to work, but generally this will only be in a shortage 
occupation or a job on the Immigration Salary List. Current guidance is that the 
council must not grant a PHV or taxi operator or driver licence on the basis of the 
ARC which states that the holder may only work in a shortage occupation or a job on 
the Immigration Salary List. However, the council will check whether the asylum 
seeker has alternative evidence of a right to hold a licence. 

A person who has been recognised by the UK as a refugee has no restrictions on 
their right to work in the UK. They may be granted a licence whilst they hold this 
permission. 

Where an applicant is subject to immigration controls, a licence will not be 
issued for longer than the period that the applicant has permission to 
undertake paid employment in the United Kingdom. 

No applicant, driver or person connected to a driver subject to immigration 
controls may make application or representation to the relevant agency (e.g. 

page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide/employers-guide-to-right-to-work-checks-23-september-2024-accessible-version#annexA
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308513/shortageoccupationlistapril14.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skilled-worker-visa-immigration-salary-list
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skilled-worker-visa-immigration-salary-list
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skilled-worker-visa-immigration-salary-list


 

18 

 

the immigration service) in the authority’s name or to any person so employed 
by them.  

6.15 Driver Responsibility 

The Licensing Authority requires all of its drivers to ensure that passengers are 
safeguarded when being transported in a licensed vehicle. The following are 
applicable: 

• Ensure their vehicle is fit to be driven at all times 

• Not to use a vehicle which could put the public at risk 

• To remain professional at all times 

• To carry photographic ID at all times, and wear it in accordance with any 
conditions of the licence 

• Not to use offensive or inappropriate language 

• Not to swear 

• Not to behave in a manner that would make passengers feel uncomfortable, 
intimated, vulnerable and/or threatened 

• Ensure a log is maintained which records all incidents, refusals and accidents 
involving passengers and is reported to the Operator immediately and in any 
event before taking the next fare (see 6.10 Accidents). Hackney drivers must 
keep a log of fares taken if operating outside the Rushcliffe Borough area 
acting as a PHV, and a copy must be held for 6 months 

• They must inform the Licensing Authority and if applicable the Private Hire 
Operator of any offences/convictions or arrests.  

• Drivers must comply with the conditions of any licence granted at all times 

6.16 Driver Hours 

There are no direct controls over the hours that Hackney Carriage/Private Hire 
drivers can work. There are, however, limits applicable to drivers and crews of heavy 
goods vehicles and public service vehicles. 

The Council deems that the number of hours worked by drivers can impact on public 
safety and as a result seeks to promote the same limits that are applicable to drivers 
and crews of heavy goods vehicles and public service vehicles, namely: 

• An average of 48 hours per week calculated over a 17-week period but up to 
60 hours in a single week providing the 48-hour limit is maintained 

• Night work limited to ten hours unless there is an agreement to work longer 
hours 

• Working between six and nine hours per day requires breaks totalling 30 
minutes. If more than 9 hours is worked then breaks must total 45 minutes, 
and breaks should be at least 15 minutes in duration 

• Drivers should refer to the guidance notes, ‘Do I need a break’ Appendix O. 

page 39



 

19 

 

6.17 NR3S, NAFN, National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations, Refusals & 

Suspensions  

Rushcliffe Borough Council provides information to the National Register of Taxi 
Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3S), a mechanism for licensing authorities to 
share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
(PHV) Driver’s licence revoked, suspended, or an application for one refused. This is 
necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the 
exercise of official authority vested in the licensing authority – that is, assessing 
whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a Hackney Carriage (HC) or 
Private Hire Vehicle (PHV) Driver’s licence. 

Therefore: 

• Where a HC/ PHV Driver licence is revoked, or an application for one is 

refused, or suspended the authority will automatically record this decision on 

NR3S; 

• All applications for a new licence or licence renewal will automatically be 

checked on NR3S. If a search of NR3S indicates a match with an applicant, 

the authority will seek further information about the entry on the register from 

the authority which recorded it. Any information received as a result of an 

NR3S search will only be used in respect of the specific licence application and 

will not be retained beyond the determination of that application. 

The information recorded on NR3S itself will be limited to: 

• Name 

• Date of birth 

• address and contact details 

• national insurance number 

• Driving licence number 

• Decision taken 

• Date of decision 

• Date decision effective. 

Information will be retained on NR3S according to the retention policy of the NR3S 

after which time it will be deleted. 

The authority will follow the policy set out in Appendix P Policy in respect of 

requests for information, disclosure of information, and use of information as a result 

of an entry on NR3S.  

6.18 Duty to report concerns about drivers licensed in other areas 

In compliance with Sections 5 and 6 of the Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles 
(Safeguarding and Road Safety) Act 2022. 

page 40

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/14/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/14/contents/enacted


 

20 

 

Where this Authority becomes aware of relevant information relating to a person who 
has driven within this Authority’s area in reliance on a driver’s licence or a relevant 
licence granted by another Licensing Authority or a Relevant Authority, where: 

• the information relates to the person’s conduct in this Authority’s area, and 

• this Authority is satisfied that, had it granted the licence, it would have 
considered suspending or revoking it in reliance on the information. 

This Authority will provide to the other Authority: 

• the relevant information, and 

• any other information of which it is aware which is relevant to identifying the 
person, 

before the end of the period of ten (10) working days beginning with the day on which 
this Authority became aware of the relevant information relating to the person’s 
conduct. 

6.19 Duty as regards reported concerns about drivers licensed by this 

Authority where information is reported by another Authority 

Where this Authority receives information from another Licensing Authority relating to 
a person who has driven in another Licensing Authority’s area in reliance on a 
driver’s licence granted by this Authority, or receives information of a similar nature 
from a Relevant Authority  relating to a person who has driven in that Authority’s area 
in reliance on a driver’s licence granted by this Authority, will before the end of the 
period of Twenty (20) working days beginning with the date on which this Authority 
became aware of the information, will: 

consider whether to suspend or revoke the person’s driver’s licence in reliance on— 

(i) the information, and 
(ii) (ii) any other information available to this Authority, and 

inform in writing the other Authority 

(i) whether or not it has suspended or revoked, or intends to suspend or 
revoke, the person’s driver’s licence, and 

(ii) the reasons for that action or intended action. 

  

page 41



 

21 

 

7. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

7.1 Application Process 

The Council will consider all applications for vehicle licences on their own merits. The 
procedure for dealing with applications for Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
vehicles is set out in Appendix E and each vehicle must meet those requirements or 
exemptions in this policy. An application must be made via the councils online 
application process at Information About Taxi Vehicles - Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

The applicant must meet the application requirements and the applicant must 
submit/complete the following to the Council in order for the application to be 
considered valid: 

 

• The vehicle application form (online) 

• The appropriate fee (paid online) 

• A digital copy/scan or photograph of the original Vehicle Registration 
Document (Logbook/V5) certificate of registration for the vehicle 

• A digital copy/scan or photograph of the valid insurance certificate or 
insurance cover note for the vehicle. (No weekly cover notes accepted) 

• A current MOT certificate from an Approved Rushcliffe garage in the 
Council Area issued within 14 calendar days of the application 
submission. Note: Unless the vehicle is brand new with delivery miles 
only, where no MOT is required. 

• For Hackney Carriage only - a copy of the meter calibration/installation 
certificate will be required. 

In addition: 

• Any vehicle not manufactured with European Whole Vehicle Type 
Approval will be required to undergo Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) testing 
and evidence of that testing and the vehicle having obtained SVA 
produced to the licensing office. The application must be made on the 
correct application form and all supporting documents completed in full. 

• Stretch limousines can be licensed by the authority but will not be licensed 
for any more than 8 passengers, if the seating is of such a kind that a 
determination of seating is not clear, a licensing officer will inspect the 
vehicle to discover the precise number of seats available. If no clear 
determination can be obtained, the application will be viewed on its own 
merits and may be refused. 

• A vehicle must not be ‘double plated’ e.g. also licenced with another local 
authority. 

• Vehicles subject of a write-off of any sort will not be considered for a 
licence. The Council will undertake a HPI check of any vehicle which is 
intended to be licensed to ensure such vehicles are not granted a licence. 

 

page 42

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/environmental-health/licensing/taxis/information-about-taxi-vehicles/


 

22 

 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles will be issued with a 12-month or 6-
month licence depending on their age from the date of first registration. And may be 
refused to be licenced if over a specified age for a new application or at renewal. The 
vehicle must meet the specification in this policy to be licenced. This is set out below. 
 

Renewal of any Taxi or Private Hire Vehicle MOT must be undertaken at one of the 
councils nominated testing stations and arrangements and payments for any MOT 
will be undertaken by the applicant. 

7.2 Grant and Renewal of Licences 

A Private Hire Vehicle & Hackney Carriage licences will be issued for a one (1) year 
period, commencing on the date that the licence is issued. Subject to the Age of 
Vehicles below,  vehicles older than eight (8) years old on the day that the licence is 
granted will be issued with a 6-month licence. 

7.3 Emissions and Age of Vehicles 

In the interests of passenger safety and comfort and in support of ongoing reductions 
in emissions there is a need to have in place controls on taxi age and emission limits. 

Modern vehicles are now greatly improved with regards to emission standards and 
the move to all electric will ensure that Taxi and Private Hire vehicles do not cause 
local air quality issues. 

In Rushcliffe the local air quality management areas have been revoked and as such 
local and national policies have worked to improve air quality. 

None the less other areas of the country still have AQMAs and vehicles can be 
driven through these and this authority is required to report to Defra weekly on the 
taxi fleet. It is therefore still appropriate to have certain controls on the age and 
emission standards of any vehicle to be used as a private hire or hackney vehicle but 
to balance the impact that this has on operators, owners and drivers. 

Rushcliffe believe that this can be achieved by ensuring appropriate age limits of the 
vehicles being granted a licence. 

In order to progress this improvement in standards and support air quality 
improvements the Council will further reduce the age limit of vehicles being 
registered for use as a taxi or PHV for the first time accordingly: 

AGE LIMITS ARE: 

Any NEW LICENSED application (as opposed to a renewal) vehicle will only be able 
to be licensed with the Council if its date of first registration as stated on the DVLA 
V5 document, is not older than five (5) years of age at the date of application. 

For existing vehicles already licensed by Rushcliffe Borough Council (e.g. renewals) 
that are over five years at point of application, the Council will continue to license up 

page 43



 

23 

 

to the age limit in place described in the next paragraph and table. Where a licence 
renewal is not applied for before the expiry of the current licence, by a short period 
due to administration error, an officer may permit the vehicle application as a 
renewal. All other vehicle ages will not be licensed unless an exemption applies. 

The Council will apply an age limit and will not license vehicles older than fifteen (15) 
years old from the date of first registration at the time of application (Exceptions 
apply).  The age limit will be kept under review during this policy and any subsequent 
policy. The exception to the above will be specially adapted or specialised purpose 
built vehicles which are used for the carriage of disabled persons which will not have 
an age limit restriction.  

Fully electric and other environmentally friendly fueled vehicles (e.g. ZEV or 
hydrogen, but not hybrid petrol/diesel) will be judged on their specification and 
condition and will also not have any age limit restriction applied. Some types of 
vehicles may be at the discretion of this authority, as this area develops and may be 
amended as necessary. 
 

TAXI/PHV 
application 

Age  Licence issued 

Newly licensed (All 
Vehicles) 

Must be less than 5 years 1 year licence 

Renewal  If they have a current licence 
they can be renewed until 15 
years old 

1 year licence, but 6 
months if older than 8 
years 

Renewal (Specially 
adapted, ZEV, 
Hydrogen or 
discretion) 

No age restriction, subject to 
suitability to standards 

1 year but 6 months 
older than 8 years 

 

The Council’s policy in relation to vehicle standards are set out in Appendix F. 

The CAZ legislation, the Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2019 requires that all councils report weekly the 
vehicles that are licenced under them for inclusion in the CAZ database. Rushcliffe 
Borough Council have made it clear on all applications for a vehicle PHV or Taxi that 
we are required by Law to share the data with Defra so that Defra can create and 
maintain a database to support the operation of charging clean air zones by local 
authorities or other air quality plans. The data will be limited to vehicle VRM, start 
date, end date, Taxi or PHV, Rushcliffe BC licence plate no, and wheelchair 
accessible status, and is subject to a memorandum of understanding and the GDPR 
and data protection regulations. However, the information provided is currently 
available freely on the Council’s public register page and no implications on data 
protection are expected to comply with this obligation.  

7.4 Insurance  

It is required that all insurance documents must be shown before a licence is issued. 

page 44



 

24 

 

• This requires a valid certificate of insurance or cover note confirming that 
insurance is in place for each driver of the vehicle and specifying use as 
either a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 

• A Hackney Carriage vehicle requires insurance to cover public hire and hire 
and reward 

• A Private Hire vehicle requires insurance to cover hire and reward 

• A cover note will be accepted, and the licence will be issued on the 
understanding that a certificate of insurance will be produced at the earliest 
opportunity 

• Weekly cover notes will not be accepted the minimum period will be 28 
days in all cases.   

The Council will undertake periodic auditing of licensed vehicles to verify that the 
vehicle is appropriately insured. 

7.5 Vehicle Specification 

The Council has set down a series of specifications. A vehicle will need to comply 
with these specifications prior to it being accepted as a licensed vehicle. Where an 
application is received where the vehicle does not meet the specifications the council 
may refund some or all of the application fee as it sees fit. The specification for 
Private Hire vehicles and for Hackney Carriages can be found at Appendix F. 

7.6 Conditions 

The Council is empowered to impose such conditions as it considers reasonably 
necessary in relation to the granting of Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
licences. These are set out in Appendix G for Private Hire Vehicles and Appendix H 
for Hackney Carriages. 

However, where it is considered necessary, additional conditions may be imposed. In 
considering what is reasonably necessary the Council will consider the aims and 
objectives of this policy. 

7.7 Identification of Vehicles as Private Hire Vehicles or Hackney Carriages 

The Council requires Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles to clearly indicate 
to the public that they are licensed vehicles. Therefore, they must be clearly 
distinguishable from other vehicles and each other. The Council believes that clear 
signage, types of vehicle, together with the colour/finish of the vehicle, can achieve 
this. 

Hackney Carriages 

• The exterior colour of all Hackney Carriages must be of a gloss finish. 

• Single colour 

• ‘For Hire’ signage on top of the vehicle  

page 45



 

25 

 

Private Hire Vehicles 

• The TX4 or similar vehicle (commonly referred to as a ‘London cab’) will not 
be licensed as a Private Hire vehicle 

• The minibus variants of approved Hackney Carriage vehicles (such as the 
Mercedes Vito) can be licensed as Private Hire vehicles. 

• Specialised vehicles. Used for school proms etc. must be constructed or 
adapted for no more than 8 passengers. 

The Council has set standards on the acceptable type of signage for Private Hire 
Vehicles and Hackney Carriages. These can be found in the Private Hire Vehicle 
/Hackney Carriages conditions set out in Appendix G for Private Hire Vehicles and 
Appendix H for Hackney Carriages. They include: 

• the permitted position of licence plates 

• positioning of permanent door signs for vehicles 

• required wording for door signs on vehicles 

• requirements for the display of notices in vehicles 

• other notices / markings that the Council will require licensed vehicles to 
display. 

7.8 Fire Extinguishers and First Aid Kits 

All vehicles will carry a first aid kit; fire extinguishers are not mandatory as the 
guidance now is to get safe as a priority. If fitted however, they must be in working 
condition as specified in the Council’s conditions. 

7.9 Tyres 

Tyres are the vehicle's only point of contact with the road, so it is essential that they 
are in good condition. The Council requires that all licensed vehicles adhere to the 
following provisions about tyres: 

• Tyre treads are designed to efficiently and effectively remove water from the 
road surface and provide maximum grip. All tyres fitted to the vehicle must 
have at least 1.6 mm tread depth throughout a continuous band in the centre 
3/4 of the tread and around the entire circumference of the tyre 

• Tyres fitted to a motor vehicle must be fit for purpose and be free from any 
defects which might damage the road or endanger any person. Fit for purpose 
means that a tyre must: 

• Be compatible with the types of tyres fitted to the other wheels 

• Not have any lump, bulge or tear caused by separation or partial failure of the 
structure 

• Not have a cut or tear in excess of 25mm or 10% of the sectional width of the 
tyre, whichever is the greater, and which is deep enough to reach the ply or 
cord 

• Not have any part of the ply or cord exposed 

• Tyres must be correctly inflated to the vehicle / tyre manufacturer's 
recommended pressure 

page 46



 

26 

 

• All replacement tyres fitted to licensed vehicles must be new (i.e. not have 
been used previously on any other vehicle) and have been fitted by a 
reputable vehicle maintenance company / contractor. Vehicle proprietors are 
required to retain invoices / receipts to show that any tyre that is purchased 
meets this requirement 

• The fitting of part worn tyres to licensed vehicles is not permitted. 

• ‘Space saving’ spare wheels must only be used in an emergency, and then 
only in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. Should the use of a 
‘space saving’ spare wheel become necessary during a period of hire then the 
journey may continue, but the wheel must be replaced before another journey 
commences 

• Inflation kits are now fitted to a lot of vehicles but are not suitable for large 
damage areas, the owner or operator of the vehicle must provide a provision 
for a journey to continue at no extra cost to the passenger/s. If the inflation kit 
is used it should be treated as a space saver wheel and must be replaced 
before the next journey, in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 
These kits are for a short-term measure to get you to the nearest tyre repair 
premises. No further hire is permitted till the tyre is replaced and replacement 
inflation kit is purchased 

• Run Flat tyres must be used if punctured as per the manufacturer’s 
instructions and must be repaired or replaced before the vehicle is acceptable 
for hire. 

7.10 Accidents 

If at any time the vehicle is involved in an accident or collision, however minor, the 
driver must inform the Council of this fact as soon as possible and in any event within 
72 hours in writing or by email (telephone calls are not a permitted method of 
reporting accidents). Photographs taken in daylight of all 4 sides of the vehicle and 
the damaged area must accompany any report, for officers to decide on whether an 
inspection is required. If the photograph is inconclusive the vehicle must be 
inspected, and the vehicle must be presented for inspection to the Council as soon 
as possible after the accident has taken place. The appointment will be arranged by 
the Council who will notify the vehicle proprietor of the date and time. Failure to 
present the vehicle for the appointment may result in the vehicle’s licence being 
suspended until such time as the vehicle is presented for examination. 

If the vehicle is so damaged that it cannot be driven, then the vehicle proprietor must 
inform the Council of this fact – the Council will then advise the proprietor of the 
action to be taken. In such cases the proprietor is advised to take photographic 
evidence of the vehicle’s condition that clearly illustrates the reasons why the vehicle 
cannot be driven / presented for examination. The vehicle plate’s front and rear must 
be removed and returned to the licensing department to be held if the vehicle is 
repaired to a satisfactory standard.  Failure to do so may result in Licensing 
Enforcement Penalty Points being issued. 

All damaged vehicles which were deemed to be roadworthy at the time of the 

accident will be subject to an examination at the authorities approved test station 

before being plated this test must be paid for at the current inspection charge. 

page 47



 

27 

 

7.11 Vehicle Examination and Testing Requirements 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles examination and testing requirements 
are set out in Appendix I Vehicle Testing requirements. 

7.12 Meters 

All Hackney Carriages must be fitted with a meter. 

Meters used to calculate fares must be accurate, display the correct time and be 
capable of displaying: 

• In the case of Hackney Carriages, the various tariffs as approved by the 
Council (including extra charges recoverable under the approved Table of 
Fares). The meter shall be calibrated and set to the Council‘s agreed charging 
distances and tariffs currently in force 

• In the case of Private Hire Vehicles, any scale of charges which will be 
provided by the Private Hire operator. 

Meters will be checked for accuracy by a measured mile distance or by waiting time. 
Meters must be positioned in order that the fare must be clearly displayed to the 
passenger throughout the journey. 

Meters in use must not facilitate fraudulent use. Any signs of tampering including the 
breaking of any seals will result in a suspension notice being issued immediately. For 
the suspension notice to be removed, the vehicle meter must have been resealed 
and calibrated by an approved meter company and presented to the Council for 
inspection. A calibration certificate must be available in the vehicle for inspection by 
any authorised officer who makes a request of the driver. 

Private Hire Operators and / or Hackney drivers may agree a cost for the journey 
with the customer prior to the journey commencing. In this situation, the price quoted 
is the price that must be charged – there is to be no deviation from this price without 
the agreement of the customer. On occasions where a price has been not been 
agreed prior to the journey commencing, the fare charged must be that which is 
reflected on the meter where the vehicle is equipped with a meter. 

7.13 Advertisements on Vehicles 

No advertisements shall be placed on any vehicle licensed by the Council without the 
applicant receiving prior approval of the advert. See Appendix J Advertisements 

The main aim of Council’s licensing of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trade 
is the protection of the public. The Council is aware that the public should have 
reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire services, because of the 
part they play in local transport provision. Disabled groups are particularly reliant on 
Hackney Carriages as a means of transport. Licensing authorities have no power to 
restrict the number of Private Hire vehicles that they licence. Licensing authorities 
can restrict the number of Hackney Carriage licence plates they issue if they are 

page 48



 

28 

 

satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand for taxi services; in Rushcliffe 
numbers are not restricted at this time. 

7.14 Taxi Ranks 

A full list of Hackney Carriage ranks, their exact positioning on each street and the 
times they are in use is set out in Appendix K.  

• Taxi ranks are to be used by Hackney Carriages whilst waiting for their next 
hire 

• They are not to be regarded as parking places 

• Private Hire Vehicles are not permitted to park on taxi ranks, nor must they 
allow customers to alight from their vehicle on a taxi rank. 

7.15 Designated wheelchair accessible vehicles Section 167 list  

Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to promoting accessible transport services 
to all users, and to uphold the objectives of the Equality Act 2010.  

See guidance on accessible transport 

We maintain a list of all vehicles designated for the purposes of section 165 of the 
Equality Act 2010 have (Known as the Equality Act Section 167 List) on our website; 
all Taxis will be designated upon application as such vehicles unless an exemption is 
applied for. 

Rushcliffe will seek to expand the designated list to PHV capable of meeting the 
minimum standards for designation. 

The following responsibilities are placed on drivers of Hackney Carriages and Private 
Hire vehicles that have been licensed as designated wheelchair accessible vehicles: 

• To carry the passenger whilst in a wheelchair 
• Not to make any additional charge for doing so 
• If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the wheelchair 

• To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is carried 
in safety and reasonable comfort  

• To give the passenger such “mobility assistance” as is reasonably required. 

What Does Mobility Assistance Mean? 

Mobility assistance essentially means helping passengers who use wheelchairs by 
providing physical assistance. If the passenger wishes to remain in the wheelchair, 
the driver must help the passenger to get into and out of the vehicle. If the passenger 
wants to transfer to a seat, the driver must help him or her to get out of the 
wheelchair and into a seat and back into the wheelchair; the driver must also load the 
wheelchair into the vehicle. The driver must also offer to load the passenger’s 
luggage into and out of the vehicle. 

Guide Dogs / Assistance Dogs 

page 49

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/593350/access-for-wheelchair-users-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles.pdf


 

29 

 

Duties are also placed on Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers when driving 
licensed vehicles to carry guide dogs and other assistance dogs under the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010, regardless of the designation on the 167 list. 

Refusal to Comply with the Above Duties 

Section 166 of the Equality Act 2010 allows the licensing authority to exempt drivers 
from duties to assist passengers in wheelchairs if their medical grounds allow this, or 
the driver’s physical condition makes it impossible or unreasonably difficult to comply 
with the duties 

Unless a driver has been granted an “Exemption Notice” by the Rushcliffe Borough 
Licensing Authority on the grounds that he / she is medically unable to provide the 
above assistance, then an offence is committed if the duties imposed are not carried 
out as required. In such instances the Council will investigate any complaints 
received about the lack of assisting wheelchair users and / or those accompanied by 
guide / assistance dogs and will take the appropriate enforcement measures in 
accordance with our Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy. 

8. Fares 

The Hackney Carriage Table of Fares (“the tariff”) is set by the Council and sets the 
maximum fare that can be charged by Hackney Carriage drivers for journeys within 
the Borough which can be negotiated downwards by the hirer for journeys. The hirer 
may agree to the fare for a journey which ends outside the Borough being charged 
other than at the metered rate. 

It is an offence for any person to charge more than the metered fare and penalty 
points can be issued to the Proprietor of the Hackney Carriage in such 
circumstances in line with the Council’s penalty point’s scheme. 

The Council will review Hackney Carriage fare scales from time to time in liaison with 
the Hackney Carriage Proprietors. A notice of any variation to the maximum fare 
shall be advertised by the Council. 

A table of authorised maximum fares will be provided to each Hackney Carriage 
licence holder, which must then be displayed in each vehicle so that it is easily visible 
to all hirers. 

Drivers must, if requested by the passenger, provide written receipts for fares paid. 

For Private Hire Vehicles the Council is not able to set fares for Private Hire vehicles. 

Drivers must, if requested by the passenger, provide written receipts for fares paid. 

The receipt must provide the passenger with 

• The journey cost 

• The operating company name and contact number 

• The driver’s name and signature 

• The date of the journey.  

page 50



 

30 

 

9. Operators 

6.1 Requirement for a Licence 

A licensed private hire vehicle must only be despatched to a customer by a Private 
Hire Operator who holds an operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the operator 
to make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a licensed hire 
vehicle. 

A Rushcliffe Private Hire operator must ensure that every licensed hire vehicle is 
driven by a person who holds a licence issued by the same Authority that issued the 
vehicle licence. 

Any person who operates a Private Hire service must apply to the Council for a 
Private Hire Operator’s Licence. The objective in licensing Private Hire operators is 
the safety of the public, who will be using operators’ premises, and vehicles and 
drivers, arranged through them. 

Applications for Operator licences shall be made on the prescribed form, together 
with the appropriate fee. The Council will then decide whether the applicant is a fit 
and proper person to hold an Operator licence. Planning permission is required for 
each Operator’s base and is required as part of the application process. 

The Council will grant Private Hire operator licences for a period of up to 5 years. 
The council would encourage 5 years licences to avoid undue administration and 
certainty to the applicant. 

9.1 Fitness and Propriety 

The Council will only issue licences to applicants that are deemed to be fit and 
proper. Applicants must declare all persons who are directors of the company and a 
valid DBS certificate must be supplied along with demonstration of their entitlement 
of their right to work in the UK such as a UK/ROI passport, or as set out in this policy 
in other areas. In assessing this, the Council will have regard to the following: 

• Criminal record (including convictions, cautions, warnings and reprimands) 

• Factors such as demeanour, general character, non-criminal behaviour, 
honesty and integrity 

• Previous conduct (particularly in cases where the applicant holds or has 
previously held a licence issued by Rushcliffe Borough Council) 

• Business practices demonstrated by the applicant (for example standard of 
record keeping, compliance with other regulatory requirements, financial 
practices etc.) 

• National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations, Refusals & Suspensions 

(NR3S). 

In addition, the Council will also consider further information sources such as the 
Police (including abduction notices), Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards, other 
licensing authorities and statutory agencies. 

page 51



 

31 

 

If an application is received from a person that is not a current driver licensed by 
Rushcliffe Borough Council, then the applicant will be required to provide a Basic 
Disclosure from the Disclosure and Barring Service and undertake the Council’s 
Child and Adult Safeguarding Awareness Training or other training as deemed 
necessary (as required by licensed drivers). 

An operator is under an obligation to remain fit and proper at all times and may have 
their licence revoked or suspended and be prohibited from reapplying for a renewal 
or a new licence for a period of time depending on the circumstances of any 
suspension/revocation. Any periods must be considered proportionate and 
appropriate in the circumstances of any offence or reasons for the 
suspension/revocation. Any action taken may still lead to criminal action being taken 
for serious offences. 

9.2 Booking & Dispatch Staff 

Private Hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire users have 
with private hire vehicle operator’s staff, for example a person taking bookings (be it 
be by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which driver to send to a 
user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to exploit children and 
vulnerable adults. It is therefore appropriate that all staff that have contact with 
private hire vehicle users and dispatching of vehicles should not present an undue 
risk to the public or the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults. 

The Council will need to be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can 
demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the 
dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. The Council will, as a 
condition of granting an operator licence, require a register of all staff that will 
take bookings or dispatch vehicles is kept.  

Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and to 
ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the 
register and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. DBS 
certificates provided by the individual should be recently issued when viewed, 
alternatively the operator could use a ‘responsible organisation’ to request the check 
on their behalf. When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for 
an operator they should be required, as part of their employment contract, to advise 
the operator of any convictions while they are employed in this role.  

The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in these 
roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, this will 
enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the operator has 
had sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate itself should not be 
retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the 
register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new 
basic DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this recorded. The register 
must be available for inspection by a warranted police officer and an authorised 
Council officer.  

Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot pass on 
the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required 

page 52



 

32 

 

to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they 
outsource these functions.  
 

9.3 Record keeping  

Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires 
private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every booking 
invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of another 
operator. The Council shall as a minimum require private hire vehicle operators 
to record the following information for each booking:  

• the name of the passenger;  
• the time of the request;  
• the pick-up point;  
• the destination;  
• the name of the driver;  
• the driver’s licence number;  
• the vehicle registration number of the vehicle;  
• the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;  
• the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.  

This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes necessary 
and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is suggested that 
booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months. 

Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect 
the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides 
comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how to meet 
their obligations.  
 

9.4 Policy for the employment of ex-offenders 

The Council also require operators or applicants for a licence to provide their policy 
on employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. As with 
the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle operators’ licence, those with a 
conviction for offences provided in the annex to this document (Annex – Assessment 
of previous convictions), other than those relating to driving, may not be suitable to 
decide who is sent to carry a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car.  
 

9.5 Insurance 

Before an application for a Private Hire operator’s licence is issued, the applicant 
shall produce evidence that they have taken out appropriate public liability insurance 
for the premises to be licensed. Where necessary, operators must also hold 
employer’s liability insurance. 

9.6 Conditions 

The Council has the power to impose such conditions on an operator’s licence, as it 
considers reasonably necessary and these are set out at Appendix L. However, 

page 53



 

33 

 

where it is considered necessary, additional conditions may be imposed. In 
considering what is reasonably necessary the Council will consider the aims and 
objectives of this policy. 

Failure of the operator to adhere to the conditions of licence will lead to enforcement 
action (suspension, revocation or prosecution) and / or the issue of enforcement 
penalty points. 

6.2 Use of Operator Name Following Revocation of Licence 

Where an operator licence is revoked by the Council, the name (or a similar name) of 
the Private Hire company associated with that licence cannot be used by another 
operator until such time as six months has elapsed since the date of revocation or 
the date on which all appeal processes have been concluded (whichever is the 
longer). 

9.7 Operator Responsibility in Relation to Vehicles / Drivers that are operated 

The operator is responsible for all persons (and vehicles) that are employed, 
contracted or otherwise used in the course of their business. To that end, the 
operator must undertake sufficient checks to satisfy themselves that only suitable 
drivers, vehicles and controllers are used (and continue to be used) in the course of 
their business. The failure of an operator to ensure that appropriate checks are 
carried out may call into question the operator’s fitness and propriety. In addition, a 
failure to take appropriate action in relation to drivers that persistently breach licence 
conditions may also be considered detrimental to the continued fitness and propriety 
of the operator. 

The following are examples of circumstances that may affect the fitness and 
propriety of a Private Hire operator: 

• Licensed drivers or vehicle proprietors persistently (either individually or as a 
group) breaching the conditions of their licence whilst working for / under the 
instruction of a particular operator 

• Vehicles being operated that are in an unsuitable condition 

• Failure by the operator to satisfactorily address concerns in relation to 
licensed drivers / vehicle proprietors (including matters related to child / adult 
safeguarding) 

• Failure to monitor drivers working hours to ensure they are safe to transport 
the public 

• If the vehicle is tracked through software the operator has a responsibility to 
ensure if the vehicle appears to still be working after the driver has logged off 
to report that matter to the authority. 

Operators may be issued with enforcement penalty points as a result of the actions 
of the drivers / vehicle proprietors that are working for them or under their control. 

The use of computer or mobile phone applications by operators licensed within the 
authority: There would be an expectation that an authority licensed vehicle would, if 
available, service that call if within the authority’s district. 

page 54



 

34 

 

The council expects licensed operators to behave responsibly/professionally and to 
support the council in its overall aims and to raise awareness of integrity, honesty 
and to tackle issues around child and adult safeguarding. Operators must remain 
alert to these and similar issues. 

9.8 Right to Work in the UK 

Operators may only employ drivers who have a right to work in the UK. Refer to 
section 6.13 Right of the Driver to Work in the UK. 

9.9 Complaint/Records 

Each Operator shall keep a record of complaints made to them, their agents or 
employees in relation to any aspects of the business. The records shall be 
maintained for the duration of the licence and should be available at all times for 
inspection by Police or authorised Officer of the Council. 

9.10 Operator’s Responsibility 

The Operator shall at all reasonable times provide a prompt, efficient and reliable 
service to members of the public and shall ensure that: 

• When a vehicle has been hired to attend at an appointed time and place the 
vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, attend 
punctually 

• Premises provided by the Operator will be within the District or approved by 
the Licensing Authority and any waiting areas shall be kept clean, heated, 
ventilated, well-lit and with adequate seating 

• Any telephone facilities and dispatch equipment are maintained in an 
effective working order. 

• Any complaints received by the Operator that could undermine public safety 
shall be referred in writing to the Licensing Authority, together with any 
action taken 

• All vehicles operated shall be maintained in a satisfactory and roadworthy 
condition; and they shall ensure that any defects to vehicles are recorded 
and corrected as soon as possible 

• The Operator shall ensure, without prejudice to any other liabilities imposed 
under the Act, that all vehicles and drivers owned, controlled or operated in 
association with the Operator shall observe and perform the conditions of 
their licence 

• The Operator will monitor driver’s working hours to ensure they are safe to 
transport the public. Although there is no legal framework for taxi driver’s 
hours, it is incumbent upon the Operator to ensure drivers do not work 
excessive hours and that they are fit to drive and thus will not put the public 
at risk. Guidance relating to driver hours can be found in section 5.14 of this 
Policy 

• The Operator will inform the Licensing Authority of any 
offences/convictions/arrests committed by any driver or employee attached 
to his company with direct access to the public’s details or any breach of 
data protection protocols.  

page 55



 

35 

 

9.11 Communication and Information Security 

Personal Information 

In the course of their business, operators and/or drivers will be required to process 
and store various pieces of data, some of which will be personal data. The 
processing and storage of this data will fall under the provisions of the Data 
Protection Act 1998 and the GDPR. Operators should ensure they are aware of their 
responsibilities under the Acts. Licensees are required to establish whether they 
need to register with the Information Commissioner’s office as a data controller. 
Further information can be obtained from the Information Commissioner’s Office at 
the Information Commissioner’s Office  

Radios 

Where a licensee maintains a radio network for use, the range and /or frequency 
used may require a business radio licence from Ofcom.  Further details can be 
obtained at Radio Communication Licences  

CCTV 

Approval in writing must be obtained from the Licensing Authority where CCTV 
equipment is installed and used in a licensed vehicle. Each system must be 
registered with the offices of the Data Protection Registrar.  Material captured by the 
system shall be accessible only to the Police, an authorised officer of the Council and 
the CCTV Operator/data controller. The system must be operated in accordance with 
the Data Protection Act 1998. The CCTV Operator/Data controller must ensure 
recommended signage and appropriate contact details are displayed in a prominent 
position where they can be easily read by persons both inside and outside the 
vehicle. The notices should be maintained in a clean and legible condition. 

Private Hire Operator application forms 

You will be required to attach your supporting documents and make a payment for 
the application to submit your application online. 

9.12 To apply for a new PHO licence use the following link. 

• Apply for a New Private Hire Operator's Licence with Rushcliffe BC - Form  

Use the link below when your current licence is still valid and you wish to renew your 
licence.  

To use the renewal link below you will need the renewal code from your reminder 
letter. If you do not have your reminder letter you should contact the licensing service 
who can resend this to you. Tel 0115 914 8322 or 
email Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk .  

• Apply to RENEW your existing Private Hire Operators Licence with Rushcliffe  

page 56

http://www.ico.org.uk/
http://licensing.ofcom.org.uk/radiocommunication-licences/business-radio
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53276/e5672ce64424b2d45f9777b8754bf9ee
mailto:Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53280/5a550f7400eba5d83d558efe1a95a226


 

36 

 

NOTE You will need your renewal code from the council before starting the 
online form application. 

PLEASE NOTE:  the application form is not submitted or received by Rushcliffe 
Borough Council if the payment is not made at the time of completing the application 
form. 

10. Fees 

The legislation provides that fees charged to applicants can cover most of the costs 
to the Council in providing the Licensing Service. This includes the administration of 
applications and ensuring compliance by licensees within the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire trade. 

The fees are reviewed at the start of each calendar year and confirmed by the 
Council ahead of the start of each financial year i.e. 1st April. The Council, however, 
can review the fees at any time. A list of the current fees can be found on the 
Council’s website. See Fees and charges - Rushcliffe Borough Council 

11. Compliance and Enforcement 

11.1 Enforcement 

The principal purpose of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing is to protect 
the public and promote public safety. 
In doing this, the Council aims to provide the delivery of efficient, targeted and 
proportionate regulatory services to provide a positive approach to those regulated. 
The Corporate Enforcement Policy for the Council embeds its principles of 
enforcement. 
In April 2014 a new Statutory Regulators’ Code was brought into force and, 
accordingly the Council should: 

• carry out their activities in a way that supports those they regulate to comply 
and grow 

• provide simple and straightforward ways to engage with those they regulate 
and hear their views 

• base their regulatory activities on risk 

• share information about compliance and risk 

• ensure clear information, guidance and advice is available to help those they 
regulate to meet their responsibilities to comply 

• ensure that their approach to their regulatory activities is transparent. 
 

A range of tools and powers, including mystery shopping, to ensure compliance will 
be used. Compliance assessment is ultimately to ensure that the driver or operator is 
a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold a licence and/or the vehicle is safe. The safety of 
passengers, pedestrians and other road users is paramount. Where appropriate, 
referrals will be made to other agencies such as the Police, HM Customs & Excise 
Immigration, other Licensing Authorities and both Adult and / or Child Safeguarding 
teams. 
The Council will respond to complaints made by the public and referrals from other 
agencies and bodies. In addition, officers will undertake proactive inspections and 

page 57

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/fees-and-charges/taxi-licensing/


 

37 

 

testing as either day to day activity or as part of programmed operations. Any breach 
of the required standards, policies and conditions may lead to suspension and/or 
revocations or the issuing of penalty points, suspension, and revocation of the 
licence or prosecution. 
If the Council considers it necessary, in the interests of public safety, it may require a 
suspension or revocation of a licence to have effect immediately. Once a licence has 
been suspended or revoked, the licence holder (or former licence holder) may appeal 
to the Magistrates Court in order to challenge the Council’s decision. There is no 
other recourse available to the licence holder (or former licence holder) should they 
wish to have the decision to suspend or revoke their licence reversed. 

11.2 Joint Enforcement Protocol  

The Council will work with other local Councils under a Joint Enforcement Protocol 
developed by the City Council, which will allow authorised officers to require the 
inspection of licence/badges under Section 53 (3) LGMP Act 1972, inspect and test 
vehicles and suspend if not satisfied as to fitness under Section 68 and provide for 
the offence of obstruction of an authorised officer under Section 73.  
Authorised officers may discharge the delegated powers in respect of private hire 
and hackney carriage vehicles and drivers licensed by any other partner council 
whilst such a vehicle and/or driver are in the controlled district of the authorised 
officer. 
The protocol is available for viewing on Taxi Drivers Licenses webpage 
 
Rushcliffe Council has adopted and maintains these arrangements. 

11.3 Enforcement Penalty Points 

The Council will operate a penalty point system of enforcement of specified minor 
breaches of conditions of licence or other unacceptable behaviour specified as part 
of this policy. The penalty point system will apply to drivers, operators and vehicles. 
The scheme is used as a formalised method of issuing warnings. It is also completely 
transparent in that every licence holder will know what penalty points to expect for a 
breach. 

Points will be issued per incident and will accumulate on a licence until they reach 
the “trigger level”. At this trigger level, the licence holder will be referred to the 
Licensing Committee for the Panel to consider whether it is appropriate for the 
licence holder to remain licensed by the Council. The Licensing Panel may determine 
that the licence should be suspended or revoked, or the Panel may choose to 
administer some other sanction at its disposal. 

The scheme is designed to deal with minor breaches and not major concerns as to a 
driver’s suitability. It is designed to alert the authority that a driver’s conduct over a 
period of time is giving rise for concern. The trigger level will be 12 points in a rolling 
three-year period. Licensing Officers will be authorised to operate the scheme and 
issue points accordingly. The penalty point scheme is outlined in Appendix M. 

11.4 Suspension of Licence 

page 58

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/environmental-health/licensing/taxis/information-for-taxiprivate-hire-drivers/


 

38 

 

Where an individual failure in meeting the vehicle, conditions is detected an 
authorised officer may take immediate action to suspend the vehicle licence and 
require remedial action. This requires the service of a vehicle defect notice and 
further use of the vehicle may be suspended until the defects have been remedied. 
The suspension will then not be lifted until the vehicle has undergone a further test, 
at the proprietor’s expense, and / or been passed as fit for use by the Council. Such 
defect notices will also be appropriately accompanied with a penalty point resolution. 
In situations where there exists a serious risk to the safety of the public the Director 
for Neighbourhoods, under delegated powers, is permitted to suspend the licence of 
a driver, vehicle or operator. 
Where the Director for Neighbourhoods is satisfied that a person is no longer a ‘fit 
and proper’ person or is in breach of a condition of licence, they may suspend a 
driver’s licence for any specified period. 
When considering the revocation of any licence, the Director for Neighbourhoods will 
take into account all relevant facts and circumstances including the aims and 
objectives of this policy and the nature of the breach. 

11.5 Refusal to Renew a Licence 

The Director for Neighbourhoods may decide that the appropriate action is not to 
renew the licence. See also section 4 Delegations. In circumstances where an 
applicant has not provided all relevant information or documents or has failed to 
comply with any of the requirements to renew a licence, an authorised officer will be 
permitted to refuse to renew the licence. 
The person applying for a licence will have the opportunity to appeal this decision to 
the Magistrates Court. 

11.6 Prosecution of Licence Holders 

The Council will prosecute licence holders for relevant offences in accordance with 
the Statutory Regulator’s Code and the Corporate Enforcement Policy. 

11.7 Appeals 

Any notifications of enforcement actions will include information on how to appeal 
and to whom the appeal is made, if a right of appeal exists. 

11.8 Complaints 

page 59



 

39 

 

The Council has a procedure whereby the general public can submit complaints / 
concerns about licensed drivers and operators. This is accessible via the submission 
of a report form available on the Council’s website (click here). In considering the 
most appropriate action to take in relation to a complaint, the credibility of both the 
complainant and the licence holder will be taken into account. In addition, if anyone 
wishes to complain about the service provided by the Council there is a complaints 
procedure available on the Council’s website.  

page 60

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/complaints-and-compliments/


 

40 

 

Appendix A Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers Application Procedure 

Driver Licence Process 

Rushcliffe Borough Council will only issue licences to those applicants that it 
considers to be ‘fit and proper’ to hold a licence and have paid the full fee applicable 
at the time of application. There is no statutory definition of what constitutes a ‘fit and 
proper’ person, however Rushcliffe Borough Council will take a number of factors 
into account, and set specific criteria for applicants, when considering a licence 
application. These factors and criteria are detailed below: 

1. Applications will only be accepted from applicants that have held a full UK 
driving licence for at least one year. Applicants that hold full EU licences or one of 
the other countries in the European Economic Area (EEA) will have the length of time 
that they have held such licences taken into consideration, however holders of 
EU/EEA licences will only be issued with a licence for 12 months – the licence will 
not be renewed unless the EU/EEA licence is exchanged for a full UK licence (as 
required by national legislation). The Council may directly access the DVLA records 
of applicant’s or alternatively will employ the services of a third party.  

2. Applicants will be required to obtain an Enhanced Disclosure Certificate from 
the Disclosure and Barring Service. The contents of this certificate will be assessed 
in accordance with the Council’s policy on convictions in determining the fit and 
proper nature of the applicant. The applicant must also subscribe to Disclosure and 
Barring Update Service. 

Licences will not be granted unless the applicant is able to provide at least five years’ 
UK address history except in the following cases: 

• The applicant is able to provide a document from an EU member state, 
which is the equivalent of a UK issued Enhanced DBS Certificate; 

• If this cannot be provided then an official document provided by the 
embassy of a non-EU member state will be acceptable, provided that the 
document can be verified and is comparable to a UK issued Enhanced DBS 
Certificate. 

In either of the cases above, the onus is on the applicant to obtain such a document, 
and the applicant remains liable for all associated costs. DBS checks are required on 
application and then every six months. 

For those applicants where they are considered asylum seekers see section 6.14 for 
any possible exemption. 

3. Applicants are usually required to pass the Council’s knowledge test. This 
test will assess the applicant’s knowledge and ability in relation to: 

• Literacy and numeracy (also support the English readability/speaking 
requirements) 

• Road Safety 

• Customer care/customer awareness 

page 61



 

41 

 

• Local knowledge/routes 

It is strongly recommended that the applicant completes this test prior to 
making a full application to avoid being refused a licence. As once a full application 
is applied for the application will be refused after 3 months if all criteria are not met. 
 
A fee is payable by the applicant prior to them undertaking the test. If the applicant 
fails the test then they may retake it and no limit applies, but drivers should think 
carefully before rebooking and ensure they are familiar with the area as each test will 
incur a further fee. 
 
Where a driver has a previous licence (within the last 12 months) they will not be 
required to undertake a KT with RBC if they have held the licence with Nottingham 
City or Gedling Borough or Broxtowe Borough councils. Officers may make enquires 
with the council who issued the licence to establish the licence holders’ details. 
Where drivers for SEN vehicles are applying and have passed the enhanced Green 
Penny test (or another test from an RBC approved provider) then no KT will be 
required to be undertaken. A restrictive licence may be issued in these 
circumstances. 
 
4. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that they have abilities to speak 
English in such a manner that they can communicate with customers. The Council 
will make such arrangements for the testing of an applicant’s ability to speak English 
as required on an individual basis and may make a charge for such a test. 

An English test will not be required where the applicant holds a UK educational 
qualification which will be required to be submitted on initial registration/ application 
or on the first subsequent renewal after 1 April 2023.  

In exceptional cases the licensing service will review each application on a case-by-
case basis and may issue a licence only if the officer is satisfied with regards to the 
ability of the applicant to speak and write English for which a charge may be applied. 
Where the Licensing officer is not satisfied of the ability to read/write or speak 
English the applicant will be considered not fit and proper at the time of the 
assessment and may be refused. 

The council will publicise a list of acceptable qualifications which may be updated as 
required. 

5. Applicants are required to satisfactorily complete a driving test with the 
Council’s tester or hold a current DVSA driving certificate. Details of the test will be 
provided to the applicant by the Council. 

6. All applicants must agree to the Council verifying their DVLA driving licence 
and will require the applicant to give their consent to such a check being carried out. 
These checks will be carried out on an annual basis. Any refusal at any time a 
licence is held without good cause, may result in the revocation/suspension of the 
licence. 

7. Applicants whose DVLA driving licence is endorsed with more than 12 
penalty points will usually be refused/revoked, with reference to Appendix C

page 62



 

42 

 

 Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Previous Convictions,) and those with 
seven or above will merit further consideration.  

8. Applicants are required to undergo a medical which meets “Group 2” 
standards with the current medical provider as designated by the Council.  The 
Council must be satisfied that the applicant meets the “Group 2” standards. A 
medical to Group 2 standards will be required on first application and then every five 
years from the age of 45. On reaching the age of 65 a medical will be required 
annually and therefore a licence will only be issued on a yearly basis. 

Note:  The Council may also request a medical at any other time it feels may be 
necessary to ascertain a persons’ fitness to drive a licensed vehicle or request the 
applicant to obtain any other medical history to ensure they are fit to drive be granted 
a licence 

9. Applicants will be required to undergo Safeguarding Vulnerability & Disability 
awareness training before a licence is granted. The Council may also require a driver 
to undergo any revised training when required. 

Documents required for an application to be assessed and determined. 

You must produce the following in any order during the three-month period: 

1. Rushcliffe Borough Council Knowledge Test. (It is recommended this is done 
before applying and paying for a licence application) this is a computerised 
test undertaken at the Rushcliffe Customer Contact Centre, The Library, 
Bridgford Road, West Bridgford (link to KT payment and to book a day for the 
test) (Note: exemptions apply if previously a driver with Nottm City, Gedling, or 
Broxtowe or have completed the enhanced Greenpenny course (paid course), 
you will not need a KT) contact Licencing service if unsure . 

2. UK/ROI passport or right to work nine (9) digit code 
3. Full UK driver’s licence held for at least a year 
4. National Insurance Number 
5. An enhanced DBS Check (Disclosure and Barring Service). Use the guide to 

online disclosure found in the Related Documents section 
6. Medical examination with an approved practitioner (require eyesight test before 

attending) - 0115 920 9901 - you will need to take the medical form with you to 
your appointment, found in the Related Documents section of this page. 
(updated at the Drivers page Rushcliffe Borough Council). This can be done 
prior to applying. 

7. Driving test with Nottingham City Council. To book a test, please telephone - 
07483 170 287 - the fee is payable to Nottingham City. Alternatively via Blue 
Lamp Trust through their website: Taxi Assessments | THE BLUE LAMP 
TRUST . This can be undertaken prior to applying 

8. Safeguarding & Disability awareness course passes. Course information is found 
in the see here for blue lamp - online course offered by The Blue Lamp Trust or 
the enhanced Greenpenny. This can be undertaken prior to applying. 

9. Two utility bills/bank statement to confirm address (within 3 months) 
10. Confirmation of Employment from a Private Hire Operator holding a Rushcliffe PHO 

licence 

11. A current passport sized photograph (digital) 

page 63

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/environmental-health/licensing/taxis/information-for-taxiprivate-hire-drivers/
https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/taxiassesments/
https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/taxiassesments/
https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/safeguarding-eLearning/


 

43 

 

 
 

You may also be required to supply the following information: 

12. HMRC Tax Check Share Code for renewal applications and for new applications where 
the applicant holds or has previously held within the last 12 months or held a HC/PH 
Driver or Operator Licence. 

 

It is recommended that this information is attained before applying for a licence, if not 
all the above must be in provided before three-month period expires from the date of 
application. After this time period the application will be determined and is likely to be 
refused   

There are no refunds of any monies paid if refused and applications cannot be 
withdrawn. 

The length of a driver’s licence will be one or three years if approved. The applicant 
will be required to complete the renewal application prior to the expiry of the current 
licence. If you fail to renew in time a new application will be required.  
 
HMRC requirements to be complied with upon renewal 
 
HMRC rules require that the renewal of a taxi driver, private hire driver or operator 
upon application will not be granted unless the HMRC tax check is completed, the 
code provided to the licensing authority for checking and this passing the validation 
check on the HMRC website.  
Individuals, companies and any type of partnership must complete a HMRC tax 
check and provide the 9-digit tax check code on the application form when: 

• renewing a licence 

• applying for the same type of licence they previously held, that ceased to be 
valid less than a year ago 

• applying for the same type of licence they already hold with another licensing 
authority 

the code will be checked with the HMRC before a licence is issued on renewal and 
will be refused as an invalid application if this fails or is not provided on any 
application form where required.  

Tax check codes expire after 120 days, so if you make a licence application for 
another licence after that time, you’ll need to carry out a new tax check for it. 
Complete a tax check for a taxi, private hire or scrap metal licence - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

Renew a Combined Driver's Licence online link 

Use these links when your current licence is still valid and you wish to renew your 

licence. If you licence has expired and the renewal code fails you must contact us as 

you may need to apply for a new Initial application. 

page 64

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complete-a-tax-check-for-a-taxi-private-hire-or-scrap-metal-licence
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complete-a-tax-check-for-a-taxi-private-hire-or-scrap-metal-licence


 

44 

 

To use the renewal links below you will need the renewal code from your reminder 

letter. If you do not have your reminder letter you should contact the licencing service 

who can resend this to you. email Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk .  

• Renewal Application - Combine Hackney/Private Hire Licence   

PLEASE NOTE:  The application form is not submitted or received by Rushcliffe 

Borough Council if the payment is not made at the time of completing the application 

form. 

PLEASE NOTE: Please ensure your renewal date is within one month of the expiry 

date of your current existing licence. If you apply too early the application will not 

proceed and an error will occur. You may however apply at a later date. 

 

page 65

mailto:Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53278/8267d982cbc0a2a0c39202eb013b4933


 

45 

 

Appendix B Disclosure and Barring Service Procedure 

Rushcliffe Borough Council uses a third party to obtain Disclosure and Barring 
Service checks. Checks for drivers will be of Enhanced level. For Private Hire 
Operators who are NOT drivers, these will be the basic check. 

Initially, drivers will be provided with the details of the DBS check process. The 
applicant will be required to register on the internet with the provider. This fee is 
payable to the third party and not the Council.  

Once the verification process is complete the third party will carry out the checks with 
the DBS, which includes checks with the Police. Once these are complete, the third 
party notifies the Council and the applicant will be sent a printed DBS disclosure 
certificate. If the certificate has content, i.e. previous convictions or other information 
the applicant must ensure it is handed to the Licensing Service. No licence will be 
issued without the Council having sight of the certificate. In the case of a DBS 
Certificate being clear of content the Licensing Service will be advised of this by the 
third party. 

Once a DBS certificate is received the applicant is advised and should, within 14 
days, subscribe to the DBS update service. This costs considerably less that a new 
DBS check and allows the Council to carry out the check immediately provided the 
applicant has authorised the Council to do so as part of the application process.  
The Council requires all drivers to undergo a DBS check at least six monthly or on 
the grant of the licence or upon renewal and should subscribe to the DBS update 
service. If the DBS is not provided, this may lead to suspension of the driver until a 
DBS is provided and cleared. 

 

  

page 66



 

46 

 

Appendix C Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Previous Convictions 

 

Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire  

Convictions and Fitness Policy 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This policy provides guidance to the Licensing Sub-Committee and Officers 
with delegated powers on the criteria to take into account when determining 
whether or not an applicant or an existing licence holder is a fit and proper 
person to hold a Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire driver or Operator 
Licence. Any decision made by the Licensing Committee (and its sub-
committee) and Officers with delegated powers will be made on the balance 
of probabilities and not beyond all reasonable doubt. 

1.2 This Policy has been adopted from the Institute of Licensing (IoL) and a copy 
is available on the website Suitability Guidance Nov 2024 and regard shall be 
had to IoL policy in making any decision. 

1.3 In seeking to safeguard the public, the licensing authority shall seek to 
ensure: 

• That a person is a fit and proper person in accordance with Sections 51 
and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
(Part II) 

• That the person does not pose a threat to the public 

• That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons 

• The safety of children, young persons and vulnerable adults. 

1.4 The term “Fit and Proper Person” for the purposes of licensing is not legally 
defined and in assessing whether someone may be “Fit & Proper” the 
Licensing Authority will consider the following, and take any other relevant 
information into account: 

• Criminality 

• Human Rights 

• Period of holding a driver’s licence 

• Number of endorsed driving licence penalty points 

• Right to work 

• Medical fitness 

• Driving ability test 

• The fitness and propriety of Private Hire Operators, ensuring the 
business is run in a safe and professional manner, having regard to 
management controls, compliance with the law and that drivers are 
properly monitored to ensure that they behave in an appropriate 
manner and comply with their duties and responsibilities, including the 
monitoring of driver’s hours 

• The conduct of the applicant in making the application (e.g. whether 
they have acted with openness and integrity during the application 
process) 

• The previous licensing history of existing / former licence holders and 
any complaints made against them and investigated by any local 
authority licensing service. 

page 67

https://storage.uk.cloud.ovh.net/v1/AUTH_f3100dad5acd4df793f8778d19bcea24/IOL/fd95ce7f-ca5c-4602-a476-5198a430563c.pdf?temp_url_sig=c34a146147fbc3da17213401c697eb1d96df4d57&temp_url_expires=1744191730&filename=Guidance%20on%20Suitability%20November%202024%20(FV20112024%20WLGA%20endorsement).pdf&inline=


 

47 

 

 

In addition, the Council will also consider further information sources such as 
the Police (including abduction notices), Children and Adult Safeguarding 
Boards and other statutory agencies. 

1.5 This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and 
private hire licensing. In particular, but not exclusively: 

• Applicants for a driver’s licence 

• Existing licensed drivers whose licences are being reviewed 

• The holders of Private Hire Operators licences 

• Licensing officers 

• Members of the licensing committee/sub-committee 

• Magistrates hearing appeals against local authority decisions. 

1.6 In considering this guidance the Council will be mindful that each case must 
be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, 
the committee may depart from the guidelines. Where an applicant has been 
convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority cannot review the 
merits of the conviction [Nottingham City v Mohammed Farooq (1998)]. 

1.7 In this policy the word “Conviction” is to be defined as including convictions, 
cautions, warnings, reprimands fixed penalty notices and other relevant 
information. In this policy ‘from date sentence has ended’ is taken to be the 
date which is reached once the whole of the period as sentenced by the court 
has elapsed and not necessarily the length of time served by the applicant. 
For example, if a sentence is five years imprisonment then the date that the 
sentence ends will be five years from the date of sentencing – regardless of 
the amount of time served by the applicant. If the sentence is amended by a 
court at a later date, then this new sentence becomes relevant for the 
purposes of this policy. The term ‘since completion of sentence’ is to be 
construed in a similar way. 

1.8 In this policy the word applicant refers to either new applicants or those 
existing licence holders who are seeking renewal, or when offences have 
come to light of existing licence holders. 

2. General Policy 

2.1 Whilst the Council may consider that a person with a conviction for a serious 
offence may not need to be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, it is 
however to be expected that the applicant would be required to: 

a. Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period as detailed below 

b. Show adequate evidence that they are a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence (the onus will be on the applicant to produce such evidence). 

Simply remaining free of conviction may not generally be regarded as 
adequate evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

2.2 The Council may depart from this policy if good reasons exist. The otherwise 
good character and driving record of the applicant or licence holder will not 
ordinarily be considered as exceptional circumstances. 

2.3 Outstanding Charges or Summonses: 

page 68



 

48 

 

If an outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence and/or the 
individual’s conviction history indicates a possible pattern of unlawful 
behaviour or character trait, then in the interests of public safety the 
application should be put on hold until proceedings are concluded, or the 
licence may be refused. 

2.4 Non-conviction information: 

If an applicant has on one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not 
convicted, for a serious offence which suggests he could be a danger to the 
public, consideration should be given to refusing the application.  

2.5 In assessing the action to take, the safety of the public must be the paramount 
concern. 

2.6 Where an applicant has had a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire driver’s licence 
revoked by another local authority, the Council will not grant a licence until at 
least three years has elapsed since the revocation. 

3. Powers 

3.1  Section 61 and Section 62 of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions 
Act 1976 allow the licensing authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a 
licence if: 

• the application/licence holder has been convicted of an offence 
involving dishonesty, indecency or violence 

• there is failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847 

• there is failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

• there is any other reasonable cause. 

3.2  The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 
2002, allows the licensing authority to take into account all convictions 
recorded against an applicant or the holder of a Private Hire Vehicle or 
Hackney Carriage driver’s licence, whether spent or not. Therefore, the 
licensing authority will have regard to all relevant convictions, particularly 
where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern of repeat 
offending. In accordance with this Act, all convictions, cautions, warnings and 
reprimands must be declared by the Applicant. 

3.3  Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55 and 59, Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the licensing authority is required to be 
satisfied that an applicant for the grant or renewal of a Hackney Carriage 
and/or a Private Hire Vehicle driver’s licence and/or Private Hire Vehicle 
Operator’s licence is a “fit and proper” person to hold such a licence. However, 
if an applicant has any convictions, warnings, cautions or charges awaiting 
trial, the licensing authority will consider: 

1. How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for 
2. How serious the offence(s) were 
3. When the offence(s) were committed 
4. The date of conviction 
5. Circumstances of the individual concerned 
6. Sentence imposed by the court 

page 69



 

49 

 

7. The applicant’s age at the time of conviction 
8. Whether they form part of a pattern of offending 
9. Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal 

references) 
10. Any other factors that might be relevant, for example: 

(A) The previous conduct of an existing or former licence holder, 
(B) Whether the applicant has intentionally misled the council or 

lied as part of 
(C) the application process, Information provided by other 

agencies / council departments. 
It may also be appropriate to consider the sentencing powers engaged by the 
court in disposing of criminal proceedings and Judges’ reasons (obiter dicta) 
for coming to that decision. 

3.4  Existing holders of driver’s licences are required to notify the licensing 
authority in writing within seven days of receiving a driving licence 
endorsement, fixed penalty notice or criminal conviction (including cautions). 
Failure to do so will raise concerns as to the honesty of the licence holder and 
may be taken into account as part of any subsequent renewal applications or 
reviews. 

3.5  Applicants can informally discuss further what effect a caution/conviction may 
have on any application or existing licence by contacting the Licensing Service 
on 0115 981 9911 in confidence for advice. The Council will not be bound by 
any advice given and reserve its full powers. 

3.6  The Council conducts enhanced disclosures from the Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) of any applicant for a driver’s licence. Applicants applying for 
the grant or a renewal of a driver’s licence will be required to obtain an 
enhanced disclosure at their expense or subscribe to the update service and 
at other times as determined by the Council. 

3.7  The Council is also entitled to use other records and information that may be 
available to it in determining applications or an entitlement to continue holding 
a licence. This may include information held by the Council or other licensing 
authorities, and information disclosed by the police. 

3.8  It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false 
declaration or to omit any material particular in giving information required by 
the application for a licence. Section 57(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. Where an applicant has made a false statement or a 
false declaration on their application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the 
licence will be refused. 

3.9  For renewal applications and current licence holders the guidance will not be 
applied retrospectively. The policy will be applied if any additional convictions 
are incurred or brought to the attention of the Council that would call into 
question a person’s suitability to hold a licence.  

3.10  Any offences not covered by this Policy will not prevent the Council from 
taking into account the offences. 

4. Policy on Immediate Revocation / Suspension of a Driver’s Licence 

4.1 If the Council decides to revoke or suspend a driver’s licence, it will then have 
to consider whether that revocation/suspension should take immediate effect 

page 70



 

50 

 

under Section 61(2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

4.2 The Council only has the power to resolve that the revocation/suspension will 
take immediate effect if it appears that the interests of public safety require the 
suspension or revocation of the licence to have immediate effect. The interest 
of public safety is not defined and is for the Council to determine. However, 
regard will be had to any risks to public safety arising from concerns about the 
licence-holder’s driving standards, his character including but not limited to 
dishonesty, violent behaviour, involvement in drink or drugs, inappropriate 
sexual conduct, any relevant previous convictions and any other matters the 
Council may deem relevant. 

4.3 Before reaching a decision, in most cases and where practical, the Council 
shall give the licence holder the opportunity to make representations as to 
whether or not the revocation/suspension will take immediate effect. 

4.4 The overriding consideration shall always be the safety and protection of 
passengers and the general public.  

4.5 Matters such as unemployment and home circumstances should not be taken 
into account when determining whether the revocation or suspension will take 
place immediately and therefore shall not outweigh the public safety factor. 

4.6 Where the Council has decided that a licence-holder is no longer “fit and 
proper” to hold a licence, for reasons of public safety, the presumption will be 
that requiring the revocation of the licence shall have immediate effect.  

4.7 If it appears that the interests of public safety require the suspension or 
revocation of the licence to have immediate effect, the Council will give notice 
to the driver, which includes a statement to that effect and an explanation why. 
The suspension or revocation takes effect when the notice is given to the 
driver. 

4.8 In all cases of revocation, refusal or suspension of a driver’s licence the 
Authority will record it on a national database operated by NAFN (National 
Anti-Fraud network, NR3S) which is available to all subscribing authorities.  

4.9  Appeals 

Any applicant refused a driver’s licence, or who has their licence suspended or 
revoked on the grounds that the licensing authority is not satisfied they are a 
fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal to the 
Magistrate’s Court within 21 days of the notice of refusal [Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, s77 (1)]. 

  

page 71



 

51 

 

5. Consideration of offences 

This section deals with the types of offences and applies to new and renewal 
applications, and upon review of a current licence. 

5.1 There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences, therefore the authority has 
an absolute discretion over whether to grant either a taxi or private hire 
proprietor’s licence.  

5.2 “Fit and proper” means that the individual (or in the case of a private hire 
operator’s licence, the limited company together with its directors and 
secretary, or all members of a partnership ) is “safe and suitable” to hold the 
licence. 

5.3 In determining safety and suitability, the licensing authority is entitled to take 
into account all matters concerning that applicant or licensee.  They are not 
simply concerned with that person’s behaviour whilst working in the taxi or 
private hire trade.  This consideration is far wider than simply criminal 
convictions or other evidence of unacceptable behaviour, and the entire 
character of the individual will be considered.  This can include, but is not 
limited to, the individual’s attitude and temperament. The categories of 
behaviours described below are introduced as “offences” which may or may 
not lead to convictions. Any such behaviours will be taken into account, 
whether or not it resulted in convictions or other sanctions. 

5.4 Convictions for attempt or conspiracy will be regarded as convictions for the 
substantive crime.  A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a 
conviction.   Fixed penalties and community resolutions will also be 
considered in the same way as a conviction.  

5.5 It is important to recognise that matters which have not resulted in a criminal 
conviction (whether that is the result of an acquittal, a conviction being 
quashed, decision not to prosecute, police decide on no further action, bailed, 
released under investigation or where an investigation is continuing) can and 
will be taken into account by the licensing authority.   In addition, complaints 
and or investigations where there was no police involvement will also be 
considered.  Within this document, any reference to “conviction" will also 
include matters that amount to criminal behaviour, but which have not 
resulted in a conviction.  

5.6 In the case of any new applicant who is under investigation or has been 
charged with any offence and is awaiting trial, the determination may be 
deferred until the trial has been completed or the charges withdrawn.  Where 
an existing licensee is charged, it will be for the licensing authority to decide 
what action to take in the light of these guidelines. 

5.7 In all cases, the licensing authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in 
question and what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case 
will be determined on its own merits, and in the light of these guidelines. 

5.8 Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a 
taxi or private hire vehicle, concerning the use of a taxi or private hire vehicle, 
or in connection with an operator of a private hire vehicle will be viewed as 

page 72



 

52 

 

aggravating features, and the fact that any other offences were not connected 
with the taxi and private hire trades will not be seen as mitigating factors. 

5.9 As the licensing authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in 
many cases safety and suitability will not be determined by a specified period 
of time having elapsed following a conviction or the completion of a sentence.  
Time periods are relevant and weighty considerations, but they are not the 
only determining factor. 

5.10 In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of 
matters and the period over which they were committed will also be 
considered.  Patterns of repeated unacceptable or criminal behaviour are 
likely to cause greater concern than isolated occurrences as such patterns 
can demonstrate a propensity for such behaviour or offending. 

5.11 Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the 
ideal situation. In relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do 
make mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is 
further accepted that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit 
further offences.  Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, 
especially if committed some time ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal 
of a licence. 

5.12 It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is 
a continuing requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety 
and suitability.  The licensing authority has powers to take action against the 
holder of all types of licence (drivers, vehicles and operators) and it must be 
understood that any convictions or other actions on the part of the licensee 
which would have prevented them being granted a licence on initial 
application will lead to that licence being revoked. 

5.13 Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf 
which is discovered to have occurred in any part of any application process 
(e.g. failure to declare convictions, false names or addresses, falsified 
references) will result in a licence being refused, or if already granted, 
revoked and may result in prosecution. 

5.14 Although the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of 
licence applied for or held, to maintain public confidence in the integrity of the 
taxi and private hire licensing regimes, it is suggested that the same 
standards are applied to all licences, except motoring convictions in relation 
to a private hire operator. 

5.15 This Guidance suggests minimum periods of time that should elapse between 
the date of conviction or completion of the sentence (whichever is later) and 
the grant of a licence. Those periods are for single convictions. Where a 
person has more than one conviction, and can be seen as a persistent 
offender, this will raise serious questions about their safety and suitability. 
Convictions do become less important over time (hence the time periods) but 
multiple convictions or continued offending over any period of time will always 
be of significant concern to a licensing authority. The licensing authority is 

page 73



 

53 

 

looking for safe and suitable individuals, and once a pattern or trend of 
repeated offending is apparent, a licence will not be granted or renewed. 

5.16 Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence, or has evidence of 
unsuitable behaviour, which is not detailed in this guidance, the licensing 
authority will take that conviction and/or behaviour into account and use these 
guidelines as an indication of the approach that should be taken.  

5.17 These guidelines do not replace the duty of the licensing authority to refuse to 
grant a licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a 
fit and proper person.  Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, 
the authority must consider the matter from first principles and determine the 
fitness and propriety of the individual. It must be remembered that these are 
guidelines. It is for each authority to determine and adopt its own previous 
convictions policy and then determine applications in the light of that policy. 

5.18 It must always be borne in mind that these are Guidelines, not fixed periods, 
and if there are “truly exceptional circumstances”  the time periods can be 
reduced in individual cases. Such instances should only be for “truly 
exceptional circumstances” and not frequent occurrences.  The decision 
makers must consider each case on its own merits, taking into account all 
factors, including the need to protect the public, the circumstances and effect 
of the offence, and any mitigation that has been offered. However, the 
conviction itself cannot be reconsidered.  

Drivers 
5.19 As the criteria for determining whether an individual should be granted or 

retain a taxi driver’s licence are identical to the criteria for a private hire 
driver’s licence, the two are considered together. 

5.20 A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct 
responsibility for the safety of other road users and significant control over 
passengers who are in the vehicle. As those passengers may be alone, and 
may also be vulnerable, any previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour 
will weigh heavily against a licence being granted or retained. 

5.21 As stated above, where an applicant persistently offends, which shows a 
pattern or tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, serious 
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 
person. 

5.22 In relation to single convictions, the time periods detailed in the following 
paragraphs should elapse following completion of the sentence (or the date of 
conviction if a fine was imposed) before a licence will be granted. For 
motoring offences see the paragraphs headed ‘Motoring Offences’ below. 

5.23 As stated above, the categories of behaviours described below are introduced 
as “offences” which may or may not lead to convictions. Any such behaviours 

page 74



 

54 

 

will be taken into account, whether or not it resulted in convictions or other 
sanctions. 

Barred lists 
5.24 A licence will not be granted to a person who is on any barred list. 

Offences resulting in death 

5.25 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted 
in the death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious 
injury of another person they will not be licensed. 

Offences involving exploitation and criminal harassment 

5.26 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, 
related to, or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment or 
criminal harassment of another individual irrespective of whether the victim or 
victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed.  This includes 
slavery, child sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse, stalking without violence, but this is not an exhaustive list. 

Offences involving violence against persons, property, animals or the 
State 

5.27 Violence includes situations where the victim is put in fear, alarm or distress 
without any physical contact. It is accepted that the concept of “violence” is 
wide, but any such behaviour will be of concern. This Guidance does not 
differentiate between different levels of violence. It will be for the licensing 
authority to determine whether there is any justification for departing from this 
time period, dependant of the facts of a particular case.  

5.28 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected 
with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 
years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. Where 
the offence of violence was committed against a child or vulnerable adult a 
licence will never be granted.  

Offences involving Public Order  
5.29 Where an applicant has a conviction for a public order offence or similar that 

is not in itself an act of violence, a licence will not be granted for a period of 5 
years. 

Offences involving Possession of a weapon 

5.30 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other 
weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Offences involving Sex, indecency or obscene materials  
5.31 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected 

with illegal sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be 
granted. This includes any sexual harassment.  

5.32 In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register. 

Offences involving Dishonesty 
5.33 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any 

offence where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be 

page 75



 

55 

 

granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 

Offences involving Alcohol abuse, Misuse or Dependency 
5.34 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to drunkenness not in a 

motor vehicle, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed 
since the completion of the sentence imposed.  If the applicant has a number 
of convictions for drunkenness and or there are indications of a medical 
problem associated with possible abuse, misuse of, or dependence on 
alcohol, the applicant will also be subject to additional medical 
testing/assessment before the application is considered.  If the applicant was 
found to be dependent on alcohol, a licence will not be granted unless at least 
5 years have elapsed since the dependency ceased. 

Offences involving Drugs abuse Misuse or Dependency 
5.35 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the production, 

import, trade in or supply of drugs, or possession with intent to supply or 
connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted 
until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 

5.36 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  In these 
circumstances, any applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their 
own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

5.37 If there are indications that an applicant or licensee has, or has had a history 
of, a medical problem associated with possible abuse, misuse or dependence 
of drugs, the applicant will also be subject to additional medical 
testing/assessment before the application is considered.  If the applicant was 
found to be dependent on drugs, a licence will not be granted unless at least 
5 years have elapsed since the dependency ceased. 

Offences involving Discrimination 
5.38 Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with 

discrimination in any form, including non-compliance with the Equality Act 
2010, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. This includes e.g. refusals to carry 
assistance dogs or to provide mobility assistance. 

Offences involving Regulatory non-compliance 
5.39 Regulatory crimes include local authority offences, licensing matters (e.g. 

Plying for hire offence, breach of conditions), and other offences prosecuted 
by other authorities. It also includes matters relating to the administration of 
justice such as failing to surrender to bail, and any other matter where 
regulations or requirements have been ignored or broken. These offences 
demonstrate a lack of compliance with legal requirements which would clearly 
be a worry in relation to taxi and private hire licensees. Serious consideration 
would need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person to 
hold a licence. 

Motoring Offences  
5.40 Taxi and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 

responsibility of carrying the public.  Any motoring conviction can demonstrate 

page 76



 

56 

 

a lack of professionalism and will be considered seriously.   A single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not prohibit the grant of a licence or 
result in action against an existing licence. Subsequent convictions suggest 
the fact that the licensee may not take their professional responsibilities 
seriously and may therefore not be a safe and suitable person to be granted 
or retain a licence. 

5.41 Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the 
influence of drugs or failing to provide a specimen in relation to a driving 
matter, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed.  With drug offences, 
any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to 
demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

5.42 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held-hand mobile telephone 
or a hand-held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 
5 years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any 
disqualification imposed, whichever is the later.    

5.43 Penalty points applied to a DVLA driving licence remain active for either 3 or 
10 years, which may be from the date of the offence or the date of conviction 
depending upon the offence as detailed in “Penalty points (endorsements)“.  
They may be removed from the licence after 4 or 11 years. That action does 
not negate the offence that led to the points being imposed. Penalty points 
(and the underlying offence) will be relevant and taken into consideration for 4 
or 11 years from the date of the conviction. or the date of the offence 
depending on the type of offence (see “Penalty points (endorsements)”.    

5.44 By attaining 7 or more penalty points on their DVLA licence a driver is 
demonstrating they may not be fit and proper and the authority should assess 
their suitability. It is suggested part of the assessment is to undertake a driver 
awareness course and/or pass a driver assessment, with no more than 8 
minor infringements, within 2 months of notice from the authority they are 
considering the suitability of the licence holder.  Failure to do so strongly 
suggests the driver is not fit and proper and not be licensed until a period of 
12 months has passed with no further convictions and has passed a driver 
assessment since the last conviction. 

5.45 Any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property 
(including vehicles), or any insurance offence then a licence will not be 
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence. 

5.46 Any driver who has accumulated 12 or more points on their DVLA licence and 
has not been disqualified under the totting up procedure by a court as a result 
of making exceptional hardship arguments shall not be able to advance such 
arguments before the licensing authority as they are not a relevant 
consideration in determining what action the authority should take.  Any such 
driver will not be licensed for a period of 5 years from the date of the 
accumulation of 12 or more points.  

5.47 Any driver who has been disqualified as a result of “totting-up”, which erases 
the points when the licence is restored, will not be licensed for a period of 5 
years from the date of the disqualification. Other disqualifications will need to 

page 77



 

57 

 

be investigated, the reasons ascertained, and a decision will be based on the 
results of that investigation. 

5.48 Drivers who commit parking, obstruction and other such motoring offences 
that do not attract penalty points are not displaying a professional approach to 
their work. Persistent offenders should be reported to their licensing authority 
who may consider a period of suspension depending on the severity and 
frequency of the incidents reported. 

Behaviours 
5.49 Driver behaviours that fall short of criminal behaviour but are indicators of 

more sinister behaviour need to be addressed to maintain confidence in the 
taxi trades and to stop unwanted behaviours before they evolve into criminal 
acts.  

5.50 Behaviours such as  

• Asking a passenger for their contact or social media details 

• Asking personal or intimate questions 

• Inappropriate physical contact with passengers or invade their personal 
space 

• Inappropriate conversations, questions or behaviour 

5.51 This is more important if the passenger is a lone vulnerable individual.  

5.52 Except in the most serious of cases, drivers should be given a warning in the 
first instance, if appropriate sent on refresher safeguarding training and 
explained how the behaviour maybe perceived by a vulnerable passenger.  

5.53 If the behaviour, on the balance of probability, is repeated and considered to 
be predatory in nature then any applicant should not be licensed. 

5.54 Where an applicant or licence holder has a conviction for an offence contrary 
to any legislation relating to   taxi or private hire activity not covered 
elsewhere, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Private Hire Operators 

5.55 A private hire operator (“an operator”) does not have direct responsibility for 
the safety of passengers, other road users or direct contact with passengers 
who are in the private hire vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a 
private hire driver).  However, in performing their duties they obtain and hold 
considerable amounts of personal and private information about their 
passengers which must be treated in confidence and not revealed to others or 
used by the operator or their staff for criminal or other unacceptable 
purposes. 

5.56 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious 
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 
person. 

5.57 Operators must ensure that any staff that are used within the business 
(whether employees or independent contractors) and are able to access any 
information as described above are subject to the same standards as the 
operator themselves.  This can be affected by means of the individual staff 
member being required by the operator to obtain a basic DBS certificate.  If 
an operator is found not to be applying the required standards and using staff 

page 78



 

58 

 

that do not meet the licensing authority’s overall criteria, that will lead to the 
operator’s licence being revoked. 

5.58 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private 
hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those 
applied to drivers, except motoring offences to recognise the operator is not 
connected with the use of a vehicle, which are outlined above. 

Vehicle proprietors 

5.59 Vehicle proprietors (both taxi and private hire) have two principal 
responsibilities. 

5.60 Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an acceptable 
standard at all times. 

5.61 Secondly, they must ensure that the vehicle is not used for illegal or illicit 
purposes. 

5.62 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious 
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 
person to be granted or retain a vehicle licence. 

5.63 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private 
hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those 
applied to drivers, which are outlined above. 

or current offence codes and endorsement these are published on .gov.uk 
and will be referred to by Licensing officers in determining an application or 
renewal 

 

Penalty points (endorsements): Endorsement codes and penalty points - GOV.UK 

(https://www.gov.uk/penalty-points-endorsements/endorsement-codes-and-penalty-
points)  

page 79

https://www.gov.uk/penalty-points-endorsements/endorsement-codes-and-penalty-points


 

59 

 

 

Appendix D Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Drivers Conditions 

1. Standard of Service 
 

During the period of the licence the driver shall at all times: 
 

(a) Be clean and tidy in both appearance in dress and person and shall behave in 
an orderly and civil manner towards every person seeking to hire, or hiring or 
being conveyed in the vehicle 

(b) Afford all reasonable assistance with luggage and be polite and civil 
(c) Wear at all times when on duty, the driver’s badge issued by the Council, in a 

prominent position when driving the vehicle, so it can easily be seen by the 
passenger 

(d) Ensure that when a vehicle has been hired to attend at an appointed time and 
place the driver shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, attend 
punctually and provide a receipt if requested 

(e) Ensure that any property left in a vehicle is taken to your Operator to make all 
relevant enquiries to reunite it with the owner. 
 

2. Personal Conduct 
 

(a) It will be the responsibility of the driver to ensure that all current legislation is 
complied with in respect of the wearing of seat belts as per the Highway Code. 
Private Hire Drivers are not exempt 

(b) The driver shall not, without the consent of the hirer, drink, eat or permit noise 
to be emitted by any in car entertainment unit to the annoyance of the hirer. 
Drivers are not allowed to eat or drink whilst the vehicle is moving and under 
their control. 

(c) The driver shall not, except with the consent of the hirer, play any radio or 
sound reproducing equipment in the vehicle. In addition, they will not cause or 
permit any radio or sound reproducing equipment installed in the vehicle to be 
a source of nuisance or annoyance to any persons whether inside or outside 
the vehicle. 
 

3. Notifications 
 

A driver must inform the Council of the following in writing within the following 
periods: 

 
(a) A change of address shall be reported in writing within seven days 
(b) Any convictions for any offence incurred by him during the period of the 

licence reported in writing within seven days (this includes fixed penalty ticket 
offences warnings and cautions or speed awareness courses) 

(c) The details of any road accident in which a licensed vehicle has been involved 
shall be reported to the Council in writing or by email within 72 hours 

(d) A change of Private Hire Operator shall be reported in writing within seven 
days 

(e) Where a licence holder has been subject to arrest by the Police or Immigration 
Service, they for any matter they must inform the Council within 48 hours after 
release from custody and in any case as soon as practicable 

page 80



 

60 

 

 
4. Return of Drivers Badge 

 
(a) A driver must return his drivers badge to the Council as soon as the licence 

ceases to be in force. 
 

5. Hiring - Private Hire Vehicles 
 

The driver of a Private Hire Vehicle shall not ply for hire or otherwise: 
 

(a) Tout or solicit on a road or other public place any person to hire or to be 
carried for hire in any Private Hire Vehicle 

(b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit on a road or other public 
place any person to hire or be carried for hire any Private Hire Vehicle 

(c) Offer the vehicle for immediate hire while the driver or that vehicle is on a road 
or public place 

(d) Accept an offer for the immediate hire of the vehicle whilst on a road or other 
public place except when such offer is FIRST communicated to the driver by 
telephone or other means fitted to the vehicle 

(e) Demand from any hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle without a meter, a fare in 
excess of any previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the 
Operator. 
 

6. Licence 
 

(a) The driver shall deposit their (original, not copy) Private Hire/Hackney 
Carriage drivers’ licence with the Private Hire Operator with whom he is 
currently working. On leaving the operator this must be collected by the driver 
and shown to the licensing authority before a new operator will be accepted. 

 
7. Destination 
 
(a) The driver of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle when hired to drive 

to any particular destination shall not, without reasonable cause, 
unnecessarily prolong in distance or in time the journey for which the Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle has been hired. 
 

8. Renewal/Application processes 
 

(a) During the term of a three-year licence the driver will undergo a six month 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and Driver and Vehicle Licensing 
Agency (DVLA) checks and the licence holder will be required to carry out the 
following: 
 
Subscribe to the DBS Update Service to enable the Council to carry out the 
appropriate annual check. 
 
Failure to comply with this requirement will result in the suspension of the 
licence until the result of such a check has been received, on the grounds that 
the Council cannot be satisfied that the driver is a fit and proper person. 
 

page 81



 

61 

 

9. Safeguarding & Disability Awareness Training 
 

(a) All applicants and licenced drivers must complete Safeguarding & Disability 
Awareness Training and pass the associated test. 
 
New applicants and renewals for a driver’s licence must complete the training 
and pass the associated test as part of the application process.  Failure to do 
this will result in the application being refused 
 

10. Penalty Points Scheme 
 

(a) The Council operates a Penalty Points Scheme to raise the awareness of 
conditions amongst licensed drivers and assist in the enforcement of the 
conditions attached to licences and other matters.  The scheme will apply to 
drivers, vehicles and operators and should a breach of a condition or other 
matters be detected, points may be issued against the licence holder, up to a 
maximum of 12 points in a 36-month period.  Should you, as a licence holder, 
accrue 12 points or more in a 36-month period you may be required to attend 
a hearing of the Licensing Committee who will review the status of your 
licence.  You will be informed in writing of any points awarded against you and 
why they have been issued. 

 
11. Drug / Alcohol / Vision Testing 
 

To provide equity with drivers of other forms of public transport, the Council 
will conduct drug/alcohol/eyesight tests on drivers on an intelligence led and 
random basis. Selected drivers/applicants will be expected to either submit to 
any test deemed appropriate by the Licensing Service or to attend a medical 
practitioner chosen by the Council and submit to any test deemed appropriate. 
Positive test results or failing to comply with the test request may result in 
suspension or revocation of the licence. 

 
 

Failure to comply with the conditions set out in this document may result in 
penalty points being awarded against you or your licence being suspended or 
revoked. 
  

page 82



 

62 

 

Appendix E Vehicle Application Procedure (including renewal applications) 
 

Applications for vehicle licences will only be accepted in relation to vehicles that 
comply with: 
 
1. Rushcliffe Borough Council’s specification for private hire vehicles, or hackney 

carriages (as appropriate), and 
 
2. Rushcliffe Borough Council’s Vehicle Age and Emissions Standards 

 

3. Vehicles subject of a write-off of any sort will not be considered for a 
licence. The Council will undertake a HPI check of any vehicle which is intended 
to be licensed to ensure such vehicles are not granted a licence. 

 
The applicant must use the online application process and submit/complete the 
following to the Council in order for the application to be considered valid: 

• The vehicle application form (online) 

• The appropriate fee (paid online) 

• A digital copy/scan or photograph of the original Vehicle Registration 
Document (Logbook/V5) certificate of registration for the vehicle 

• A digital copy/scan or photograph of a valid insurance certificate or 
insurance cover note for the vehicle. (No weekly cover notes accepted) 

• A current MOT certificate from an Approved Rushcliffe garage in the 
Council Area issued within 14 calendar days of the application 
submission. Note: Unless the vehicle is brand new with delivery miles 
only, where no MOT is required 

• For Hackney Carriage copy of the meter calibration/installation certificate. 

In addition: 

• Any vehicle not manufactured with European Whole Vehicle Type 
Approval will be required to undergo Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) testing 
and evidence of that testing and the vehicle having obtained SVA 
produced to the licensing office. The application must be made on the 
correct application form and all supporting documents completed in full. 

• Stretch limousines can be licensed by the authority but will not be licensed 
for any more than 8 passengers, if the seating is of such a kind that a 
determination of seating is not clear, a licensing officer will inspect the 
vehicle to discover the precise number of seats available. If no clear 
determination can be obtained, the application will be viewed on its own 
merits and may be refused. 

• A vehicle must not be ‘double plated’ e.g. also licenced with another local 
authority. 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles will be issued with a 12-month or 6-
month licence depending on their age from the date of first registration. And may be 

page 83



 

63 

 

refused to be licenced if over a specified age for a new application or at renewal. 
This is set out is section 7 of the policy. 
 

Renewal of any Taxi or Private Hire Vehicle MOT must be undertaken at one of the 
councils nominated testing stations and arrangements and payments for any MOT 
will be undertaken by the applicant. 

Fred Brown Car Repairs 

14A Rectory Road, West Bridgford NG2 6BE ·  

Phone  0115 982 5582: 

Wilford Lane Garage & Autocentre 

140 Wilford Lane, West Bridgford, Nottingham NG2 7RL  

Phone 0115 981 6774 

Ludlow Hill MOT Centre unit 10 2 Ludlow Hill Road West Bridgford West Bridgford 
Nottingham Nottinghamshire NG2 6HF  
Phone: 01159 234 553 

 
A separate compliance test will not be required, only an MOT at the approved 
garages in RUSHCLIFFE will be accepted.  
 
Once the vehicle licence has been issued, they must ensure the plate is attached 
and all conditions adhered to and only licensed drivers will be permitted to drive the 
vehicle. 
 
Where an application has been made for a vehicle licence to be renewed, the 
previous plates WILL be removed by the driver at the time of collection and replaced 
with the new plates straight away. The old plates will subsequently be disposed of by 
the Council. 
 
 

Vehicle Licence Applications application links:  

Please be aware that any vehicle which has been classed as any category "Write-

Off" will not be licenced as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. 

This licence entitles the vehicle to be used for Private Hire purposes only through a 

Rushcliffe Council licensed operator. Most of the vehicles licenced with Rushcliffe 

are of this type. In the case of a Hackney Carriage (TAXI/black cab) you can 'ply for 

hire' within the Rushcliffe Borough Council boundary area. Please use the links 

below to make the application through the councils' application portal. You will be 

required to submit with the application the necessary documentation such as your 

V5C and Insurance and make the application payment.  

Please use this link to apply for your Initial Private Hire Vehicle Licence. 

page 84

tel:01159%20234%20553


 

64 

 

• Initial (NEW) Application - Private Hire Vehicle Licence  

Please use this link to apply for your Initial Hackney Carriage (TAXI/black cab) 

Vehicle Licence. 

• Initial (NEW) Application - Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence  

PLEASE NOTE:  online application forms are not submitted or received by Rushcliffe 

Borough Council if the payment is not made at the time of completing the application 

form. 

Renew a Vehicle Licence application links 

Use these links when your current licence is still valid and you wish to renew. If you 

licence has expired you must use a new Initial application above. 

To use the renewal links below you will need the renewal code from your reminder 

letter. If you do not have your reminder letter you should contact the licencing service 

who can resend this to you. Tel 0115 914 8322 or 

email Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk . 

Please ensure you use the correct link. Most licences held in Rushcliffe are for 

Private Hire Vehicles. 

Please use this link to apply for the Renewal of your Private Hire Vehicle Licence 

with Rushcliffe.  

• Renewal Application - Private Hire Vehicle Licence  

Please use this link to apply for the Renewal of your Hackney/TAXI (black Cab) 

Vehicle Licence with Rushcliffe. 

• Renewal Application - Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence  

PLEASE NOTE:  Online application forms are not submitted or received by 

Rushcliffe Borough Council if the payment is not made at the time of completing the 

application form. 

PLEASE NOTE: Please ensure your renewal date is within one month of the expiry 

date of your current existing licence. If you apply too early the application will not 

proceed and an error will occur. You may however apply at a later date but before 

your licence expires. 

  

page 85

https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53277/e28fcee72bed37ba52e0df4e8a93ea10
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53275/14c5ef15ca99df5ed301201d964ce3b5
mailto:Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53281/a43d9f8f5b570ccd08012a6befbcf12d
https://rushcliffe.idoxds.com/dsfx/xp/start/53279/5b24a4a0d1101f8b16fee411097a4c03


 

65 

 

Appendix F Vehicle Specifications - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

This specification shall apply to both Hackney and Private Hire Vehicles 

1. Standard of Vehicle 

The interior and exterior of the vehicle shall be maintained in a clean and safe 
manner to the reasonable satisfaction of the Council, in particular the exterior of the 
vehicle shall be free of large dents, rust or unrepaired accident damage and shall at 
all times have uniform paintwork equivalent to that applied by the manufacturer. The 
seats shall be required to function in accordance with the original manufacturer’s 
specification. 
 

2. Emission standards 

The Council have adopted similar standards for both Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicles.  
See section Emissions and Age of Vehicles for further details. 
The Council will, in addition, reserve the right to revoke a vehicle licence if after 
testing by a Council- approved garage the vehicle fails emission tests. 
 

3. Engine specifications 

The vehicle will have a 1600cc minimum engine capacity, however, to reflect 
advances in modern engine efficiency and the fact that the BHP (Brake Horsepower) 
produced by engines as a ratio to the capacity is now more efficient, vehicles that 
meet the following criteria will also be permitted. This allows for smaller engines (less 
than 1600cc) with turbos which are more fuel efficient rather than some of the larger 
cubic capacity engines. Vehicles less than 1600cc will be accepted providing they 
are not less than 90 BHP or 67.1KW (this can be found on the vehicle logbook V5 
under reference P2). The authority welcomes vehicles powered by other sources of 
sustainable motive power, subject to research into the vehicle meeting all other 
criteria. 

4. Inspection 
 

The vehicle can be inspected at all reasonable times by an authorised officer of the 
Council or any Police Constable, who, if not satisfied as to the condition or 
appearance of the vehicle, may immediately suspend the vehicle’s licence and 
inform the proprietor in writing of the reasons for the suspension. A spot check may 
be carried out at any time by an Authorised Officer. 

5. Insurance 

The proprietor shall maintain in force a full policy of insurance which complies with 
Part VI of The Road Traffic Act 1988. 

6. Licence Plates 
  

a. All plates, signs, etc. remain the property of the Council and must be 
surrendered to an Authorised Officer upon request following suspension of a 
vehicle, when the licence is surrendered, or the licence has expired 

b. Plates must be affixed to the vehicle exterior by the plate holder/bracket which 
can be purchased from the Customer Contact Centre. A plate is affixed to the 

page 86



 

66 

 

front bumper or valence and should be placed towards the nearside of the car 
in a vertical position so it can be viewed by customers and authorised officers. 
The rear plate  must be affixed to the rear by the means of a bracket. It must 
be fitted so it can be viewed unhindered by the public and authorised officers  

c. Hackney’s may have the triple ‘R’ logo on the side.  
 

7. Number of Passengers 

The licence holder/driver shall not permit a private hire vehicle to carry a greater 
number of passengers than the number allowed by the licence.  For the purpose of 
this condition two children each under the age of 12 shall be treated as one person, 
provided that no more than four such children shall be so treated for the purpose of 
one journey. 

8. Signage 
 

Hackney Vehicle Markings 
 

On Hackney Carriage vehicles, with roof signs, the roof light must be extinguished 
when the fare meter is in use. 

 
Private Hire Vehicle Markings 

 
A private hire vehicle must not carry any roof sign or any markings that might give 
the impression that it is a Hackney Carriage. 

 
Any advertising or signage on the vehicle must specifically not include the words 
“taxi”, “cab” or “Hackney Carriage” the use of which is not permitted. 

 
No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of 
leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire, 
may be used on the vehicle. 

 
These conditions will not apply if the vehicle is also licensed as a hackney carriage. 

 

9. Trailers 

Licensed Vehicles will not be permitted to tow any trailer whilst working as a Private 
Hire vehicle or Hackney Carriage. 

 

10. Tinted windows 
 

The windows or windscreen of any vehicle shall not have been treated so that less 
than 70% of light is transmitted through it. 
 

11. Unauthorised use 

The proprietor of a Private Hire vehicle or Hackney Carriage shall not allow the 
vehicle to be driven and used for hire by any person who does not hold a current 
private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence, as appropriate, as issued by the 
Council. 

page 87



 

67 

 

 

12. Hackney Carriage Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Specifications. 

The information set out below will give the applicants a guide when selecting a 
vehicle to be licensed.  
In addition, the following should apply:  

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE SPECIFICATION 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE SPECIFICATION 

 

A 93cm min. Cushion not compressed.  

B 96cm min. Seat fully rearwards.  

C 61cm min. Front seat fully rearwards.  

D 84cm min. Cushion not compressed.  

E 245cm min. Wheelbase  

F1 133cm min. Interior width between doors  

F2 122cm Between armrests  

G 25cm Point of measurement parallel with squab  

L 0.5 m3  min. Luggage capacity (hard luggage) 

No vehicle to be licensed which would require any passenger to climb over any seat 

to enter or egress from any seat they may occupy or that would require them to climb 

over any luggage in the vehicle.  

page 88



 

68 

 

Luggage space is to be a minimum of 0.5 cubic metres and be physically separated 

from the passenger seating or sited at the rear of the vehicle.  

The vehicle must have four roadworthy wheels and tyres. Most new vehicles are now 

supplied with a space saver, sealant, or run flat tyres (these are temporary repairs to 

get you home - not to be used for a second fare). 

Remould tyres, second-hand or part worn tyres are not accepted. Only new tyres 

are permitted to be fitted to any vehicle.  

The vehicle must be equipped with near-side and off-side exterior rear-view mirrors.  

The vehicle must have an approved and in date first aid kit marked indelibly with the 

vehicle licence and registration number.  

All vehicles must have a current MOT certificate which must be produced before a 

licence is issued unless the vehicles are brand new.  

All licensed vehicles must be fitted with rear seat belts.  

The vehicle must be of a single colour. 

13. Stretch Limousines Special Occasion Vehicles 

All applications for licence stretch limousines as private hire vehicles will be treated on 

their merits.  

In the case of a first application for a vehicle licence, be in excellent condition as befits 

a Special Occasion Vehicle. The age of the vehicle will be taken from the vehicle 

registration document or in the case of imported vehicles from the relevant importation 

certificates but will not be material matter for this type of vehicle.  

All vehicles must either meet the European Whole Vehicle Approval standard or the 

M.1. Passenger Vehicle requirements or have a Single Vehicle Approval Test 

Certificate issued by the Vehicle Inspectorate Executive Agency. If the vehicle was 

imported prior to the SVA certification, then the decision as to its suitability shall be 

that of the Council’s Inspector. 

The vehicle is to provide at least two doors for the use of passengers conveyed in the 

vehicle, neither being the door used by the driver.  

No vehicle to be licensed which would require any passenger to climb over any seat 

to enter or egress from any seat they may occupy or that would require them to climb 

over any luggage in the vehicle.  

Luggage space is to be a minimum of 0.5 cubic metres and be physically separated 

from the passenger seating or sited at the rear of the vehicle. 

Stretch Limousines will not be licensed as Hackney Carriages. 

page 89



 

69 

 

14. Other Vehicles 

The Council will consider other types of vehicles to be licensed as private hire, each 
on its own merits. 
Vehicles which do not fall within the above will not be licensed as a Hackney Carriage. 

15. Hackney Carriage Vehicle Specification  

All licensed Hackney Carriage vehicles which are going to operate within the Rushcliffe 

area must meet the same specifications as a PHV. 

A hackney carriage will at all times when being available to hail, display in the centre 

of the roof an illuminated light bearing the word “TAXI”. The light will be illuminated at 

all times the vehicle is available for hire whether undertaking hackney carriage or 

private hire work.  

A fares meter (“the meter”) must be fitted and be correctly calibrated, sealed and fully 

functional in accordance with the current Council approved fare structure and easily 

visible to passengers.  

The meter and all fittings shall be affixed to the carriage with seals or other appliances, 

so as not to be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, 

damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances.  

The meter shall be positioned so that all letters and figures on the face thereof may be 

at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle. The dial of the 

fares meter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of the hiring which 

is during the hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Transport 

Licensing Act 1957 and at any time at the request of the hirer.  

When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of the meter in clearly 

legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may be charged for that 

journey.  

If the meter has been altered for whatever reason, the proprietor of the vehicle shall 

forthwith report the alteration to the Council and the owner / operator will make 

arrangements for resetting and resealing to be made. When resealed the owner / 

operator will produce the certificate of conformity to the Council and keep a copy in 

their vehicle to be viewed by an Authorised Officer.  

The vehicle meter shall be brought into operation at the commencement of the journey 

and the fare demanded by the driver shall not be greater than fixed by this Council in 

connection with the hire of hackney carriages. In the event of such a journey 

commencing in but ending outside the district there may be charged for the journey 

such fare or rate of fare, if any, as was agreed before the hiring was effected, if no 

such agreement was made then the fare to be charged should be no greater than that 

fixed by the Council in connection with the hire of Hackney Carriages. 

page 90



 

70 

 

A legible copy of the Hackney Carriage of Fares must be carried in the vehicle at all 

times and accessible to any person wishing to examine it. 

16. Wheelchair Accessible Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles. 

Wheelchairs and ramps:  
a) The vehicle must be supplied with suitable wheelchair ramps and be capable of 

safely carrying a passenger while they remain seated in their wheelchair  

b) The ramp must be lightweight and easy to deploy  

c) On level ground the ramp will have a maximum gradient of 20% in the fully 

deployed position and have a minimum safe working load of 250kg  

d) Access to and exit from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in any 

manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus  

e) The wheelchair internal anchorage must be of the vehicle manufacturer’s 

design and construction and secured in such a position as not to obstruct any 

emergency exit  

f) A suitable restraint must be available for the occupant of a wheelchair  

g) Access ramps or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, and be 

able to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper. Ramps and lifts must be 

securely stored in the vehicle before it may move off  

h) Ramps which are not permanently fitted to the vehicle must be marked with a 

permanent paint or marker. The vehicle plate number and must have the safe 

working load marked on the ramps  

i) Vehicles fitted with slide-in ramps must have written with a permanent paint or 

marker the vehicle plate number and must have the safe working load marked 

on the ramps  

j) The driver must be proficient in loading and unloading a wheelchair and be able 

to demonstrate the ability to secure a wheelchair  

k) All drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles must:  

• be fully conversant with the correct method of operation of all ramps, lifts 

and wheelchair restraints fitted to the vehicle  

• before any movement of the vehicle takes place, ensure that all 

wheelchairs are firmly secured to the vehicle using an approved 

restraining system and the brakes of the wheelchair have been applied  

• ensure that any wheelchairs, equipment and passengers are carried in 

such a manner that no danger is likely to be caused to those passengers 

or to anyone else, in accordance with the relevant regulations.  

page 91



 

71 

 

If the vehicle is fitted with a purpose-designed wheelchair lift, it shall conform to the 

LOLER 98 Regulations and a report, confirming that the lifting equipment is safe to 

use, shall be presented at the time of vehicle inspection (i.e. a valid LOLER certificate).  

The maximum passenger seats must not exceed (8) eight. Appropriate swivel seats 

will be allowed in the rear of the vehicle.  

The vehicle must comply with Vehicle Inspectorate MOT Testing requirements and the 

Council’s Criteria for Vehicle Inspection.  

The rear door(s) to the vehicle must not allow access for customers unless for 

wheelchair use. Access and egress from the vehicle will be by way of side opening 

doors. The rear opening door(s) shall only be used for access to the luggage storage 

area of the vehicle and for wheelchair passengers.  

The vehicle must have an approved in date first aid kit marked indelibly with the vehicle 

licence and registration number.  

 
  

page 92



 

72 

 

Appendix G Private Hire Vehicle Conditions 
 

Definitions 
 
1. "the Council" means the Council of the Borough of Rushcliffe. 
 

"the identification plate" means the plates issued by the Council for the 
purpose of identifying the vehicle as a private hire vehicle. 
 
"the operator" means a person holding a licence to operate private hire 
vehicles issued pursuant to Section 55 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
Drivers 
 
2. The driver shall not cause or procure or permit any other person to drive a 

licenced Hackney Carriage of which he is in charge unless they are a driver 
licensed by Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

 
Personal Conduct 
 
3. The licence holder shall at all times, when the vehicle is available or being 

driven for hire, ensure that the driver is both clean and respectable in his 
dress and person, shall behave in an orderly manner and conduct himself with 
civility and propriety towards every person seeking to hire, or hiring or being 
conveyed in the vehicle. 

 
Identification plates 
 
4. The licence holder/driver shall not conceal either the exterior identification 

plates of the private hire vehicle or the details marked thereon, or the interior 
display of the private hire vehicle licence numbers from public view and will 
keep the identification plate and the interior display in a clean condition. Plates 
will be displayed on both the front and rear of the vehicle unless an exemption 
letter has been issued by the Council. 

 
Licence 
 
5. The licence holder shall deposit his licence issued by the Council with the 

Private Hire Operator for which the vehicle is being used during the time it is 
so used for that operator. At the termination of employment, the operator must 
return the licence to the driver. It is the driver’s responsibility to inform the 
Council of a change of operator.  

 
Hirer’s property 
 
1. The licence holder/driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring, 

or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the private hire vehicle 
for any property which may accidentally have been left therein. 
 

page 93



 

73 

 

2. The licence holder/driver of a private hire vehicle shall, if any property is 
accidentally left in the vehicle by any passenger and is found by or handed to 
him, take it, as soon as possible and in any event within 24 hours (if not 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner before then), to   make rigorous enquiries 
to return the property to its owner. The Operator must keep a record of the 
items; 
 

• the vehicle plate number 

• the driver  

• time found 

• date found 

• description of the item. 
 

Any bank cards or similar, driving licences, and passports must be returned to 
the issuer as soon as practicable.  

 

Passengers 
 
8. The licence holder/driver shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all 

reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers carried in the vehicle and 
any persons entering or leaving the vehicle. 

 
9. The licence holder/driver shall allow only one passenger to be carried in the 

front of the vehicle next to the driver. 
 

If the driver doesn’t provide the correct child car seat, children can travel 

without one - but only if they travel on a rear seat: 

and wear an adult seat belt if they’re aged three years or older, without a seat 

belt if they’re under three years. 

 

10. The licence holder/driver shall not permit a private hire vehicle to carry a 
greater number of passengers than the number allowed by the licence.  For 
the purpose of this condition two children each under the age of 12 shall be 
treated as one person, provided that no more than four such children shall be 
so treated for the purpose of one journey. 

 
11. The licence holder/driver shall not allow any child under the age of 12 years to 

be a passenger in the front of the vehicle without the prior written consent of 
an Authorised Officer of the Council. 

 
Animals 
 
6. The licence holder/driver shall not permit any animal to ride in the vehicle 

except an animal in the custody or control of the hirer and such an animal 
shall only be conveyed in the rear of the vehicle.  Guide Dogs and Assistance 
Dogs must always be permitted to be carried in the vehicle except when the 
driver holds an exemption certificate which has been issued under the Equality 
Act 2010. 

  

page 94

https://www.gov.uk/child-car-seats-the-rules/using-a-child-car-seat-or-booster-seat


 

74 

 

Receipts 
 
13. The licence holder/driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a 

written receipt for the fare paid. The receipt must have the drivers name and 
the name of the hiring company. 

 

Touting etc. 
 
14. The licence holder/driver shall not while driving or in charge of a private hire 

vehicle: 
 

(a) tout or solicit on a road or other public place any person to hire or be 
carried for hire in any private hire vehicle, or 

 
(b) cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit on a road or other 

public place any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire 
vehicle. 

 
In this condition: "road” means any highway and any other road to which the 
public has access including bridges over which a road passes. 

 
Cheques/Payment 
 
15. Only online or card payments are accepted. 
 
Executive Plates 
 
16. Where executive plates have been issued to a vehicle these will be either 

displayed on the vehicle or kept in the vehicle together with the letter from the 
Council giving exemption from displaying such plates. Executive plates are 
issued to vehicles used for specific types of work and not standard private hire 
journeys. The applicant will be required to show the type of work undertaken in 
order that the executive plates are issued. If a vehicle, having been issued 
with executive plates, is found to be carrying out private hire work and not 
specific executive work, the plates will be removed, and the driver will be 
required to pay for a new set of standard private hire plates. 

Hire/Rental Companies 
 
16. Where the vehicle is the property of a hire/rental company, the company must 

inform the Licensing Service of the Council to whom the vehicle has been 
hired or rented to at all times.  This should be done by email to 
licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk Plates should be returned to the Council after the 
hire period has ended. 

 
Advertisements 
 
17. No advertisements will be placed on the vehicle without the prior consent of 

the Council.  Applicants should refer to Appendix J for full details. 

 

page 95

mailto:licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk


 

75 

 

 Fire Extinguishers/First Aid 
 
18. A Fire Extinguisher is not mandatory but when fitted it must be fitted in such a 

position to be readily available for use, and the capacity of not less than 3 
pounds (1.361kg) BCF, conformation to BS5423 dry powder or CO2. In 
addition, the vehicle must have an approved first aid kit marked indelibly with 
the vehicle licence and registration number. 

 

Failure to comply with conditions 
 
Failing to comply with any of the above conditions may result in the licence 
holder/driver having penalty points awarded against him in accordance with the 
Council’s Penalty Points Scheme or other action being taken which may include the 
suspension or revocation of the licence. 
  

page 96



 

76 

 

 
Appendix H Hackney Carriage vehicle conditions 
 
1. Definitions 
 

a) "the Council" means the Council of the Borough of Rushcliffe 

b) "the identification plate" means the plate issued by the Council for the 
purpose of identifying the vehicle as a private hire vehicle 

c) "the operator" means a person holding a licence to operate private hire 
vehicles issued pursuant to Section 55 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

d) "the proprietor" has the same meaning as in section 80 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

e) "Taximeter" has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
2. Drivers 
 

The driver shall not cause or procure or permit any other person to drive a 
licenced Hackney Carriage of which he is in charge unless they are a driver 
licensed by Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

 
3. Personal conduct 
 

The driver shall at all times when the vehicle is available or being driven for 
hire be clean and respectable in his dress and person, shall behave in an 
orderly manner and conduct himself with civility and propriety towards every 
person seeking to hire, or hiring or being conveyed in the vehicle. 

 
4. Identifications plates/signs 
 

a) The licence holder/driver shall not conceal either the exterior identification 
plate of the Hackney Carriage or the details marked thereon, or the interior 
display of the Hackney Carriage licence from public view and will keep the 
identification plate and the display in a clean condition. Plates will be 
displayed on both the front and rear of the vehicle and on the interior. 

b) Hackney Carriages may display the Rushcliffe triple ‘R’ as a side panel. 

 

5. Hirer’s property 
 

a) The licence holder/driver shall immediately after the termination of any 
hiring, or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the private hire 
vehicle for any property which may accidentally have been left therein. 

 
The licence holder/driver of a private hire vehicle shall, if any property is 
accidentally left therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the 
vehicle and be found by or handed to him carry it, as soon as possible and in 
any event within 24 hours (if not claimed by or on behalf of its owner before 

page 97



 

77 

 

then), to make rigorous enquiries to return the property to its owner. The 
Operator must keep a record of the items; 
 

• the vehicle plate number 

• the driver  

• time found 

• date found 

• description of the item. 
 

Any bank cards or similar, driving licences, and passports must be returned to 
the issuer as soon as practicable. 

 
6. Passengers 
 

a) The licence holder/driver shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all 
reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed therein and 
persons entering and alighting from the vehicle 

b) The licence holder/driver shall not allow any passenger to be carried in the 
front of the vehicle beside the driver 

c) The licence holder/driver shall not permit a hackney carriage to carry a 
greater number of passengers than the number prescribed in the licence; 
for the purpose of this condition two children each under the age of 12 
years shall be treated as one person provided that no more than four such 
children shall be so treated for the purpose of one journey. 

d) No person will be conveyed in the front seat of any Hackney Carriage 
at any time. 

 
7. Animals 
 

a) The licence holder/driver shall not permit any animal to ride in the vehicle 
except an animal in the custody or control of the hirer and any such animal 
shall be conveyed in the rear of the vehicle 

b) Guide Dogs and Assistance dogs must always be permitted to be carried in 
the vehicle except when the licence holder holds an exemption certificate. 

 

8. Receipts 
 

The licence holder/driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a 
written receipt for the fare paid. The receipt must have the drivers name and 
the name of the hiring company. 

  

page 98



 

78 

 

9. Fares 
 

The licence holder/driver shall not demand a fare in excess of that prescribed 
by the fare table issued by the Council unless previously agreed between 
the hirer and the operator at the time of booking. 
 

10. Taximeters 
 

The vehicle will be fitted with a taximeter: 
 

a) The licence holder/driver shall not cause the fare recorded thereon to be 
cancelled until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of examining it 
and has paid the fare 

b) The licence holder/driver shall ensure that when the vehicle is not hired 
the key is to be locked and machinery kept inactive and the meter must 
show no fare at that time 

c) The licence holder/driver shall ensure that the taximeter is sufficiently 
illuminated that when in use it is visible to all passengers 

d) The licence holder/driver shall ensure that the fare or charge shall be 
calculated from the point in the District at which the hirer commences his 
journey and shall not exceed that displayed on the taximeter at the 
completion of his journey 

e) The licence holder/driver shall ensure that the taximeter is only brought 
into action at the commencement of the hirer's journey. If the meter has 
been altered for whatever reason, the proprietor of the vehicle shall 
forthwith report the alteration to the Council and the owner/ operator will 
make arrangements for resetting and resealing to be made. When 
resealed the owner operator will produce the certificate of conformity to 
the police and keep a copy in their vehicle to be viewed by an authorised 
officer. 

 
11. Fare Tables 
 

The licence holder/driver shall ensure that the fare table is not concealed from 
view or rendered illegible while the vehicle is being used for hire. 

 
12. Cheques/Payments 
 

Cheques are not accepted, application is via online and payment is via this 
method unless otherwise stated. 

 
13. Hire/Rental Companies 
 

Where the vehicle is the property of a hire/rental company, the company WILL 
inform the Licensing Service of the Council to whom the vehicle has been 
hired or rented to at all times. This shall be done in writing or by e mail to 
licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk  

 
14. Use of Hackney Carriages outside the Rushcliffe Area 
 

page 99



 

79 

 

Where a Hackney Carriage is being used as a Private Hire Vehicle out of the 
Council’s area, the Hackney Carriage proprietor must inform the Council of the 
name of the Private Hire Operator for whom the vehicle is working. 
 

15. Advertisements 
 

No advertisements will be placed on the vehicle without the prior consent of 
the Council.  Applicants should refer to Appendix J for full details. 

 
16. Fire Extinguishers/First Aid 
 

A Fire Extinguisher is not mandatory but when fitted it must be fitted in such a 
position to be readily available for use, and the capacity of not less than 3 
pounds (1.361kg) BCF, conformation to BS5423 dry powder or CO2. In 
addition, the vehicle must have an approved first aid kit marked indelibly with 
the vehicle licence and registration number. 

 
Failure to comply with conditions 
 
Failing to comply with any of the above conditions may result in the licence 
holder/driver having penalty points awarded against him or other action including 
suspension or revocation of the licence. 
 
  

page 100



 

80 

 

Appendix I Vehicle Testing requirements 
 
Hackney & Private Hire Vehicle Inspection Checklist (With Explanatory Detailed 

Notes) 
 

1. Engine Compartment 
 

a) Inspect for oil leaks. 
Check for the loss of oil, either from engine or transmission, causing 
contamination to the road surface, or constituting a fire risk. 

b) Check battery security/ position and loss or damage to wiring. 
Ensure battery security in the event of a collision the battery would not 
become dislodged or spill acid causing contamination. 
Inspect for insecure or damaged wiring that will constitute a fire risk.  
Ensure that all ancillary electrical equipment is fused at the power supply. 

c) Check rubber/plastic hoses for leaks or signs of perishing. 
 Ensuring all coolant and high-pressure hoses are intact and do not constitute 

a safety risk. 
d) Check engine mountings, inner wings, panels and suspension mountings for 

corrosion. 
 Ensure all engine suspension mountings are intact and secured safely to the 

inner panels of the engine compartment. 
e) Check the cooling radiator and inter-cooler are securely positioned and there 

are no leaks. 
 Ensure both radiator and the inter-cooler mountings are secure and intact and 

there is no deterioration of components likely to cause a safety risk. 
f) Check the clutch and brake cylinders for leakage. 
 Ensure there are no obvious signs of hydraulic fluid leaks from 

cylinders/chambers or any other associated brake/clutch component. 
g) Check clutch operation. 
 Ensure clutch operation is smooth without vibration or judder. 
h) Chassis and underside of the vehicle to be steam cleaned. 
 Ensure the underside of the vehicle is presented in a clean condition for 

inspection. 
 

2. Exterior 
 

a) Check bodywork for evidence of corrosion, damage or unsatisfactory repairs. 
 Ensure body panels do not have corrosive deterioration or are rusted through, 
and any repaired panels are repaired to a satisfactory standard and are 
finished off to blend with the existing body colour. 
 

b) Check to ensure that all doors open and close easily and rubber seals are in 
good condition. 
Ensure the security of all doors, locks, hinges and catches and ease of access 
plus no obvious sign of weather seal deterioration. 
 

c) Check paintwork for damage which affects the appearance of the vehicle. 
 The appearance should be of a high standard that reflects the image of the 
Council. 

 

page 101



 

81 

 

d) Check to ensure front and rear number plates are in good condition and 
clearly legible 
and that they meet the statutory requirements for text type and spacing. 

e) Check to ensure all lights work correctly including the number plate light, 
reversing light and fog lamps. 
As per MOT Test requirements no more than two auxiliary spotlights may be 
fitted. 

f) Check to ensure exhaust system/catalyst is fitted correctly and is working 
satisfactorily. 

 As per MOT Test requirements check Co2 emissions. 
g) Check exterior/mirror assemblies are correctly positioned and are not 

damaged. 
 As per MOT Test requirements. 
 

3. Interior 
 

a) Check interior of vehicle and luggage space is clean and in good serviceable 
condition. 
 Upholstery/trim is in a clean and undamaged condition, with the interior being 
free from litter and clutter. Ensure floor covering is in serviceable condition 
with no holes, tears or snags. 

 Luggage space is to be clear, clean and unobstructed. 
b) Check under mats for evidence of water leakage or accident damage. 

 Ensure there is no water ingression both in the passenger or boot 
compartments, or any evidence of impact damage. 

c) Check seats are in good condition. 
Ensure all seat interiors are in a sound and serviceable condition with 
operational seat  adjustment mechanisms (if fitted). 

d) Check seat belts, mountings condition and operation of all seats. 
 As per MOT Test requirements. 

e) Check interior and door courtesy lights work. 
f) The vehicle must have an efficient fire extinguisher fitted in such a position to 

be readily available for use. The capacity should not be less than 3 pounds 
(1.361kg) BCF and conform to BS5423 dry powder or CO2. In addition, the 
vehicle must have an approved first aid kit marked indelibly with the vehicle 
licence and registration number. 

 
g) Check all internal switches operating lights, wipers, and washers etc. work 

correctly. 
 As per MOT requirements. 

h) Check that all the windows can be lowered and raised easily and give 
maximum ventilation.  Ensure rear windows which are tinted are not of an 
opaque design (Original equipment only excepted unless an executive 
vehicle). 

i) Check that all doors open correctly and that the doors are correctly fitted. 
Ensure all operating doors open correctly from the inside and with sufficient 
access. 

j) Check luggage space for water penetration and cleanliness. 
 As per item 3(b). 

k) Check radio/PDA for secure fitting. 

page 102



 

82 

 

Ensure radio and communication equipment is securely fitted with wiring fused 
as required. 

l) Check the fittings of grills behind rearmost seat in estate cars. 
 Ensure security of dog grill to the rear load space area (estate cars only). 

m) Check windscreen for damage and stickers etc. in accordance with MOT 
standards. 

 As per MOT Test requirements. 
n) Check that the Vehicle Identification Number is legible and secure. 

 As stated. 
o) No unauthorised advertising whatsoever on or in the vehicle. 

 As stated. 
 

4. Tyres 
 

a) Check all tyres, including the spare for damage or extensive wear, giving 
indication of % in mm of tread remaining. 
As per tyre legislation and MOT requirements. 

b) Check tyres have correct pressures and comply with all legal requirements for 
tyres when fixed to vehicles. As per legal requirements. 

c) Check that remoulds are not fitted. 
 

5. Underside of Vehicles 
 

a) Check that exhaust is correctly fitted and working correctly. As per MOT Test 
requirements. 

b) Check engine and gearbox mountings for security. As per MOT Test 
requirements. 

c) Check wheel bearings, swivel pins and bushes. As per MOT Test 
requirements. 

d) Check shock absorbers. As per MOT Test requirements. 
e) Check universal joints/drive shafts. As per MOT Test requirements. 
f) Check for excessive oil leaks. As per section (a) item (a). 

 
6. Braking Systems 

 
a) Check for condition and performance of service brake system. 

As per MOT Test requirements. 
b) Check for condition and performance of parking brake system 

(Mechanical/electrical operations). As per MOT Test requirements. 
 

7. Rolling Road Test 
 

a) Check for vibration through steering column. 
Ensure there is no excessive rolling vibration through the steering or 
transmission. 

b) Check that steering does not pull to the right or left. 
Ensure vehicle drives in a straight line, does not steer over to left or right. 

c) Check that brakes do not pull to left or right. 
As per MOT Roller Brake Test results. 

d) Check engine performance i.e. misfires/lack of power. 
Ensure engine performs satisfactorily for the vehicle size. 

page 103



 

83 

 

 
e) Check for satisfactory emission levels from vehicle exhaust. 

As per MOT Test requirements. 
f) Check for unusual noise from engine/transmission. 

Ensure engine/transmission and exhaust noise levels are not excessive. 
g) Check braking efficiency. As per Section (6) Item (a-b). 

 
8. Signs/Plates 

 
a) Hackney Carriage signs 

Check roof mounted signs and ensure the size and design complies with 
condition. 
Check roof sign correctly illuminated. 

b) Licence Plates 
Check to ensure that licence plates are affixed in position to comply with 
conditions. 
Check that each licence plate is securely mounted to the front and rear of the 
vehicle and that the internal badge is displayed so that it is visible to the 
public. On Hackney Carriages a large A3 size adhesive plate will take the 
place of the triple ’R’ logo. Private Hire Vehicles will have an A3 adhesive 
plate affixed on the front nearside and offside doors. 

 

9. Meters 
 

a) Check meter accuracy. 
Ensure accuracy of meter by driving a measured mile or by static measuring 
instrument. 

b) Check that the meter will not show any tariffs (s) other than those set by the 
Council. (Hackney Carriage scale of charges). 
Ensure that the meter reads accurately the tariff for the class of vehicle being 
tested. 

c) Check that the meter is positioned to be clearly seen by all passengers in the 
vehicle. 
As stated. 

d) Check that a table of fares, as agreed by the Council, is displayed in the 
vehicle in a prominent position so as to be clearly seen by all passengers in 
the Hackney Carriage. 
As stated.  

page 104



 

84 

 

Appendix J Advertisements 
 

Vehicle Advertisement Conditions 
 

In order that advertisements on vehicles are of a standard type, the following 
conditions shall apply:  

 
a) That no advertisement be displayed without the written approval of the 

Licensing Service. 

b) That the advertisement shall be to a design that if fitted to the rear windows of 
the vehicle, passenger can see through them and the interior of the vehicle 
and passengers can be viewed from the exterior. Hackney Carriages can only 
have adverts on the rear of the vehicle, and it must not encroach on the sides 
or the roof. 

c) That no advertisement shall be of a sexual, religious or political nature and 
that it shall not be likely to cause offence. 

d) In the case of private hire vehicles, the proposed advertisement is to be 
submitted for approval by a licensed operator not by individual vehicle owners. 

e) No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or 
appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council at 
any time while the licence is in force. 

 
Signs and Notices etc. 
 
The proprietor shall cause to be affixed and maintained in the vehicle in a 
conspicuous position in accordance with the directions of the Council any sign or 
notice relating to licensed vehicles which the Council may from time to time require. 
 
A private hire vehicle must not display: - 
 

• Any sign or notice which consists of or includes the word ‘taxi’ or ‘cab’ whether 
in the singular or plural or ‘hire’ or any word of similar meaning or appearance 
to any of those words whether alone or as part of another word; or 

 

• any sign, notice, mark, illumination or other feature which, having regard to 
that time and place at which it is displayed, may suggest to a person seeking 
to hire a taxi that the vehicle is a taxi. 

  

page 105



 

85 

 

Appendix K Taxi Ranks 

 
The Council has two Hackney Carriage Ranks situated in West Bridgford: 
 

1. Bridgford Road outside the Co-operative Store. Part of this rank is for 24-hour 
use and the remainder is for use during the evening/nighttime. 

 
2. Central Avenue in the layby outside Central News. This rank is for use during 

the evening/nighttime. 
  

page 106



 

86 

 

Appendix L Private Hire Operators Conditions 

1. Records 
 
The records to be kept by the Operator under Section 56 (2) of the Act shall be kept 
in a suitable register, computer or in such a form as the Council shall have approved 
and the following particulars shall be entered concerning every booking: 
 

a) The time and date of the booking 
b) The name and, if appropriate, address of the hirer 
c) How the booking was made, e.g. telephone/personal/online etc. 
d) The time of pick up and full address 
e) The point of pick up if any 
f) The destination 
g) The licence number or the call sign of the vehicle allocated 
h) The time at which the driver was allocated the booking 
i) The name or call sign of the driver allocated to the booking 
j) If the booking is subject of cross-border hiring the company who has received 

the booking and the authority that company is licensed with must be recorded. 
 
Records kept in accordance with the above shall be preserved for a period of not 
less than 2 years following the date of the last entry. 
 
The Operator shall keep at his/her operating base premises records of the following 
information in relation to all Private Hire Vehicles operated by him/her such records 
to be in the form attached or in such other form as the Council shall have previously 
approved. 
 

a) Vehicle registration number and licence number 
b) The make and colour 
c) Name and address of licensed proprietor/owner 
d) Name and address of licensed driver(s) of the vehicle and badge numbers 
e) The licences of drivers and vehicles will be retained by the Operator whilst 

ever they are working for them. The licences of drivers must be returned when 
they leave your employment 

f) The above records will be produced on request to any constable or authorised 
officer of the Council for inspection at any reasonable time and on renewal of 
the licence. 

 
2. Insurance 
 
The Operator shall keep, after having first seen the original, a copy of all cover notes 
and certificates of insurance issued to the said drivers/proprietors.  The dates shown 
on such documents must show continuation of cover throughout the period that the 
vehicle is working in connection with the said Operator.  When a "block" policy is held 
by the Operator a full list of all vehicles and drivers covered should be kept for at 
least one year. 
 

a) Name and address of insurance company (and broker if applicable) insuring 
the use of the vehicle 

page 107



 

87 

 

b) Date of commencement of any policy of insurance and of any cover notes 
issued with policy and cover note numbers relating to the use of the vehicle 

c) Date of expiry of the policy and of any cover notes issued 
d) Persons entitled under the terms of the policy to drive the vehicle and details 

of any limitations as to use (e.g. Private Hire or Public Hire). 
 

3. Standard of Service 
 
The Operator shall at all reasonable times provide a prompt, efficient and reliable 
service to members of the public and shall in particular ensure that: 
 

a) When a vehicle has been hired to attend at an appointed time and place the 
vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, attend 
punctually 

b) The premises provided by the Operator will be within the Borough or at 
premises approved by the Council within a distance that affords easy access 
to officers of the Council. The premises, either for waiting or booking shall be 
kept clean, adequately heated, ventilated and well-lit with adequate seating 
provided 

c) Any telephone facilities and dispatch equipment are maintained in an effective 
working order 

d) Any complaints received by the Operator shall be referred in writing to the 
Council, together with any action taken, where appropriate 

e) All vehicles operated by him/her shall be maintained in a satisfactory and 
roadworthy condition; and they shall ensure that any defects to vehicles are 
recorded and corrected 

f) The Operator shall ensure, without prejudice to any other liabilities imposed 
under the Act, that all vehicles and drivers owned, controlled or operated in 
association with the Operator shall observe and perform the conditions of their 
licence 

g) The Operator will monitor drivers’ working hours to ensure they are safe to 
transport the public. Although there is no legal framework for taxi drivers’ 
hours, it is incumbent upon the Operator to ensure drivers do not work long 
hours and that they are fit to drive and thus will not put the public at risk. 

 
4. Reference to the Council 
 
It shall be the duty of the licensed Operator to inform the Council of the following: 
 

a) Any arrest or convictions incurred by him or any partner, director or company 
secretary during the period of the licence for any offence.  They must be 
reported to the Council in writing within 48 hours of arrest and in the case of 
convictions within seven days 

b) Change of address, in writing within seven days. 
 
5. Driver and Vehicle Identification - Keeping of Records 
 
A record will be kept of all vehicle identification numbers and the vehicle and drivers 
to which vehicle identification number refers.  In the event of a vehicle identification 
being allocated for a temporary period, a record must be kept of the relevant dates 
and the vehicle and driver concerned.  

page 108



 

88 

 

6. Driver and Vehicle Licences 
 

It shall be the duty of the licensed Operator to ensure that the licences of all vehicles 
and drivers that are currently working for them are current, irrespective of any 
manager or assistants they may employ. 
 

7. Complaint Book 
 
Each Operator shall keep records of all complaints made to him/her or his/her agents 
or managers relative to any aspect of his/her business or persons at that time 
working with or employed by that Operator.  The records shall be available at all 
times for inspection by an authorised officer of the Council. 
 
8. Door Signs/Advertisements 
 
When an Operator wishes to provide drivers/proprietors with door advertising panels 
the below procedure must be followed: 
 

a) The door sign/panels shall be approved by an Authorised Officer of the 
Council, before being taken into use 

b) It shall contain the name of the company, the telephone number, and the 
words “Advanced Bookings Only” 

c) It shall not show the words "TAXI” or any word of similar meaning or 
appearance which may be taken to indicate that the vehicle is a Hackney 
Carriage which is licensed to ply for hire 

d) It shall be displayed on either one or both sides of the vehicle only in the form 
originally authorised by the Council unless agreed otherwise by the Council 

e) No other signage or advertisements will be displayed on the vehicle without 
prior approval of the Council, and in no circumstances will they obscure the 
view into the vehicle from outside to ensure passenger safety. 
 

9. Planning Consent for Operating Base 
 
Planning consent for each operating base must be maintained during the period of a 
licence.  Any material change since the licence was granted in any of the 
circumstances of the Operator, on the basis of which the licence was granted, must 
be reported to the Council immediately. 
 
Failure to comply with the conditions set out in this document may result in penalty 
points being awarded against you and/or your licence being suspended or revoked 
  

page 109



 

89 

 

Appendix M Enforcement and Penalty Points Scheme 

Rushcliffe Borough Council operate the above scheme to raise the awareness of 
operators, owners and drivers and also to assist in the enforcement of the conditions 
attached to licenses and some aspects of the provisions of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
The scheme will operate from the date of issue of any of the driver’s, vehicle or 
operator’s licence, and should a breach of the condition or Act be detected, points 
may be issued against the licence holder, up to the maximum values shown on the 
table below. 
 
The trigger level will be 12 points in a rolling three-year period. See section 11.3 for 
the operation of this scheme. 
 

Enforcement and Penalty Points Scheme table of points 

Driver Points 

Offence Points 

Using a mobile phone without the use of hands-free facility 
whilst driving or whilst the vehicle is stationary with the engine 
running 

6 

Failure to display your licence badge in a visible position 3 

Failure to produce relevant documents within a specified 
timescale when requested by an Authorised Officer in writing* 

3 

Unsatisfactory appearance of vehicle, interior or exterior* 4 

Double parking on a highway or, if pre-booked, failure to move 
on after 5 minutes from double yellow lines when requested by 
an authorized officer 

3 

Fail to carry legal spare wheel OR inflation kit? 3  

Obstruction of any authorised officer or police officer 9 

Failure to immediately notify the Licensing Section of a change 
in medical circumstances that may affect your ability to drive or 
the safe transportation of passengers (including eyesight)** 

12 

Unsatisfactory appearance of driver (dress and cleanliness) in 
accordance with RBC Hackney Carriage licence conditions / 
Unsatisfactory Appearance of the Driver 

4 

Failure to observe rank discipline in accordance with RBC 
Hackney Carriage Drivers licence conditions / Unauthorised 
parking on Taxi Rank or failing to adhere to rank discipline  

4 

Failing to issue receipt on request 3 

Unsatisfactory behaviour or conduct of driver 6-12* 

Failure to notify the Licensing Service immediately of any 
change of particulars including motoring or criminal 
convictions, cautions, change of address etc. 

3 

Failing to give reasonable assistance with loading/unloading 
luggage 

4 

Sounding horn to cause alarm or distress 3 

page 110



 

90 

 

Failure to report within 72 hours of an accident or damage to a 
licensed vehicle* 

4 

Failing to attend punctually at specified time and place or 
unreasonable prolongation of journey 

3 

Carrying more passengers than amount stated on plate 12 

Refusing to accept hiring without reasonable cause 6 

Failure to ensure that all wheelchairs being carried in a 
licensed vehicle have been correctly loaded, secured and 
unloaded 

6 

Failure to hand in lost property to the operator, or for hackney’s 
failure to make sufficient enquiries to return property to its 
lawful owner 

9-12 

Failing to comply with any RBC vehicle/driver/operator 
conditions that are not stated above 

3-12** 

PH drivers parking in a position or location which gives the 
appearance of being for hire, whilst not on a pre booking. 

4 

Driver of PH vehicle plying for hire (where not prosecuted or 
revoked) 

9-12* 

Failure to surrender driver badge to the Licensing Authority 
upon expiry, revocation or suspension of their licence when 
requested by Licensing Staff 

6 

Failing to take steps to ensure passenger safety 4 

Failing to ensure passengers are dropped off 
safely, at the correct destination 

3 

Charging more than the metered fare/ Demanding more than 
the previously agreed fare 

4 

Failure to co-operate with any authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority, Constable or any other clearly identifiable 
person nominated by the Licensing Authority 

4 

Failure to keep a record of bookings in the Private Hire Vehicle. 
This can be computerised/electronic or written 

3 

 

Vehicle 

Offence Points 

Unsatisfactory appearance of vehicle, interior or exterior* 4 

Failure to display external licence plates* 6 

First aid kit 3 

Displaying unsuitable, inappropriate or unauthorized signs or 
advertisements in or on the vehicle 

3 

Using a non-calibrated taximeter or tampering with the meter or 
seals in any way 

7 

Failure to clearly display a current table of fares card and/or all 
other internal signs/notices required to be in the vehicle  

3 

Failure to supply interim MOT test when vehicle is over 5 years 
of age 

4 

Failure to maintain seat belts in a safe condition 3 

Failure to display approved roof sign or maintain in working 
order 

3 

page 111



 

91 

 

Failure to display front door signs. 4 

Display sign that does not comply with policy 4 

Failure to display a visible “no smoking” sign 
in the vehicle 

4 

Private Hire Vehicle displaying the word “taxi” 6 

Failure to return plate on expiry of licence if 
requested to do so by Licensing Staff 

5 

Failure to report loss or damage of a vehicle plate, following 
discovery of loss or damage. 

3 

Failure to have insurance for the licensed vehicle 12* 

Failure to provide copy of insurance/cover note during 
inspection 

6 

Using CCTV equipment not in accordance with the provisions 
of the conditions and the Data Protection Act (if installed) 

6 

 

Operator 

Offence Proposed 
change or New 

Operating more vehicles than stated on licence 4 

Failure to obtain and maintain insurance on vehicle 9 

Failure to operate the business in a manner which does not 
cause nuisance to the public or to persons in nearby premises 

4 

Failure to provide a prompt, efficient or reliable 
service 

3 

Knowingly allowing a greater number of persons in the licensed 
vehicle than is prescribed on the licence 

9 

Failure to comply with planning permission or 
licence conditions for number of vehicles 
permitted 

4 

Fail to notify Licensing Authority of change of 
address 

6 

Failure to keep proper records for a period of not less than 
twelve months 

6 

Failure to keep records of all drivers employed or failure to 
produce details of the drivers 

3 

Using unlicensed drivers to drive a RBC vehicle 12 

Failure to keep a written record of all complaints or failure to 
make available to the Licensing Authority 

4 

Failure to record, maintain or provide details of 
checks on dispatch staff in a register 

4 

Failure to carry out or provide the required DBS checks on 
dispatch staff 

6 

 

 

  

page 112



 

92 

 

Appendix N Rushcliffe Borough Council’s Code of Conduct When working with 

Vulnerable Passengers 

A vulnerable passenger is a passenger whose age or disability means that they are 
more susceptible to harm than a typical passenger. This may be a child, an elderly 
person or somebody with learning difficulties, for example. When working with 
vulnerable persons the following points should be observed: 
 

• Drivers should carry photo-identification at all times, and wear it in accordance 
with the conditions of licence 

 

• The driver/operator must confirm that appropriate provision has been made for 
the vulnerable person prior to accepting the booking or commencing the 
journey. This does not necessarily mean that the driver/operator is responsible 
for the provision of appropriate measures. However, they should check that 
they are in place 
 

• When making a journey with vulnerable passengers, photo-identification 
should be produced to the carer responsible for the vulnerable person. If 
necessary, the driver/operator should obtain a record of the carer’s contact 
details if there is no chaperone 

 

• If a vulnerable passenger is refused service a responsible person should be 
informed so that alternative arrangements can be made. For example, this 
situation may arise if the customer has an assistance dog and the driver has a 
medical exemption granted by the Council 

 

• Always ask if a vulnerable passenger needs help, do not assume 
 

• Drivers should remain professional at all times and should not: 
 

• Touch a vulnerable person inappropriately 

• Make offensive or inappropriate comments (such as the use of 
swearing or sexualised or discriminatory language) 

• Behave in a way that may make a vulnerable passenger feel 
intimidated or threatened 

• Attempt to misuse personal details obtained via the business about a 
vulnerable person. 

 

• A log should be maintained by drivers when a service has been provided to a 
vulnerable passenger including the details of any incidents occurring / actions 
taken or refusals of service 

 

• If the driver/operator is concerned about the safety, welfare or behaviour of a 
vulnerable person, they should report this to the police by telephoning 101 (or 
in appropriate cases by calling 999) 
 

• If the driver/operator is concerned about someone else’s conduct, they should 
report their concerns to the police (101) or Crimestoppers (0800 555 111) or 
the Safeguarding hub on 0300 500 80 90  

page 113



 

93 

 

Appendix O Guidance Notes on Driver Working Hours – Do I need a break? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 

 

  

REMEMBER TIREDNESS KILLS – TAKE A BREAK  

Have you driven for 4.5 hours? 

Yes 

 

No 

Have you had any breaks? Have you done 6 hours work? 

Yes No Yes 

Was your break 

less than 45 

minutes? 

No 

Take a 45 

minute 

break 

Take a 15 

minute 

break 

No break 

required 

Yes 

Was the 

break more 

than 15 

minutes? 

Yes 

No 

Take a further 

30 minute break 

Take a further 

45 minute break 

page 114



 

94 

 

Appendix P Policy in respect of requests for information, disclosure of information, 

and use of information as a result of an entry on NR3S. 

In this policy, the ‘first authority’ refers to a licensing authority which made a specific 
entry onto the National Register of Refusals and Revocations; the ‘second authority’ 
refers to a licensing authority which is seeking more detailed information about the 
entry. 
 
1. Overarching principles 

This policy covers the use that this authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council will make of 
the ability to access and use information contained on the National Register of Taxi 
Licence Revocations and Refusals (NR3S). The NR3S contains information relating 
to any refusal to grant, or revocation of, a taxi driver’s licence. This information is 
important in the context of a subsequent application to another authority for a driver’s 
licence by a person who has had their licence refused or revoked in the past. 

This authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, has signed up to the NR3S. This means 
that when an application for a taxi driver’s licence is refused, or when an existing taxi 
drivers’ licence is revoked, that information will be placed upon the register. 

When an application for a new driver’s licence, or renewal of an existing driver’s 
licence is received, this authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council will make a search of 
the NR3S. The search will only be made by an officer who has been trained in the 
use of the NR3S and who is acting in accordance with this policy. If details are found 
that appear to relate to the applicant, a request will be made to the authority that 
entered that information for further details. Any information that is received from any 
other authority in relation to an application will only be used in relation to that 
application, and the determination of it, and will not be used for any other purpose. 
Any data that is received will only be kept for as long as is necessary in relation to 
the determination of that application. This will include the period of processing that 
application, making a decision, notifying the applicant of the outcome of that 
decision, and the appeal processes. 

For the avoidance of doubt, any such data will be kept for a period of no more 
than 35 days from the date of the service of the written notification of the 
determination of the application. Where an appeal to the magistrates’ court is 
made, the data will be retained until that appeal is determined or abandoned. Where 
the appeal is determined by the magistrates’ court, there is a further right of appeal to 
the Crown Court. In these circumstances, the data will be retained for a period 
of no more than 35 days from the date of the decision of the magistrates’ court. 
If an appeal is made to the Crown Court, the data will be retained until that appeal is 
determined or abandoned. Where the appeal is determined by the magistrates’ 
court or the Crown Court, it is possible to appeal the decision by way of case stated. 
Accordingly, the data will be retained for a period of no more than 35 days from the 
date of the decision of the Crown Court (if the decision was made by the magistrates’ 
court, the retention period has already been addressed). If an appeal by way of case 
stated is made, the data will be retained until all court proceedings relating to that 
appeal by way of case stated (note 1) (which will include potential appeals to the 
Court of Appeal and Supreme Court) have been determined. (see note 2). 

page 115



 

95 

 

The data will be held securely in accordance with this authority’s Rushcliffe Borough 
Council general policy on the secure retention of personal data which is available at  

Information Retention.pdf, see also  

rushcliffe.gov.uk/privacy/  and  

Data protection subject access request 

At the end of the retention period, the data will be erased and/or destroyed in 
accordance with this authority’s general policy on the erasure and destruction of 
personal data. 

Note 1 

Any appeal by way of case stated must be lodged within 21 days of the decision of 
either the magistrates’ court or the Crown Court (see The Criminal Procedure Rules 
R35.2). To ensure that the information is available if an appeal is lodged by way of 
case stated and there is a dispute over time periods, a period of 35 days is specified. 

Note 2  

Decisions of the local authority, magistrates’ Court and Crown Court are also 
susceptible to judicial review. Generally, any right of appeal should be exercised in 
preference to judicial review, but there are occasions when leave has been granted 
for judicial review in the circumstances. Any application for judicial review must be 
made “promptly; and in any event not later than three months after the grounds to 
make the claim first arose” (see The Civil Procedure Rules R54.5). If an application 
for judicial review is made after any relevant data has been destroyed, this authority 
will request the information again and then retain that information until all court 
proceedings relating to that judicial review (which will include potential appeals to the 
Court of Appeal and Supreme Court) have been determined. 

2. Making a request for further information regarding an entry on NR3S 

When an application is made to Rushcliffe Borough Council, for the grant of a new, 

or renewal of, a taxi driver’s licence, this authority will check the NR3S. This authority 

will make and then retain a clear written record of every search that is made of the 

register. This will detail: 

• the date of the search 

• the name or names searched 

• the reason for the search (new application or renewal) 

• the results of the search 

• the use made of the results of the search (this information will be entered to 

the register at a later date). 

This record will not be combined with any other records (i.e. combined with a 

register of licences granted) and will be retained for the retention period of 11 years. 

If Rushcliffe Borough Council discovers any match (i.e. there is an entry in the 

page 116

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/media/1rushcliffe/media/documents/pdf/strategiesandpolicies/RBC_InformationRetention.pdf
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/privacy/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/aboutus/aboutthecouncil/dataprotection/subjectaccessrequest/


 

96 

 

register for the same name and identifying details) a request will be made to the 

authority that entered those details (the first authority) for further information about 

that entry. That request will also include details of this authority’s (Rushcliffe Borough 

Council’s) data protection policy in relation to the use of any data that is obtained as 

a result of this process. This request will be made in writing. 

It will be posted or emailed to the contact address of the authority that entered those 

details (the first authority) which will be detailed in the register. 

3. Responding to requests made for information regarding an entry on NR3S 

When this authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council receives a request for further 

information from another authority a clear written record will be made of the request 

having been received. This record will not be combined with any other records (i.e. 

combined with a register of licences granted) and will be retained for the retention 

period of 11 years. 

This authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, will then determine how to respond to the 

request. It is not lawful to simply provide information as a blanket response to every 

request. This authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, will conduct a Data Protection 

Impact Assessment. This will consider how the other authority (the second authority) 

will use the data, how it will store that data to prevent unauthorised disclosure, the 

retention period for that data, and the mechanism for erasure or destruction of the 

data at the end of that period. It is expected that if the second authority has adopted 

a policy similar to this, that should be a reasonably straightforward process. 

If this authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, is satisfied that the other authority’s (the 

2nd authority) data protection procedures are satisfactory, consideration will then be 

given as to what information will be disclosed. This will be determined by an officer 

who has been trained to discharge this function. 

Any disclosure must be considered and proportionate, taking into account the data 

subject’s rights and the position and responsibilities of a taxi driver. Data is held on 

the NR3S register for a period of 11 years (currently), but this authority, Rushcliffe 

Borough Council (the 1st authority), will not disclose information relating to every 

entry. Each application will be considered on its own merits. 

This authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, will disclose information relating to a 

revocation or refusal to grant a driver’s licence in accordance with the timescales 

contained within the Institute of Licensing’s “Guidance on Determining the Suitability 

of Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades" available at 

Institute of licensing. Where the reason for refusal to grant or revocation relates to a 

conviction (or similar as defined in the IoL guidance) which is within the timescales 

determined in those guidelines, the information will be disclosed. Where the reason 

for refusal to grant or revocation relates to a conviction (or similar as defined in the 

IOL guidance) which is outside the timescales determined in those guidelines, the 

page 117



 

97 

 

information will not be disclosed. However, in every case, consideration will be given 

to the full circumstances of the decision and there may be occasions where 

information is provided other than in accordance with this policy. 

Any information about convictions will be shared in accordance with this policy under 

part 2 of schedule 1 to the Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018; that is, the processing is 

necessary for reasons of substantial public interest in connection with the exercise of 

a function conferred on the authority by an enactment or rule of law. 

The officer will record what action was taken and why. This authority, Rushcliffe 

Borough Council, will make and then retain a clear written record of every decision 

that is made as a result of a request from another authority. This will detail: 

• the date the request was received 

• how the data protection impact assessment was conducted and its 

conclusions 

• the name or names searched 

• whether any information was provided 

• if information was provided, why it was provided (and details of any further 

advice 

obtained before the decision was made) 

• if information was not provided, why it was not provided (and details of any 

further 

advice obtained before the decision was made) and 

• how and when the decision (and any information) was communicated to the 

requesting authority. 

This record will not be combined with any other records (i.e. combined with a register 

of licences granted) and will be retained for the retention period of 25 years. 

4. Using any information obtained as a result of a request to another authority. 

When this authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, receives information as a result of a 

request that has been made to another authority, it will take that information into 

account when determining the application for the grant or renewal of a taxi drivers’ 

licence. This will be in accordance with the usual process for determining 

applications as set out earlier in this policy, Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy, Rushcliffe Borough Council’s policy for determining applications. 

This authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council, will make and then retain a clear written 

record of the use that is made of the results of the search (this information will be 

added to the register detailed above). 

Information that is received may warrant significant weight being attached to it, but it 

will not be the sole basis for any decision that this authority, Rushcliffe Borough 

Council, will make in relation to the application. 

page 118



 

98 

 

Appendix Q Confidential Reporting Code (Whistle-blowing policy)  

 
Whistleblowing for employees  
 
Whistle Blowing 

This policy relates to the reporting of allegations of illegalities or wrong doings in the 
taxi/private hire trades regulated by Rushcliffe Borough Council’s licensing service. 

Such reports may be considered as “whistleblowing” and there exists legislation to 
protect such individuals in certain circumstances. You will be considered a whistle-
blower if you’re a worker and you report certain types of wrongdoing, so as an 
employed Private Hire driver for example. This will usually be something you’ve seen 
at work. 

The wrongdoing you disclose must be in the public interest. This means it must affect 
others, for example the general public.  

Private Hire and Hackney Drivers or others in the taxi trade can raise any concerns 
with Rushcliffe Borough Council directly.  Any information will be treated 
confidentially, taken seriously, and appropriately investigated.  

A taxi driver or other person employed in the Taxi/Private Hire trade may choose to 
contact Rushcliffe Licensing anonymously by submitting evidence, along with any 
other relevant details, via Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk. In these cases a reporter may 
lose their whistleblowing law rights. 

As such we would encourage any person aware or wrong doings in the taxi trade 
occurring in Rushcliffe to report the matter to Rushcliffe Licensing service with their 
full details to enable officers to ask for further information and attain the best 
evidence possible. Reporters will not have a say in how the concern is dealt with but 
can be kept updated as far as confidentiality rules allow. In these circumstances 
where the reporter makes it clear at the outset, that they do not want anyone else to 
know it was them who raised the concern, then reports will be treated confidentially 
and we will do all we can to ensure details of the reporter will not be released. 

Employed individuals might be able to benefit from the protections in whistleblowing 
legislation depending on their status and way of working. If an individual is unsure if 
they are protected, independent advice should be sought, for example from Citizens’ 
Advice.  More information is available on the Government’s website - 
gov.uk/whistleblowing 

An employer may also have a whistleblowing policy and in this case any person with 
a concern to raise should also review their policy in deciding a course of action. 
Rushcliffe Borough Council Licensing do not require Private Hire Operators to have a 
specific policy on whistleblowing but we do encourage the adoption of such policies. 
Larger organisations are likely to have a policy covering whistleblowing in relation to 
their employees. 

page 119

mailto:Licensing@rushcliffe.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/whistleblowing. 


 

99 

 

In all cases if a crime is being or has been committed, drivers and others should 
report this to the Police either by calling 999/101 or making a report after the event to 
Nottinghamshire police. Nottinghamshire Police - report online 

Where employees of Rushcliffe Borough Council have any concerns about the legal 

and correct application of legislation or policy in respect of regulating the taxi trade or 

generally about the licencing function Rushcliffe Borough Council has an internal 

confidential reporting policy available at: 

Documents Strategies and Policies to enable confidential reporting, investigation and 

response.”

page 120

https://www.nottinghamshire.police.uk/do-it-online/report-online
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/


 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Intentionally Blank page 

page 121



 

 
 

 

page 122



 

 

Summary of proposed changes to the 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2025-2030 
 
 
The Taxi Policy is reviewed periodically and in line with current guidance and statute. Rushcliffe 

Borough Council undertake this on a rolling 5-year period and additionally throughout the policy it 

will be updated as new legislation or guidance is published and kept track of via a changes table 

at the start of the document. 

As such a number of minor changes have already taken place over the preceding 5 years as 

indicated in the change log under the current published policy on the Council’s website and 

authorised by the Executive Manager for Neighbourhoods.  

However, this current update is an opportunity to make more substantial changes and is subject 

to public/trade consultation. The current changes are proposed to arrest the decline of the 

Hackney capacity, increase efficiency and lower overall costs. Taking a pragmatic approach to 

licencing but still maintaining safety 

It should be noted that Hackneys (currently the black cabs) in particular are at an all-time low in 

Rushcliffe, there being only 7 Hackneys licenced, and are falling due to increase vehicle costs 

and the predominance of Private Hires who are offering fast bespoke pickup service. 

The table below sets out the areas of important changes in the policy showing current element 

and the proposed change with a comment where necessary, but it should be remembered the 

document has been reviewed as a total and amendments made through out. The policy however 

should be read in its entirety. 

 
This consultation was for 6-weeks using Survey Monkey and responses have been considered 

before final recommendations (endorsement) to the licensing committee in October 2025. The 

survey covers the 2 June 2025 to 14 July. 

The policy will require approval at Council in November 2025 and the approved policy will take 

effect on the  27 November 2025 and remain in force for 5 years. 

As legislation and guidance changes take place subsequently the policy will be updated and a log 

kept of ongoing approvals via delegated powers.. 

page 123



 

 

Table showing the major changes to be implemented in the November/December 2025 policy. 
 
 
 
  

Current approach Proposed change Note 

Section 2 legislation references Updated to include new Acts/guidance  

4. Delegations  Confirms that delegations’ arrangements 
for refusals and suspensions etc 

 

6.1 Fit and proper  Updated definition Emphasise safeguarding 

6.2 Currently we have a registration 
process, then application process and a 
fee for each. The driver can take 3-4 
months to go through the registration 
completion requirements. If he/she pulls 
out there is no application fee to refund. 
Subsequently they then apply online and 
pay the fee references or re-submitting 
their pre app documents. 

Propose to remove the registration 
element (and fee). Have a single 
application process moving forward. 
Should the applicant fail in time to provide 
the required documents then they will be 
refused. Refunds will normally not be 
permitted (only administrative refunds e.g. 
if they paid twice, withdrawn promptly or 
authorised by formal complaint). 
 
Complaints about refusing to refund 
applicant will be directed to corporate 
complaints process. 
 
Applications are to be determined in 3 
months  and may be refused if not 
complete or pending further supporting 
documents (as not fit and proper being 
demonstrated) 
 
This is a major change. 

The registration process was introduced to 
prevent applications remaining on our 
system for many months as pending driver 
requirements. We now have an online 
portal. For this to work best we are placing 
the onus on the driver to have details 
ready to apply and where documentation 
is not supplied applying a 3-month period 
before we determine. When 3 months is 
reached, if not fit and proper we will 
refuse. The system will encourage known 
failure points e.g. the knowledge test to be 
undertaken prior to applying. 

We introduced twice annual DBS checks; Amended to twice yearly checks for DBS This section wasn’t changed prior but was 

page 124



 

 

it is noted that this section still refers to 
annual checks 

and confirms can be suspended/revoked if 
not provided.  

in another part of the policy. As such this 
corrects an error. 

Asylum seekers are not specifically 
mentioned currently 

We have included a comment on how to 
deal with Asylum seekers applications as 
drivers 

Allows exemption to certificates of good 
conduct as their country will/can’t provide. 
DBS is still required. Any applicant must 
have the right to work to be granted a 
licence. Asylum seekers do not usually 
have permission to work and when they 
do it is limited and conditioned. 

6.5 Knowledge tests. All drivers to 
complete, current limit of 3 test for KT. 

A taxi driver is still required to undertake 
the KT. However, we are allowing an 
alternative such that drivers can undertake 
the more demanding and expensive 
Green Penny test. Multiple tests can be 
taken with no limit, paying for each test. 
Medium change 

This is mostly done by SEND drivers and 
avoids duplication. SEND drivers are on 
contract and the Green Penny or other 
approved is highly focused on 
safety/safeguarding. 

6.5 English test. All drivers need to 
demonstrate their ability to speak and 
write read English to an acceptable level 

Emphasises that cheating will be dealt 
with seriously and can lead to refusal. 
Multiple tests can be taken, no limit. 

There have been a couple of instances of 
attempted cheating. 
Not every driver requires a test, only 
where no UK qualification can be provided 

6.6 Medicals are required at certain age Clarifies when a medical is required to be 
provided. From prior to within 3 months of 
the application. 

If an applicant fails the medical, the 
application is likely to be refused 

6.7 EUSS, the European settle scheme is 
included 

This is removed as it is now ended Cannot stay in the policy 

Duration of licence is three years. Suggest one year for new entrants as the 
cost of a three year may be prohibitive or 
not preferred 

Not a change but seeks to guide better. 

Safeguarding training Training is now combined safeguarding 
and disability training into one course 

Confirms as we are now delivering. Not a 
change in reality 

Right to work is required to be 
demonstrated & link to asylum seekers 

Clarifies what needs to be provided due to 
changes in these documents and 

There is a legal requirement not to grant a 
licence to those that cannot demonstrate 

page 125



 

 

schemes. 
Asylum seekers are also included as a 
group as they have difficulty in providing 
certain documents. 
 

their right to work however Asylum 
seekers do not usually have permission to 
work and when they do it is conditioned. 

NR3S Wording reworded and includes 
“suspension”, reduced wording same 
effect 
Retention period has been reduced 

No change in reality, conciseness change 

Private Hire Vehicles/Hackney Carriage 
application process is an online form 
now.: Currently requires an MOT, 
Compliance test, insurance and v5. Tests 
are booked by admin. 

It is proposed to remove the additional 
compliance test and rely on the MOT 
standards. The MOT will be required 
within 14 days before the application at 
RBC approved garage. No additional 
compliance test at application is required. 
 
As the application process is online we will 
accept scanned or photos of documents. 
Brand new vehicles will not require a mot 
or other test.   
 
This is a major change. 

Currently a vehicle has be to be tested 
twice and this appears to be unnecessary. 
This will save time on booking and 
rebooking compliance tests. Drivers will 
manage their own MOT booking with the 
garages. 
 
 

Currently we will accept an application 
from any vehicle up to 12 years old and 
14 for specially adopted vehicles. 
Vehicles over 5 years old require to be 
tested every 6 months so are granted a 6-
month license not 12 months. 

The original consultation proposed to 
accept only NEW vehicles that are less 
than 5 years to the fleet. Following 
comments we propose this to be 8 Years 
Those that are older but are currently 
licenced can renew up to 15 years old. 
Those vehicles 0 to <8 will be granted a 1-
year licence. Those vehicles that are >=8-
15 will be issued a 6-month licence.  The 
licence fee is the same. 

This seeks to see improvements in the 
fleet be only accepting newer vehicles as 
new Hackney/Private Hire Vehicles to 
Rushcliffe. (see additional notes at the 
bottom following consultation we 
propose 8 years not 5 years) 
 
Those vehicles renewed, we will have a 
record for and drivers are incentivised to 
remain with us. If they miss the renewal 

page 126



 

 

EXEMPTION: Electric and ZEV not limited 
age. SEND (Special Educational needs) 
vehicles not age limited on renewal. 
 
New table included in policy in 7.3 
This is a major change. 

date by a short period we will allow the 
renewal, e.g. no more than a week has 
elapsed. 
 
We wish to keep low emission and 
specially adapted vehicles that are 
generally lower mileage and perform a 
necessary public function. 
 

7.1 Application process for vehicles 
Currently requires MOT and then we 
arrange a taxi test in addition. 

Updated to include online and digital 
evidence. 
Simplified process requiring all evidence 
to be provided on application. MOT at 
RBC garage is required within 14 days 
prior to applying. 
Applicant to arrange and pay direct to the 
garage. No further taxi test is required 

Reduces cost (enable fees to be 
maintained lower) and streamline this 
process. Enables the applicant (Driver) to 
self-manage the testing with the garage. 
Stops the need for duplicate testing of a 
vehicle. 

7.7 Hackneys must be black and London 
cab type (in Appendix F) 
 

Hackneys must be one colour gloss but no 
colour specified. Appendix F contains 
specification, but this will be the same as 
a private hire. So not a black London cab. 
Must have ‘For Hire’ roof sign. 
This is a major change. 

Will encourage more Hackneys. Other 
LAs in the area have adopted this 
approach. Will need consultation with the 
trade. 

7.8 Fire extinguishers These will become optional, but where 
fitted must work. 

Advice is to get safe, not to tackle any fire. 

9.1 operators’ length of a licence. States 
should be 5 years 

We will accept 1-5 years application.  Cost of a 5 year can be high and this acts 
as a barrier to new operators. Restates 
what is currently happening 

9.2 Entitlement to work. 
 

Reemphasised for operators 
Restates the need to remain fit and proper 
and to be adequately trained 

no major changes 

9.9 Operator responsibility Emphasises the need to cooperate and  

page 127



 

 

act with integrity and honesty. 
 

9.12 9.12 To apply for a new PHO 
licence use the following link. 

New wording on how to access the online 
application process 

 

11.3 Drivers’ points is in place. Currently 
12 points in any 12 months can lead to 
referral to committee. 

move to 12 points in 36 months as the 
trigger and points are retain for longer e.g. 
from 12 to 36 months. 
 
This is a significant change 

Points are handed out but rarely a driver 
has been to committee. The increased 
period will keep points on for longer and 
ensure repeat offenders are more likely to 
be brough to committee. Improve driver 
standards 

Appendix A sets out the driver’s 
application process 

Updated to remove the registration 
process 
Changes as indicated above repeated. 
Asylum considerations included now 
Advised to complete KT if applicable, note 
exemptions apply e.g. have done Green 
Penny or are a local driver with Gedling, 
Broxtowe, Nottingham city. 
Application documents re-ordered to 
indicate the most cost-effective way to 
apply, list has been amended 

 

Appendix B DBS Removes attendance requirement, can be 
online. Changed to should rather than 
must for DBS subscription. 

If they don’t subscribe they are suspended 
following warning. Delegation already 
amended to allow SLO to authorise  

Appendix C convictions policy Reference made to the suitability 
guidance 
Section 5 onward replaced with the IOL 
guidance for convictions. 
Reference to penalty codes used by gov 
are referenced rather than copied. 
Significant change 

The IoL has recently undertaken a review 
of convictions policy and this is being used 
widely. Adoption is more likely to be 
consistent with other LAs . IOL has also 
referenced the .gov.uk website for driving 
offence codes. Is more concise and 
remains up to date. 

page 128



 

 

Appendix D Driver conditions. Section 6 updated to re-state the licence 
original is to be deposited with the 
operator and not a copy. 
 
Section 8 should be 6 monthly DBS 
checks. 
 
Section 9 includes disability in any 
training. 

A second original can be issued if the 
driver wishes to work for another operator. 
This helps prevent illegal working. 
 
We are currently doing 6 monthly checks. 
Updates what has already been agreed 

Appendix E Vehicle Application process Allows online document submission, 
payment, online document submission of 
the original. 
 
MOT must be within 14 days with the 
nominated garage.(before applying) 
 
NO COMPLIANCE TEST  
This is a major change. 

 

Appendix F Vehicle Specifications Changes to the age of vehicles is included 
as described above. 
 
Those that are older can renew up to 12 
years old. 
Those vehicles 0 to 7 will be granted a 1-
year licence. Those vehicles that are 7-15 
will be issued a 6-month licence. The 
licence fee is the same. 
EXEMPTION: Electric and ZEV not 
limited. SEND vehicles not limited on 
renewal. 
We will issue a licence for 6 months if the 
vehicle is in nearing 15 and meets the 

As discussed above this will allow more 
hackneys to be badged and provide an 
on-demand pick up service. Age 
restrictions will ensure only newer vehicles 
will come onto the fleet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 129



 

 

standards as opposed to only issuing a 
limited period licence. 
 
Hackney Carriages will need to meet the 
PHV standard and the black London cab 
specification is deleted. 
 
Specification for wheelchair accessible 
vehicles remain e.g. Special Adapted 
Vehicles or other larger wheelchair 
capable. 
 
Imperial conversion removed to avoid 
confusion in minimum acceptable 
dimensions. 
 
The executive plate requirements are 
amended to allow only for ‘executive 
work’. 
 
a fire extinguisher is NOT mandatory in 
the new policy. 
 
This is a major change. 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix H Hackney Carriage vehicle 
conditions 
 

Rewording to confirm cheques are not 
accepted.  
 
A fire extinguisher is NOT mandatory in 
the new policy. 
 

We are online payment unless in an 
emergency and then payment by phone 
will be permitted. 

Appendix I No material change May be undertaken on direction or as part 

page 130



 

 

of a police/partnership stop 

Appendix J No material change  

Appendix K No material change  

Appendix L No material change  

Appendix M Enforcement points scheme  Updated in certain areas. But these will 
last longer. 

These have been amended to improved 
implementation, consistent with other 
LA’s. 

Appendix P Changes to links and reduced retention for 
NR3S to 11 years from 25 

 

Through out Changes to designations or titles as 
necessary, formatting and numbering and 
tables. 
 
There are minor amendments to wording 
throughout the policy. 

 

 
 
Following consultation we are proposing a further change to the consultation version 
 
Additional Note/change 1 
We consulted on this  
Any NEW LICENSED application (as opposed to a renewal) vehicle will only be able to be licensed with the Council if its date of first 
registration as stated on the DVLA V5 document, is not older than five (5) years of age at the date of application. 
We propose to amend to (8) years of age, so the paragraph should be changed to  
Any NEW LICENSED application (as opposed to a renewal) vehicle will only be able to be licensed with the Council if its date of first 
registration as stated on the DVLA V5 document, is not older than eight (8) years of age at the date of application. 
Reason: 
This 8 years figure reflects that of neighbouring authorities that have a limit and comments received are accepted. 
 
Additional Note/change 2  
Comment received concerns allowing a driver to have multiple operators.  
On page 42 it is recommended to insert the following paragraph 

page 131



 

 

“Drivers wishing to work for more than one operator, should apply online to this service subsequent to receiving their initial driver’s 
licence. This service will normally issue an additional driver’s authorisation/licence for deposit at the additional operator’s office. 
There will be a charge for this request on the online form payable at the time of application. You may only request an operator that 
is currently licenced with Rushcliffe Borough Council.” 
It is expected that this fee will be nominal e.g. £18.70, the same as the cost of a replacement licence. 
Reason:  
Historically RBC have not permitted more than one operator, however the regulators code states this restriction should not be 
applied. Also comment received supports multi operators. 
 

page 132



 

 

 

Consultation on the review of the Rushcliffe Council Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Policy 
2025 to 2030 

Consultation Comments Response 
 

Consultee comment Response 

I support the changes to an extent. The increase of car use to 15 
years. The increase of a yearly MOT to 7 years only goes so far. 
Only licensing cars from new up to 5 years old is a barrier to entry 
not previously in force. Your regulatory changes do not go far 
enough in respect of the driver and still leave you less competitive 
than Nottingham city council. I was originally with Nottingham before 
joining Rushcliffe as you licensed up to 12 years. (I refuse to join 
Wolverhampton but welcome the fact that they have provided 
greater competition and lowered 
some unnecessary regulation) 
 
I would like to stay with Rushcliffe but you would have to match the 
yearly MOT up to 10 years old that Nottingham City Council have 
introduced. They also like 
you, license up to 15 years but 6 monthly MOT’s are enforced after 
10 years. I also believe they are cheaper. If my reading of your 
terms are correct, you require an MOT at an approved garage 
initially and that this negates the need for the follow up test, but the 
license fee and badge fees remain unchanged and I’m not clear if a 
fee would be paid (standard £45) to Ludlow hill or Mr Brown in 
addition So likely I’ll still be joining Nottingham as things stand 

• See comment 1 below 

• Fees are assess annually and often increase. 
The reduction in costs will therefore assist in not 
increasing fees. These can be average over 
several years to take into account variations. 
Rushcliffe look to full cost recovery but not to 
make a profit on average. 

 
 
 

In general I support the changes, however I believe further 
consultations with operators would be an advantage to both the 
council and more importantly the declining number of operators in 
the country. The council seriously need to look into the costs for a 
new application, fast approaching 600 pounds now with all the add 

• Operators have been consulted as part of this 
process. 

• Re costs See above 

page 133



 

 

 

Ons the government and council have in there wisdom increased. 
You mentioned in the outside the decreasing number of Hackney 
vehicles in the Borough, let's ask ourselves why, it's obviously 
because it is far cheaper to licence these vehicles in let's say 
Wolverhampton. Now having run a business for 
over 30 years I have seen massive changes in the industry and if 
these fees are increasing above inflation every year company's like 
ours will fold without any doubt.. 5 years ago we had over 50 drivers 
with new recruitment never an issue. Now we have 20 with not a 
single new driver being employed for over 3 years. I would love to 
talk at the next licencing committee and make them aware of the 
challenges we are facing due to ever increasing costs and no 
recruitment. The very first change the council need to change is the 
ridiculous KT.. an outdated test that holds no place in the 21st 
century. In its wisdom the government guide lines 
have recommended English tests. So a man driving a taxi for over 
30 years is expected to pay 50 pounds to keep his licence.. Surely if 
you are enforcing KT these should be adequate to acknowledge the 
applicant can read and talk English. Many thanks for the opportunity 
to voice my opinions and let's hope changes are indeed in the 
immediate future. 

• The Knowledge test is though important to 
ensure local knowledge and supports the 
English language requirement 

• Any consultee can attend the committee the 
date will be published. 

• The English test fee is only paid in very limited 
circumstances and a third party is used to avoid 
unbiased discrimination and to place the coast 
on the individual rather than all applicants 

I think it’s brilliant that there will no longer be a limit on KT. As 
sometimes people just fail them marginally. Excellent idea to make 
all SEND vehicles with no age restrictions from 1st December 2025. 
However will there be an exception for vehicles that are due to 
expire in sept/oct/november? 

• Positive comments noted 

• The policy will not come into effect until 
approved in Dec 2025. 

My only suggestion would be to allow drivers to work with Multiple 
operators as currently the licencing in Rushcliffe differs to that of 
Nottingham City Council which allows for a driver to be registered 
with multiple operators. 
This would help new drivers and operators to enable them to source 
income streams from multiple sources. 

• Noted. Officers are open to this. It is likely a 
working solution is to apply for one operator and 
subsequently apply for a licence copy to deposit 
at a second or third operator for a nominal fee. 
See comment 2 

This service has received a request from Nottinghamshire county 
council requesting cctv in all PHV/Taxis or encouragement to adopt. 

• See below comment 3 on cctv in vehicles 
 

page 134



 

 

 

The letter was NOT in response to this policy consultation but 
received during the consultation period. Letter 

 

Comment 1 

We consulted on this  

Any NEW LICENSED application (as opposed to a renewal) vehicle will only be able to be licensed with the Council if its date of 

first registration as stated on the DVLA V5 document, is not older than five (5) years of age at the date of application. 

We propose to amend to (8) years of age, so the paragraph should be changed to  

Any NEW LICENSED application (as opposed to a renewal) vehicle will only be able to be licensed with the Council if its date of 

first registration as stated on the DVLA V5 document, is not older than eight (8) years of age at the date of application. 

Reason: 

This 8 years figure reflects that of neighbouring authorities that have a limit and comments received are accepted. 

Comment 2  

Comment received concerns allowing a driver to have multiple operators.  

On page 42 it is recommended to insert the following paragraph 

“Drivers wishing to work for more than one operator, should apply online to this service subsequent to receiving their initial driver’s 

licence. This service will normally issue an additional driver’s authorisation/licence for deposit at the additional operator’s office. 

There will be a charge for this request on the online form payable at the time of application. You may only request an operator that 

is currently licenced with Rushcliffe Borough Council.” 

It is expected that this fee will be nominal e.g. £18.70, the same as the cost of a replacement licence. 

Reason:  

Historically RBC have not permitted more than one operator, however the regulators code states this restriction should not be 

applied. Also comment received supports multi operators. 

  

page 135



 

 

 

Comment 3 

CCTV: Comment on officer recommendations for cctv in vehicles. 

Pros Cons 

Driver 

• it will assist in cases where drivers are abused or 
assaulted (can be managed by voluntary cctv) 

• assist with disputes between driver and passenger 

• assist with any allegations of policy or criminal 
investigations. 

Driver 

• cost implications to both operator/driver and owner 

• legislative control over data would be an additional 
burden for taxi operators/drivers or owners 

• technical constraints and specification and the quality of 
the system needs to be determined.( £600-£900 plus 
possible ongoing) e.g. Bolsover system with 4eyez Taxi 
cctv is £621 installed. 

• Ensuring system is turned on and operating. System 
design can be such not able to turn off. 

• period of use can lead to recording private data when in 
private use unless able to turn off 

• Arrangements for the processing of cctv subject access 
requests and DPA requests will add a further burden on 
operators/drivers/owners 

•  

Passenger 

• increased perception of being in a safe place.  

• Assist and deter with any allegations of policy or criminal 
investigations. 

• assist with disputes between driver and passenger 
 

 

Passenger 

• cost implication to end user e.g. county council 
contracted transport e.g. SEN or public 

• it will record personal and private interactions between 
passengers. 

• where a passenger is not happy with being recorded 
how the driver deals with this.  

 

 RBC 

• The Casey report does not require or recommend CCTV 
it suggests the following: Recommendation 11: The 
Department for Transport should take immediate 
action to put a stop to ‘out of area taxis’ and bring in 

page 136



 

 

 

more rigorous statutory standards for local authority 
licensing and regulation of taxi drivers. RBC believe 
this is around standards of drivers and the following 
statutory guidance. 

• LGA have produced the following document on this 
subject 5.42 LGA Guidance developing an approach to 
mandatory CCTV in taxis and PHVs_WEB  in which the 
following is stated “Surveillance Camera Commissioner 
(SCC) and the Information Commissioners Office (ICO) 
may all raise concerns about the impact of mandatory 
CCTV systems on privacy,”. CCTV needs to be justified. 

• Officers have assessed the complaints data received 
into RBC. The number of complaints received are more 
directed at driver behaviour or vehicle standards than 
they are connecting a driver to a serious offence or 
safeguarding issue such as assault, sexual assault, 
sexual harassment, or substance misuse. Rushcliffe 
officers have not identified a need for cctv as a solution 
to a concern.  

• Mandated implementation, this will likely lead to a 
reduction in renewal and new driver applications. Eg 
Bolsover lost 40% of drivers when implemented 

• It is likely a DPIA will be required for compulsory CCTV, 
it is unlikely that this will meet entirely the ICO guidance 
and as such be liable for challenge lead to failing to 
comply with the ICO rules. 

• Decide on the use of audio if introduced. The ICO states 
it is “generally considered by the ICO to be more 
invasive of privacy than cameras and will therefore 
require much greater justification.” 

• There will be a need for consultation and engagement 
prior and a date set for when applications will be refused 
if they do not have CCTV of the right standard installed. 

page 137

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.42%20LGA%20Guidance%20developing%20an%20approach%20to%20mandatory%20CCTV%20in%20taxis%20and%20PHVs_WEB.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.42%20LGA%20Guidance%20developing%20an%20approach%20to%20mandatory%20CCTV%20in%20taxis%20and%20PHVs_WEB.pdf


 

 

 

Advanced notice and lead in time needed to be 
determined. 

• Increased costs to officer time for attaining and viewing 
cctv. 

• Difficulties in ensuring the cctv is being used when it 
should be. 

• Enforcement options when not being used. Eg 
suspension or points, will result in increased officer 
involvement 

• Possible data controller responsibilities, although if 
implemented as non mandated this remains with the 
operator/owner/driver e.g. as per Wolverhampton. 

• Need to develop a specification and supplier list. 

• It is non mandatory in the statutory guidance and hence 
RBC would need to justify the installation in every 
vehicle. Currently the ICO guidance says this is not 
proportionate. 

• Open to legal challenge by interested parties 

• A view would be needed from the councils cctv lead and 
legal services on the legality of including mandatory  

• Arrangements for the processing of cctv subject access 
requests and DPA requests will add a further burden on 
council 

  

  

 

Officer comments on cctv: 

At this time under current guidance, there is insufficient evidence to indicate that a mandatory cctv system in every licenced vehicle 

is ‘needed’ to address safety concerns. Cctv can only be installed where a need is identified. ICO guidance. 

Also mandated cctv will need to be subject to consultation with various bodies and stake holders. This was not initially proposed in 

this consultation and as such would need to be reconsulted and considered otherwise would be open to challenge. 

page 138



 

 

 

It is officers’ opinion is that applications for Driver, Vehicles and operators will reduce significantly if mandated if particularly there is 

no consistent approach across Nottinghamshire. 

It is the intention of this policy revision to be safe and efficient  in accordance with the regulators code, Regulators' Code. The 

implementation of a fleet wide cctv is contrary to this approach and it is believed encouraging voluntary cctv adoption is the best 

approach. 

Important note in response to NCC comment:  

The request by the County Council to have cctv in vehicles that transport SEND can be dealt with by the County Council by 

amending any contractual arrangements they have in place with transport suppliers.  

The NAFN register of drivers that have been refused, revoked or suspended is a national register, it is compulsory to be checked 

on application and now notifies any interested LA about a change in the driver’s status. This prevents circumvention/avoidance of a 

driver following action by any Local authority. It is this type of measure that is key to identifying poor drivers or those that become 

not ‘fit and proper’. Rushcliffe are clear that once a driver is not ‘fit and proper’ appropriate action will be taken and we have officer 

delegation to ensure it is prompt. 

Voluntary cctv is already encouraged by RBC. Until such time that it is mandated by statutory guidance. 

The “weak and ineffective taxi licensing arrangements that left the public at risk” which were in place in Rotherham cannot be 

assumed to be in place here at Rushcliffe. We have delegated decision making practices and fully follow statutory guidance and act 

promptly to safeguarding issues. The application process requires safeguarding training and regular safeguarding updates. The aim 

is to ensure that drivers are and remain fit and proper at all times and if not a driver will be suspended or revoked. We also work 

closely with partner agencies on enforcement and data sharing etc.  

 

page 139

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f4e14e2e90e071c745ff2df/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



page 141



page 142



page 143



page 144



        June 2012 

1 
 

        EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 
 
 

Name and brief description of proposal/project / policy / service being assessed: 
 
Revised hackney carriages and private hire licensing vehicles policy 2025-2030  

 
The Council is required to review it policy for Private hire and hackney carriage vehicles every 5 years.  

 
 

Information used to analyse the effects of equality: 
The draft policy is prepared in accordance with statute and government guidance. In addition, the proposed changes have been 
subject to a thorough consultation exercise. 
 
 

 

 Could 
particularly 
benefit  
(X) 

May 
adversely 
impact 
(X) 

How different groups could be 
affected: Summary of impacts 

Details of actions to reduce 
negative or increase positive 
impact (or why action not 
possible) 

People from different 
ethnic groups 

x  The taxi policy will ensure public safety 
using taxis in the borough 

 

Men, women (including 
maternity/pregnancy 
impact), transgender 
people 

x  See above  

Disabled people or carers 
 

x  See above  

People from different faith 
groups 

x  See above  

Lesbian, gay or bisexual 
 

x  See above  

Older or younger people 
 

x  See above  

page 145



 

2 
 

Other (marriage/civil 
partnership. Looked after 
children, cohesion/good 
relations, vulnerable 
children/adults) 

x  See above  

 

OUTCOME(S) OF EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT: (delete as appropriate) 

 
No major change need      Adjust policy/proposal/project          Adverse impact but continue        Stop/remove project/policy/proposal 
 
 

 

Arrangements for future monitoring of equality impact of this policy/proposal/project: 
Note when assessment will be reviewed (e.g. review assessment in 6 months or annual review). 

 
The policy will be reviewed in 2030 

Names of officers who conducted EIA and date 
 
 
Geoff Carpenter 
 
 

 

Approved by:                                                                Date: 12/09/2025 
 (manager signature)                                              
 

page 146


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 September 2025
	9 Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2025-2030
	Appendix 1 - draft Private Hire and Hackney Carriage licensing policy 2025-2030 1 for Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2025-2030
	Appendix 2- Summary of proposed changes
	Appendix 3 - Consultation comments and responses Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2025-2030
	Appendix 4- NCC letter regarding Mandatory CCTV
	Equality impact Assessment




